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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

in $1000s except per share data

As of an for the Year Ended December 31

2010tt 20092 2002t 2007t4t 2oo

163691 197785 234458 266934 235704

63582 91112 115634 124720 94799

100109 106673 118824 142214 140905

156868 175234 75791 20919 9853

24447 22451 22282 20720 18407

241811 203960 156400 142214 111744

274123 250070 91.085 199 37715

12449 1222 5068 3736 5054

254364 264540 52451 3334 29876

225215 195169 28607 21937 42391

11.16 11.28 1.67 1.29 2.69

1116 11.28 1.67 1.27 2.57

0.05 0.50 1.00 0.95

3540214 5131940 5654836 4901763 4065816

3230783 3820035 4025628 3569118 3113348

2671712 3135298 3609298 3438146 2924692

3028684 3518826 3477575 3008118 2694098

123377 197653 302388 273332 183404

167586 167441 167293 156130 101035

23173 72271 159220 156198 126512

61854 161335 353848 389145 361879

Total for

Quarlerly Results of Operations unaudited

Fourth Third Second First

the Year Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

163691 38625 41185 40883 42998

63582 13803 15603 16375 17801

100109 24822 25582 24508 25197

156868 22420 43924 43098 47426

254364 91261 57244 43919 61940
225215 841o4 52 t6o 4t003 47882

11.16 395 2.45 1.98 2.75

197785 46712 49055 51133 50885

91112 19546 22261 23656 25649

106673 27166 26794 27477 25236

175234 69504 42960 30564 32206

264540 85558 128115 22960 27907-

195169 75502 82689 16304 20674

11.28 4.34 4.75 0.95 1.20
0.05 -- -- -- 0.05

Capitol sold its ownership in Southern Arizona Community Bank effective December 10 2010 Fort Collins Commerce Bank Larimer Bank of Commerce and Loveland Bank of

Commerce effective October 29 2010 Bank of San Francisco effective September 28 2010 Adams Dairy Bank effective August 31 2010 USNY Bank effective August 23 2010

Community Bunk of Lincoln effective July 30 2010 Ohio Commerce Bank effective June 30 2010 Napa Community Bank effective April 30 2010 and Bank ofBellevitle effective

April 27 2010 The banks operations have been included in Capitols consolidated totals
up to the date of sale however are included in discontinued operations

Includes Yuma Community Banks operations through September 21 2009 date at which Capitol told its ownership of that bank and Bank of Santa Barbara Community Bank of

Rowan CBR Summit Bank of Kansas City and Capitol Development Bancorp Limited Ills CDBL Ill operations through September 30 2009 the date when these entities ceased

to be consolidated with Capitol due to change in control Effective June 30 2010 COBL Ill trunsfened its controlling interest in CBR to Capitol in exchange for preferred stock of

Capitol and accordingly CBR became consolidated subsidiary of Capitol on that date

Includes Adams Dairy Bank effective
January

2008 located in Blue Springs Missouri Mountain View Bank of Commerce effective February 2008 located in Westminster

Colorado Colonia Bank effective April 2008 located in Phoenix Arizona and Pingah Community Bank effectsve May 2008 located in Asheville North Carolina

Includes Bank of Tacoma effective
January 2007 located in Tacoma Washington Suoriae Community Bank effective February 2007 located in Palm Desert California Larimer

Bank of Commerce effective May 2007 located in Fort Collins Colorado lssaqaah Community Bank located in
Issaquah Washington and USNY Bank

located to Oeneva New

Vork both effective July 2007 High Desert Bank effective September 2007 located in Bend Oregon Loveland Bank of Commerce effective October 2007 located io Loveland

Colorado Bank of Feather River effective November 2007 located in Yaba City California and Community Bank of Lincoln located in Lincoln Nebraska Bank of Fort Bend

located in Sugar Land Texas and Bank of Las Colinas located in Irving Texas each effective December 2007

lacludet Community Bank of Rowao effective February 2006 located
in Salisbury North Carolina Asian Bank of Arizona effective April 2006 located in Phoenix Arizona

Evansville Commerce Bank effective May 2006 located in Evansville Indiana Bank of Valdosta located in Valdosta Oeorgia Sunrise Bank of Atlanta located io Atlanta

Oeorgia and Bank of EvereE located to Everett Washington all effective June 2006 Bank of Manmee located in Maumee Ohio and Commerce Bank located in North Las

Vegas Nevada both effective October 2006 and Ohio Commerce Bank located in Beaehwood Ohio effective November 2006

Excludea amounts related to banks reclassified as discontinued operations

Each periods computation of net income loss per share is performed independently and accordingly net income per share for the year basic and diluted may not equal the sum of

the amounts shown for the quarterly periods

As-revised in early March 2011 to teflect additional provision for loan losses of $11.7 million resulting from Michigan Commerce Banks amended regulatory financial statements

filed on February 22 2011 as of and for the period ended September 30 2010

For the year

Interest incomets

Interest expenset6t

Net intereat incomet6t

Provision for loan loosestS

Noointerest incomet6t

Nonioterent expenoet6t

Income Ions from continuing operations before income taxes

Income loss from discontinued operations

Net income loss

Net income loss attributable to Capitol Bancorp
Limited

Net income loss per share amibutable to Capitol Bancorp

Limited

Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends paid per
share

At end of year

Total assets

Total earning assetst5t

Portfolio loanstS

Depositst5t

Notes payable and short-term borrowingst6t

Subordinated debentures

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries

Capitol Bancorp Limited stockholders equity deficit

Year ended December 31 2OIOttt

Intereal incometst

Interest expeoaet5t

Net intereat incomet6t

Provision for loan lossestSSSt

Net losstSt

Net income loss attributable to Capitol Bancorp
Limitedtit

Net income Ions per share attributable to Capitol Bancorp

Limited basic and dilntedtSt

Cash dividends paid per
share

Year ended December31

Interest incomet6t

Interest expenset6ttit

Net interest incometst

Provision for loan IossestSt

Net loottt6t

Net loss attributable to Capitol Bancorp Limited

Net loss
per

share atoributable to Capitol Bancorp

Limited hasic and dilntedttt

Cash dividends paid per
share
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INFORMATION REGARDING CAPITOLS COMMON STOCK

Capitols common stock was traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the

symbol CBC prior to late January 2011 On January 27 2011 Capitols common stock

began trading on the OTC Markets OTCQB under the symbol CBCR Market quotations

regarding the range of high and low sales prices of Capitols common stock as reported by

the NYSE were as follows

Below is graph which summarizes the cumulative return earned by Capitols shareholders

over the last five years compared with the SNL SNL Financial LC Bank Pink $500M
Asset-Size Index SNL and the cumulative total return on the Russell 2000 Index R-2000
This presentation assumes the initial value of an investment in Capitols common stock and

each index was $100 on December 31 2005 and that any subsequent cash dividends were

reinvested

2010

Low High Low High

2009

Quarter Ended

March31 1.95 3.55 2.50 7.96

June 30 1.23 3.79 2.38 7.08

September 30 0.95 1.58 1.79 6.06

December31 0.37 1.32 1.55 3.45

Total Return Performance

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

12/31105 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10

Period Ending

Index 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10

CapitolBancorpLtd 100.00 126.18 .57.11 22.90 5.81 1.54

RusselI2000 100.00 118.37 116.51 77.15 98.11 124.46

SNLBankPink$500M 100.00 109.72 101.10 73.36 62.72 66.25
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INFORMA lYON REGARDING CAPITOLS COMMON STOCKContinued

Effective September 2009 payment of dividends is subject to prior approval of the Federal

Reserve Capitols primary federal regulator see subsequent discussion of certain regulatory

matters in the section captioned Managements Discussion and Analysis of Capitols

Business Financial Condition and Results of Operations In the first quarter of 2009

Capitol paid cash dividend of $0.05 per share During 2008 Capitol paid quarterly cash

dividends of $0.25 per share for the first quarter $0.15 in the second quarter and $0.05 in the

third and fourth quarters

As of March 15 2011 there were 6697 beneficial holders of Capitols common stock based

on information supplied to Capitol from its stock transfer agent and other sources

At March 15 2011 41116757 shares of common stock were outstanding Capitols stock

transfer agent is BNY Mellon Shareowner Services 480 Washington Blvd Jersey City NJ

07310 telephone 866-205-7090 The website for BNY Mellon Shareowner Services is

http//www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Capitol has direct purchase and dividend reinvestment plan the Capitol Bancorp Limited

Direct Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan Capitol Bancorp Direct which offers

variety of convenient features including dividend reinvestment certain fee-free transactions

certificate safekeeping and other benefits For copy of the Capitol Bancorp Direct

prospectus informational brochure and enrollment materials contact BNY Mellon

Shareowner Services at 866-205-7090 or Capitol at 517-487-6555

In addition to Capitols common stock trust-preferred securities of Capitol Trust and

Capitol Trust XII each subsidiary of Capitol are listed on the OTCQB under the symbol

CBCRP and CBCRO respectively commencing in late January 2011 Those trust-

preferred securities have liquidation amount of $10 per preferred security and are

guaranteed by Capitol Capitol Trust consists of 1349398 8.5% cumulative preferred

securities scheduled to mature in 2027 which are currently callable and may be extended to

2036 if certain conditions are met Capitol Trust XII consists of 3031066 10.5%

cumulative preferred securities scheduled to mature in 2038 and become callable in 2013 In

2009 Capitol commenced the deferral of interest payments on its various trust-preferred

securities as is permitted under the terms of the securities to conserve cash and capital

resources Holders of the trust-preferred securities will continue to recognize current taxable

income relating to the deferred interest payments Payment of interest on the trust-preferred

securities is subject to approval of the Federal Reserve see subsequent discussion of certain

regulatory matters in the section captioned Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Capitols Business Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATIONS

Capitol has filed with the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission SEC all required

certifications regarding the quality of Capitols public disclosures upon filing of Capitols

2010 Report on Form 10-K Further Capitol has filed certifications with the SEC in

accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to Capitols 2010 Report on

Form 10-K

VAILABILITY OFFORM 10-K AND CERTAIN OTHER REPORTS

copy of Capitols 2010 Report on Form 10-K without exhibits will be available to holders

of its common stock or trust-preferred securities without charge upon written request Form

10-K includes certain statistical and other information regarding Capitol and its business

Requests to obtain copy of Form 10-K should be addressed to Investor Relations Capitol

Bancorp Limited Capitol Bancorp Center 200 Washington Square Lansing Michigan

48933

Form 10-K and certain other periodic reports have been or will be filed with the SEC The

SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports proxy and information statements

and other information regarding companies which file electronically which includes

Capitol The SECs website address is http//www.sec.gov Capitols filings with the SEC

are also available at Capitols website http//www.capitolbancorp.com

OTHER CORPORATE INFORMATION

EXECUTIVE OFFICES

Capitol Bancorp Center 2777 Camelback Road

200 Washington Square Suite 375

Lansing Michigan 48933 Phoenix Arizona 85016

517-487-6555 602-955-6100

website www.capitolbancorp.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
BDO USA LLP

Grand Rapids Michigan
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMA HON

DIRECT PURCHASE AN DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

Capitol offers an easy and affordable way to invest in Capitols common stock through its

direct purchase and dividend reinvestment plan Capitol Bancorp Direct Capitol Bancorp

Directs benefits include the ability to make an initial investment in common stock with as

little as $50 reinvestment of dividends in additional common stock if and when paid direct

deposit of dividends if and when paid ability to purchase common stock as frequently as

once month and the option to make transfers or gifts of Capitols common stock to another

person Participation in Capitol Bancorp Direct is voluntary and shareholders and

prospective investors are eligible Purchases under Capitol Bancorp Direct are not currently

subject to any brokerage fees or commissions For further information regarding Capitol

Bancorp Direct or for copy of Capitol Bancorp Directs prospectus informational brochure

and enrollment materials please contact BNY Mellon Shareowner Services at 866-205-7090

or Capitol at 517-487-6555

TRUST-PREFERRED SECURITIES TRADING INFORMATION
Preferred securities of Capitol Trust and Capitol Trust XII each subsidiary of Capitol

trade on the OTC market OTCQB under the trading symbols CBCRP and CBCRO
respectively

TRUST-PREFERRED SECURITIES TRUSTEE

Capitol Trust Bank of New York Mellon Chicago Illinois

Capitol Trust XII MT Trust Company of Delaware

CAUTIONS REGARDING FOR WARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this annual report including Capitols consolidated

financial statements Managements Discussion and Analysis of Capitols Business Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and in documents incorporated into this document by

reference that are not historical facts including without limitation statements of future

expectations projections of results of operations and financial condition statements of future

economic performance and other forward-looking statements within the meaning of the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 are subject to known and unknown risks

uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual future results performance or

achievements of Capitol and/or its subsidiaries and other operating units to differ materially

from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements The words intend expect

project estimate predict anticipate should could believe may might
and similar expressions also are intended to identiFy forward-looking statements Important

factors which may cause actual results to differ from those contemplated in such forward-

looking statements include but are not limited to the results of Capitols efforts to

implement its business strategy ii changes in interest rates iii legislation or regulatory

requirements adversely impacting Capitols banking business and/or operating strategy iv
adverse changes in business conditions or inflation general economic conditions either

nationally or regionally which are less favorable than expected and that result in among
other things deterioration in credit quality and/or loan performance and collectability
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CAUTIONS REGARDING FOR WARD-LOOKING STATEMENTSContinued

vi competitive pressures among financial institutions vii changes in securities markets

viii actions of competitors of Capitols banks and Capitols ability to respond to such actions

ix the cost of and access to capital which may depend in part on Capitols asset quality

prospects and outlook changes in governmental regulation tax rates and similar matters

xi changes in management xii consummation of pending sales of certain banking

subsidiaries xiii completion of Capitols selective bank divestiture activities xiv other risks

detailed in Capitols other filings with the SEC and xv the following among others

Capitols ability to continue as going concern

The impact on Capitols financial results reputation and business if it is unable

to comply with all applicable federal and state regulations and applicable formal agreements

consent orders other regulatory actions and any related capital requirements

The risk that if economic conditions worsen or regulatory capital requirements

are modified Capitol may be required to seek additional liquidity and/or capital from external

sources if available

Managements ability to effectively manage interest rate risk and the impact of

interest rates in general on the volatility of Capitols net interest income

The effect of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

of 2010 Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 the American Recovery and

Reinvestment Act of 2009 the implementation by the Department of the U.S Treasury and

federal banking regulators of number of programs to address capital and liquidity issues

within the banking system and additional programs that may apply to Capitol in the future all

of which may have significant effects on Capitol and the financial services industry

The decline in commercial and residential real estate values and sales volume

and the likely potential for continuing illiquidity in the real estate market

The risks associated with the high concentration of commercial real estate loans

within Capitols portfolio

The uncertainties in estimating the fair value of developed real estate and

undeveloped land relating to collateral-dependent loans and other real estate owned in light of

declining demand for such assets falling prices and continuing illiquidity in the real estate

market

Negative developments and disruptions in the credit and lending markets

including the impact of the ongoing credit crisis on Capitols business and on the businesses of

its customers as well as other banks and lending institutions with which Capitol has

commercial relationships

continuation of unprecedented volatility in the capital markets

The risks associated with implementing Capitols business strategy including

its ability to preserve and access sufficient capital to execute its strategy
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CAUTIONS REGARDING FOR WARD-LOOKING STATEMENTSContinued

Continued unemployment and its impact on Capitols customers savings rates

and their ability to service debt obligations

Fluctuations in the value of Capitols investment securities

The ability to attract and retain senior management experienced in banking and

financial services

The sufficiency of the allowance for loan losses to absorb the amount of actual

losses inherent within the loan portfolio

Capitols ability to adapt successfully to technological changes to compete

effectively in the marketplace

Credit risks and risks from concentrations by geographic area and by industry

within Capitols consolidated loan portfolio and individual large loans

The effects of competition from other commercial banks thrifts mortgage

banking firms consumer finance companies credit unions securities brokerage firms

insurance companies money market and other mutual funds and other financial institutions

operating in Capitols market or elsewhere or providing similar services

The failure of assumptions underlying estimates for the allowance for loan

losses and estimation of values of collateral or cash flow projections related to collateral

dependent loans

Volatility of rate sensitive deposits

Operational risks including data processing system failures or fraud

Liquidity risks

The ability to successfully acquire deposits for funding and the pricing thereof

The ability to successfully execute strategies to increase noninterest income

Changes in the economic environment competition or other factors that may
influence loan demand and repayment deposit inflows and outflows and the quality of the

loan portfolio and loan and deposit pricing

The impact from liabilities arising from legal or administrative proceedings on

the financial condition of Capitol

The current prohibition of Capitols subsidiary banks to pay dividends to

Capitol without prior written authorization from regulatory agencies

The current prohibition of Capitols payment of cash dividends on its common

stock and periodic payments on its trust-preferred securities without prior written regulatory

authorization

Administrative or enforcement actions of banking regulators in connection with

any material failure of Capitol or its subsidiary banks to comply with banking laws rules or

regulations or formal agreements with regulatory agencies
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CAUTIONS REGARDING FOR WARD-LOOKING STATEMENTSContinued

Capitols compliance with the terms of its written agreement with the Federal

Reserve Bank amendments thereto or subsequent regulatory agreements

The continued availability of credit facilities provided by Federal Home Loan

Banks to Capitols banking subsidiaries

The uncertainties of future depositor activity regarding potentially uninsured

deposits

The possibility of the FDIC assessing Capitols banking subsidiaries for any

cross-guaranty liability

Governmental monetary and fiscal policies as well as legislative and

regulatory changes that may result in the imposition of costs and constraints on Capitol

through higher FDIC insurance premiums significant fluctuations in market interest rates

increases in capital requirements and operational limitations

Changes in general economic or industry conditions nationally or in the

communities in which Capitol conducts business

Changes in legislation or regulatory and accounting principles policies or

guidelines affecting the business conducted by Capitol

The impact of possible fbture goodwill and other material impairment charges

Acts of war or terrorism

Capitols ability to manage fluctuations in the value of its assets and liabilities

and maintain sufficient capital and liquidity to support its operations

The concentration of Capitols nonperforming assets by loan type in certain

geographic regions and with affiliated borrowing groups

The risk of additional fbture losses if the proceeds Capitol receives upon the

liquidation of assets are less than the carrying value of such assets

Restrictions or limitations on access to funds from subsidiaries and potential

obligations to contribute additional capital to Capitols subsidiaries which may restrict its

ability to make payments on its obligations

The availability and cost of capital and liquidity on favorable terms if at all

The risk that the realization of deferred tax assets may not occur

The risk that Capitol will not be able to complete its various proposed

divestitures mergers and consolidations of certain of its subsidiaij banks or if completed
realize the anticipated benefits of the proposed mergers and/or consolidations

The costs effects and impact of litigation investigations inquiries or similar

matters or adverse facts and developments related thereto

F-9



CAUTIONS REGARDING FOR WARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTSContinued

The risk that Capitol could have an ownership change under Section 382 of

the Internal Revenue Code which could impair its ability to timely and flilly utilize its net

operating losses for tax purposes and so-called built-in losses that may exist if such an

ownership change occurs

Other factors and other information contained in this document and in other

reports and filings that Capitol makes with the SEC under the Exchange Act including

without limitation under the caption Risk Factors and

Other economic competitive governmental regulatory and technical factors

affecting Capitols operations products services and prices

For discussion of these and other risks that may cause actual results to differ from

expectations you should refer to the risk factors and other information in this Annual Report

and Capitols other periodic filings including quarterly reports on Form lO-Q and current

reports on Form 8-K that Capitol files from time to time with the SEC All written or oral

forward-looking statements that are made by or are attributable to Capitol are expressly

qualified by this cautionary notice You should not place undue reliance on any forward-

looking statements since those statements speak only as of the date on which the statements

are made Capitol undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to

reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made to reflect the

occurrence of new information or unanticipated events except as may otherwise be required

by law

remainder of this page intentionally left blank
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Management Discussion and Analysis of Capitols Business

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Summary and Overview

This section of the Annual Report is intended to discuss from managements perspective

matters of importance regarding Capitols operations financial position and other things which

have significant effect on Capitol its business and its banks This narrative includes some

comments about ftiture events and other forward-looking statements and readers are advised to

carefully read the cautionary statement about forward-looking statements which is on page F-6

of this Annual Report

Capitol operates community banks in wide variety of markets in 14 states and operates in

one business segment community banking Its banks are staffed with banking professionals

serving customers who desire professional banking services delivered personally

In 2010 significant reductions in compensation costs were achieved following efforts begun

in 2009 to combine some banking subsidiaries and reduce staffing To streamline bank

operations and reduce expenses Capitol consolidated some of its individual bank charters

regionally in 2010 and 2009 and has plans for further charter-consolidation activities in 2011

In mid-2009 as part of its capital strategies and restructuring activities Capitol announced

plans to selectively divest some of its banks as means to raise additional capital and redeploy

capital resources to its remaining banks Thirteen bank divestitures were completed as of

December 31 2010 and an additional divestiture was completed in early 2011 Several

divestiture transactions have been announced and are expected to be completed in 2011

subject to regulatory approval and other contingencies

Capitols consolidated financial position has been significantly adversely affected by large

losses from operations in 2010 2009 and 2008 Such operating losses resulted primarily from

especially large provisions for loan losses and significantly elevated costs associated with

foreclosed properties and other real estate owned Those operating losses have resulted in an

equity-deficit as of December 31 2010 and regulatory-capital classification as less than

adequately-capitalized In addition numerous banking subsidiaries of Capitol have

regulatory-capital classification as undercapitalized significantly-undercapitalized or

critically-undercapitalized at December 31 2010 due to significant operating losses and

insufficient capital infusions from Capitol to improve their regulatory classification and

compliance with the terms of various regulatory agreements between the banks and/or Capitol

and their respective regulatory agencies There were two banks classified as critically

undercapitalized and sufficient capital infusions were made in early 2011 to improve their

classification to significantly-undercapitalized

These matters are discussed in further detail later in this narrative
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Capitols Approach to Community Banking

Each bank began as single-location office led by bank president and team of banking

professionals with significant local experience overseen by an independent board of directors

composed of business leaders drawn from that local community Generally each bank has

significant on-site authority to make all decisions which directly affect the customer such as

credit approval and the pricing and structure of both loans and deposits The philosophy of

banking as profession is key to Capitols model where its banks customers seek relationship

with banking professionals to meet their needs as opposed to transaction-oriented financial

institutions pushing financial products at customers and emphasizing market share

With Capitols focused banking model bank development on national scale has been

natural extension of this business philosophy Bank development consists of management and

oversight of banks in which Capitol has direct or indirect controlling interest and through

mid-2008 included formation of start-up
banks Some of Capitols banks were formed with

portion of their
start-up capital provided by local investors in the communities of those banks

Notably market size is not big factor in Capitols approach to community banking and

bank-development Rather the key is people Capitol has recognized from its beginning that

its banking focus always has been and always will be people business Capitols banks are

small in market stature in relation to their competitors emphasizing personalized banking

relationships

Capitols community bank model in stable economic environment is intended to maintain

scalable low overhead structure which is focused on delivering return-on-equity results while

empowering its individual banks with operating autonomy in all areas which impact the

customer relationship Capitols centralized back-office fhnctions which support the banks

are capable of expanding coverage in concert with the evolution and further development of its

banking subsidiaries

Capitols relationship with its banks is multidimensional as an investor mentor and service

provider As an investor Capitol closely monitors the financial performance of its bank

subsidiaries Capitols mentoring role of providing assistance and guidance when and where

necessary to help enhance bank performance is most important for its youngest affiliates where

guidance is needed during their early formative stages As service provider Capitol provides

efficient back-office support services which can be performed centrally for all of its banks and

which do not involve direct interface with the bank customer such as

Accounting

Capital management

Credit administration

Data processing

Human resources administration

Internal audit

Legal support

Risk management
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Some of these functions are performed nationally from single location while others are

performed regionally where it is more efficient to have personnel located geographically based

on their respective responsibilities in relation to the physical location of the banks

Total assets and revenues of each bank within Capitols regions are summarized below as of

and for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 in $1000s

Total Assets Total Revenues4

2010 2009 2010 2009

Arizona Region

Bank of Tucson 222882 204824 12232 12709

Central Arizona Bank 75590 95110 3.529 4089

southern Arizona Community Bank6 94585 4841 5188

sunrise Bank of Albuquerque 73539 78895 3638 4110

sunrise Bank of Arizona5 353154 495168 18593 23712
Yuma Community Bank56

___________ ___________ __________ 3.225

Arizona Region Total 725165 968582 42833 53033

California Region

Bank of Feather River 38930 33693 2561 2111

Bank of san Franciseo6 87740 4119 4639
Bank of santa Barbara0 016

2571

Napa Community Bank06 166873 2947 9147

sunrise Bank8 231836 296.197 12.968 14.835

Califomia Region Total 270766 584503 22595 33303

Colorado Region

Fort Collins Commerce Bank61 93908 521 5381

Larimer Bank of Commerce6 89623 4555 5333
Loveland Bank of CommerceWOæ 40032 1979 2148

Mountain view Bank of Commerce 60303 50621 2.896 2388

Colorado Region Total 60303 274184 14641 15250

Great Lakes Region

Bank of Maumee 40300 46796 2402 2592

Bank of Michigan 81873 99344 4680 4860

Capitol National Bank 157606 199622 9734 11605

Evansville Commerce Bank 52506 56392 2783 3458

Indiana Community Bank4X2 128728 175407 7670 8916

Michigan Commerce Bank3XSi3 933698 1232441 60609 71484
Ohio Commerce BankXm

___________ 66175 1.934 3.263

Great Lakes Region Total 1394711 1876177 89812 106178

Midwest Region

Adams Dairy Bank051 44309 1681 2337
Bank of Be1leville06 70502 1048 3711

Community Bank of Lincolntm 60356 1508 3551

summit Bank of Kansas City
0006

___________ __________ 2780

Midwest Region Total 175167 4237 12379

Nevada Region
Commerce Bank 39555 38811 1625 2315

Bank of Las Vcgaam 375.084 487.355 18628 25.476

Nevada Region Total 414639 526166 20253 2779

Northeast Region

U5NY Bank iS
64176 2712 3265

Northwest Region

Bank of the Northwest68 145540 174005 7880 9392

High Desert Bank 37967 41849 2.272 2429
Northwest Region Total 183507 215854 10152 11821

Southeast Regios

Community Bank of Rowan9X16 140276 3392 4962
First Carolina State Bank 103254 115674 4765 5473

Pisgah Community Bank 43125 62773 1878 2478
Sunrise Bank 8X

112718 137300 6.087 7.811

Southeast Region Total 399373 315747 16122 20724
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Summary of total assets and revenues continued

Total Asseta Total Revenues04

2010 2009 2010 2009

Texas Region

Bank of FortBend 35375 31548 2037 1640

Bank of Las Colinas 44767 43.003 2331 1979

Texas Region Total 80142 74551 4368 3619

Parent company and other net 11608 56.833 20.964 8.309

Consolidated totals 3540214 5131940 248689 295672

Less discontinued operations 222882 l.08jQ 60551 744
Consolidated totals--continuing

operations
3.317.332 4.048.837 188.138 220.236

Capitol sold its ownership in Southem Arizona community Bank effective December 102010 Fort Collins Commerce Bank

Larimer Bank ot Commerce and Loveland Bank of Commerce effective October 29 2010 Bank of San Francisco effective

September 28 2010 Adams Dairy Bank effective August 312010 USNY Bank effective August 232010 Community Bank

of Lincoln effective July 30 2010 Ohio Commerce Bank effective June 30 2010 Napa Community Bank effective April 30

2010 and Bank of Belleville effective April 27 2010 The banks operations have been included in Capitols consolidated totals

up to the date of sale however the banks results are reflected in discontinued operations

Effective July 30 2010 Peoples state Bank and sundae Bank of Atlanta merged with and into Bank of valdosta Upon

completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the merger each bank was either majority-

owned subsidiary
of

Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling
interest

Effective March 31 2010 Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Trust merged with and into Michigan Commerce Bank

Prior to the merger Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Trust were wholly-owned subsidiaries of Capitol

Effective March 22 2010 Elkhart Community Bank merged with and into Goshen Community Bank Upon completion of the

merger the surviving bank was renamed Indiana Community Bank Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned

subsidiary of Capitol

Effective March 52010 Bank of Escondido Sunrise Bank of San Diego and Sunrise Community Bank merged with and into

Point Loma Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the

merger each bank was either wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in

which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective February 19 2010 Bank of Bellevue Bank of Everett and Bank of Tacoma merged with and into Issaquah

Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Bank of the Northwest Prior to the

merger each bank was either majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in

which
Capitol holds controlling

interest

Effective January 292010 Black Mountain Community Bank Desert Community Bank and Red Rock Community Bank

merged with and into Bank of Las vegas Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary
of Capitol

For purposes of this presentation such merger has been reflected as if it occurred December31 2009

As of December 31 2009 Community Bank of Rowan CBR was majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol Development

Bancorp Limited lIt CDBL Ill which due to change in control effective September 30 2009 became an unconsolidated

affiliate of Capitol Effective June 30 2010 CDBL Ill transferred its controlling interest in CBR to Capitol in exchange for

preferred stock of Capitol and accordingly CBR became consolidated subsidiary of Capitol on that date

10 Effective December 14 2009 Arrowhead Community Bank Asian Bank ofArizona Colonia Bank Mesa Bank and Sunrise

Bank of Arizona merged with and into Camelback Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was

renamed Sunrise Bank of Arizona Prior to the merger each bank was either wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol or maJority-

owned by bank development subsidiary
in which Capitol

holds
controlling interest

II Bank of Santa Barbara and Summit Bank of Kansas City are majority-owned subsidiaries of CDBL Ill of which
Capitol

ceased

to have majority voting control effective September 30 2009 consequently those banks and CDBL III ceased to be

consolidated subsidiaries of Capitol CDBL IIIs ownership interest in Bank of Santa Barbara was sold in November 2009

12 Yuma Community Bank was sold effective September21 2009 The banks opemtions are included in Capitols consolidated

totals up to the date of sale

13 Effective March 312009 Brighton Commerce Bank Detroit Commerce Bank Grand Haven Bank Kent Commerce Bank

Macomb Community Bank Muskegon Commerce Bank Oakland Commerce Bank and Portage Commerce Bank merged with

and into Ann Arbor Commerce Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Michigan Commerce

Bank Prior so the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary
of Capitol

14 Total revenues is the sum of interest income and noninterest income

15 Includes curporate and other nonbank entities

16 Total revenues of these banks are reflected as discontinued operations CBR was included in discontinued operations in 2009

and continuing operations in 2010 see above

17 Total assets of these banks as of December 31 2009 have been adjusted to reflect subsequent regulatory
financial statement

amendments filed on or after March 20 2010 Those amendments did not have an impact on total assets on consolidated

basis
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Capitols Results of Operations

For 2010 net loss attributable to Capitol approximating $225.2 million $11.16 per share was

incurred compared to anet loss of $195.2 million $11.28 per share in 2009 and $28.6 million

$1.67 per share in 2008 As previously-mentioned these losses resulted from significant

provisions for loan losses and costs associated with foreclosed properties and other real estate

owned for each of these periods and additionally in 2010 goodwill impairment charge of

$64.5 million Additionally income tax expense in 2009 included approximately $104.5 million

related to establishing valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

The table below presents operating results of each bank without regard to Capitols direct or

indirect ownership percentage in $1 000s and where applicable the related rates of return on

average equity and assets

Net Income Loss Return on Average Equity Return on Average Assets

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Arizona Region

Bank ofTucsont1m 54 1724 3717 0.30% 10.12% 2056% 0.02% 0.91% 2.04%

Central Arizona Bank6 5592 6.085 1004
southern Arizona Community

Bankt5 290 434 639 3.17% 4.73% 7.06% 0.33% 0.48% 0.72%

Sunrise Bank of AIbuquerque06 4189 1.781 224 3.05% 0.29%

Sundae Bank of Arizona0 41500 48628 13505
Yuma Community BankO2X _________ 372 565 7.69% 7.23% 0.78% 0.75%

Arizona Region Total 50937 53964 9364

California Region

BankofFeatherRiver 194 714 487 3.09% 0.51%

Bank of san Francisco5 559 52 43 8.01% 0.63% 0.5 1% 0.75% 0.06% 0.07%

Bank of Santa Barbaralwls 1300 420
Napa Community Bankt1 77 485 1223 3.01% 8.39% 0.32% 0.93%

Sunrise Bank8t 10358 8.315 309

California Region Total 9682 9792 668

Colorado Region

Fort Collins Commerce Bank 484 15 620 6.65% 0.15% 6.71% 0.66% 0.02% 0.89%

Larimer Bank of Commeree5 730 57 465 12.00% 0.70% 6.09% 1.05% 0.06% 0.66%

Loveland Bank of Commercet5 253 872 458 5.34% 0.84%

Mountain View Bank of Commerce 183 31 819 2.52% 0.34%

Colorado Region Total 1.650 831 192

Great Lakes Region

Bank of Maumee 1254 2834 774
Bank of Michigan 267 152 543 2.16% 7.95% 0.16% 076%

Capitol National Bankt16t 2753 8150 766
EvansvilleCommerceBank 260 1644 248
Indiana Community Bankt4XSt 5063 3574 217 2.23% 0.22%

Michigan Commerce Bankt3XEót 73686 81910 16226
Ohio Commerce Bankt5t 226 206 I49J 4.54% 2.24% 0.62% 0.33%

Great Lakes Region Total 83057 97754 17403

Midwest Region

Adams Dairy Bankt0t1 36 66 669
Bank ofBelleville5t 18 122 35 0.68% l.794 049% 0.07% 0.17% 0.06%

Community Bank of Lincolnt15t 872 1516 643
Summit Bank of Kansas CitytOS _________ 978 97

MidwestRegionTotal 890 2438 1374

Nevada Region

Commerce Bank 3299 3009 1158
Bank of Las Vegast06t 51.713 l4$$ 3301 0.51% 0.06%

NevadaRegionTotal 55012 15697 2143

Northeast Region

USNY Bankt5t 560 1188 748 16.70% t.35%
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Operating results and where applicable the related rates of return on average equity and assets

continued

Net Income Loss Return on Average Equity Return on Average Assets

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Northwest Region

Bank of the NorthwesttS 1446 9889 2553
High Desert Bank 863 94$ 801

Northwest Region Total 2309 12837 3354

Southeast Region

Community Bank of Rowant9X 401 459 945 5.73% 9.39% 0.47% 0.76%

First Carolina State Bsnk6 8258 1926 403

Pisgah Community Bank 9569 1417 920
Sunrise Bank2X86 8451 8222 765

Southeast Region Total 26.679 11106 1143

Texas Region

Bank of Fort Bend 116 1268 829
Bank of Las Colinas 106 1.259 623 1.94% 0.24%

Texas Region Total 10 2527 1452

Parent company and other netti4S 27.998 56.406 20.232

Consolidated totals 254364 264540 52451
Less discontinued opemtions i2A49 1.222 5.068

Consolidated totals--

continuing operations 8266.813 8263.318 57.519

Capitol
sold its ownership in Southern Arizona Community Bank effective December 10 2010 Fort Collins Commerce Bank Larimer Bank of

Commerce and Loveland Bank of Commerce effective October 29 2010 Bank of San Francisco effective September 28 2010 Adams Daiiy Bank

effective August31 2010 USNY Bank effective August 23 2010 Community Bank of Lincoln effective July 30 2010 Ohio Commerce Bank

effective June 30 2010 Napa Community Bank effective
April 30 2010 and Bank of Belleville effective April 27 2010 The banks opemtions

have been included in Capitols consolidated totals up to the date of sale however the banks results are reflected in discontinued operations

Effective July 30 2010 Peoples State Bank and Sunrise Bank of Atlanta merged with and into Bank of Valdosta Upon completion of the merger

the surviving
bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the merger each bank was either majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned

by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective March 31 2010 Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Trust merged with and into Michigan Commerce Bank Prior to the merger

Bank of Auburn Hills and Paragon Bank Trust were wholly-owned subsidiaries of Capitol

Effective March 22 2010 Elkhart Community Bank merged with and into Goshen Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving

bank was renamed Indiana Community Bank Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

Effective March 52010 Bank of Escondido Sunrise Bank of San Diego and Sunrise Community Bank merged with and into Point Loma

Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the merger each bank was either

wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned bys bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective February 19 2010 Bank of Bellevue Bank of Everett and Bank of Tacoma merged with and into Issaquah Community Bank Upon

completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Bank of the Northwest Prior to the merger each bank was either majority-owned

subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective January 29 2010 Black Mountain Community Bank Desert Community Bank and Red Rock Community Bank merged with and into

Bank of Las Vegas Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

For purposes of this presentation such merger has been reflected as if it occurred December31 2009

As of December31 2009 Community Bank of Rowan CBR was majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol Development Bancorp Limited III

CDBL III which due to change in control effective September 30 2009 was an unconsolidated affiliate of Capitol Effective June 30 2010
CDBL III transferred its controlling interest in CBR to Capitol in exchange for preferred stock of Capitol and accordingly CBR became

consolidated subsidiary of Capitol on that date

10 Effective December 14 2009 Arrowhead Community Bank Asian Bank of Arizona Colonia Bank Mesa Bank and Sunrise Bank of Arizona

merged with and into Camelback Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank of Arizona

Prior to the merger each bank was either wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank development subsidiary in which

Capitol holds controlling interest

11 Bank of Santa Barbara and Summit Bank of Kansas City are majority-owned subsidiaries of CDBL tI of which Capitol ceased to have majority

voting control effective September 30 2009 consequently those banks and CDBL III ceased to be consolidated subsidiaries of Capitol CDBL Ills

ownership interest in Bank of Santa Barbara was sold in November 2009

12 Yuma Community Bank was sold effective September21 2009 The banks opemtiona are included in Capitols consolidated totals up to the date of

the sale

13 Effective March 31 2009 Brighton Commerce Bank Detroit Commerce Bank Grand Haven Bank Kent Commerce Bank Macomb Community

Bank Muskegon Commerce Bank Oakland Commerce Bank and Portage Commerce Bank merged with and into Ann Arbor Commerce Bank

Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Michigan Commerce Bank Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned

subsidiary of Capitol

14 Includes corporate and other nonbank entities
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Footnotes continued

15 Net income loss of these banks is reflected as discontinued operations CBR was included in discontinued operations in 2009 and 2008 and

included in continuing operations in 2010 see above

16 Net income loss of these banks for the year ended December 31 2009 has been adjusted to reflect subsequent regulatory
financial statement

amendments filed on or after March 20 2010 These amendments did not have an impact on consolidated net loss

Significant operating losses were incurred at banks within the Great Lakes Nevada and Arizona

Regions Dominating the Great Lakes Region are Capitols three mature majority-owned banks

located in Michigan Operating results of this group of banks amounted to net loss of $76.7

million in 2010 compared to net loss of $89.9 million in 2009 and net loss of$16.4 million

in 2008 The operating losses of this group of banks was attributable to loan losses stemming

from sustained difficult economy significant increases in nonperforming assets depressed real

estate valuations weak or nonexistent real estate sales environment and elevated collection

costs These coupled with loan losses incurred at Bank of Las Vegas and Sunrise Bank of

Arizona where the adverse asset quality and nonperforming loans as percentage of portfolio

loans exceed other regions are the largest items adversely impacting Capitols 2010 consolidated

operating results followed by goodwill impairment charge and compression in margins and

related net interest income

Most of the amounts discussed in this narrative are based upon the continuing operations of

Capitol and its consolidated banking subsidiaries Results of operations for 2009 and 2008

have been adjusted to reflect recent sales of banking subsidiaries as discontinued operations

to present operating results on comparable basis

The principal revenue source for Capitols banks is interest income from loans Net interest

income is the total of all interest income minus all interest expense This is an important

measure that is used to help determine the amount of net operating revenue for financial

institutions Net operating revenue is the sum of net interest income and noninterest income

Net interest income totaled $100.1 million in 2010 6.2% decrease from the $106.7 million

reported in 2009 compared to 10.2% decrease in 2009 versus 16.4% decrease in 2008

Decreases in net interest income were due to adverse levels of nonperforming loans smaller

balance sheet and challenging interest rate environment which reduced the spread between

interest earned on performing loans and rates paid on deposits

Combined with noninterest income total consolidated net operating revenue approximated

$124.6 million in 2010 $129.1 million in 2009 and $141.1 million in 2008 Noninterest income

for these years was $24.4 million $22.5 million and $22.3 million respectively Noninterest

income increased 8.9% in 2010 was level in 2009 and increased about 7.5% in 2008

Service charges on deposit accounts approximated $3.8 million in 2010 and $4.7 million in 2009

and 2008 Revenue from trust and wealth management decreased 15.3% in 2010 following

decrease of 20% in 2009 and an increase of 20% in 2008 Large decreases in this revenue source

in 2010 and 2009 resulted primarily from lower levels of clients balances in difficult and

uncertain economic environment Wealth advisors
arc

located at several of Capitols banking

subsidiaries to work in tandem with their traditional banking colleagues to provide the
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availability of financial services to the banks clientele while attempting to increase noninterest

revenues which is difficult in the current environment due to market volatility
and client activity

Revenue from mortgage loans held for sale included in other noninterest income amounted to

$1.9 million in 2010 and $2.8 million in 2009 and 2008 Loan origination volume decreased

significantly in 2010 and 2008 as instability of residential real estate market conditions and the

credit worthiness of borrowers have adversely impacted volume

Due to the nature of other categories of noninterest income including gain on the sales of

government-guaranteed loans and other service fee income amounts can vary significantly from

year to year depending on interest rates business opportunities and other activities

Net interest income was insufficient in 2010 and 2009 to offset the provision for loan losses

The provision for loan losses approximated $156.9 million $175.2 million and $75.8 million in

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The dramatic levels of the provision for loan losses in each

of those years was primarily associated with loan losses and related materially adverse levels

of nonperforming loans within the Great Lakes Regions Michigan banks Arizona-based

Sunrise Bank of Arizona and Nevada-based Bank of Las Vegas The amount of the provision

for loan losses is determined based on managements analysis of amounts necessary for the

allowance for loan losses this is discussed in greater detail later in the Capitols Financial

Position section of this narrative

Noninterest expense totaled $177.3 million $200.5 million and $156.4 million in 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively exclusive of goodwill impairment charge of $64.5 millionand $3.4

million in 2010 and 2009 respectively Such expenses decreased 11.6% in 2010 while

increasing 28.2% in 2009 and 10.0% in 2008 Changes in components of noninterest expense

in 2010 and 2009 exclusive of the goodwill impairment charge in 2010 were primarily

associated with the significant costs of foreclosed properties and other real estate owned

coupled with elevated FDIC insurance premiums and other regulatory fees

Capitols annual review for potential goodwill impairment performed in the fourth quarter of

2010 concluded that all of its recorded goodwill approximately $64.5 million was deemed to

be impaired Accordingly such amount was written off effective December 31 2010

Managements decision to write-off all goodwill as being impaired at that date was based in

part upon the following macro-basis considerations

dramatic decline in Capitols aggregate market-capitalization i.e the computational

result of multiplying the number of Capitols common shares outstanding by the per-

share market price of such common stock estimated fair value

Capitols tangible-equity deficit total equity less goodwill prior to recording any

goodwill impairment for 2010

Pricing information from merger and acquisition transactions within the banking

industry in the United States of America during 2010 as multiple of tangible equity

and application of such multiple to Capitols tangible-equity deficit prior to recording

any goodwill impairment for 2010
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As to pricing information from merger and acquisition transactions such information

encompassing 2010 transactions became available in early 2011 and indicated that on average
such transactions approximated 100% of an entitys tangible book value As to Capitol its

tangible equity-deficit prior to recording goodwill impairment at December 31 2010 clearly

suggested fully writing-off goodwill as of December 31 2010

Management also evaluated whether events or circumstances earlier in 2010 suggested an

interim review for impairment might be necessary An interim review for potential impairment

was not considered necessary due to the absence of events or changes in Capitols

circumstances since the preceding annual review in late 2009 Such conclusion was

confirmed by the macro-basis considerations discussed on the preceding page which did not

arise until the fourth quarter of 2010 While prior to the fourth quarter of 2010 the market

price of Capitols common stock had decreased significantly that market price fell to low of

$0.37 per share during that quarterly period and in the early months of 2011 consistently less

than $1.00 per share which resulted in such shares being delisted from the NYSE in January

2011 also because of Capitols market capitalization being less than $15 million

The largest element of routine noninterest expense is salaries and employee benefits which

approximated $69.9 million $84.7 million and $94.0 million in 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively Employee compensation costs decreased about 17.5% in 2010 and 9.9% in 2009

as result of Capitols efforts to reduce and streamline staffing at its banks and corporate

offices through the previously-mentioned mergers of banking subsidiaries in Capitols larger

markets staffing reductions and employee attrition Increased employee compensation costs in

2008 $2.1 million or 2.0% resulted primarily from the formation of start-up banks

Occupancy costs fluctuated within narrow range in 2010 and 2009 after increasing by more

significant 23.7% in 2008 due to recently-formed banks Equipment rent depreciation and

maintenance expense decreased $7.8 million 43.8% in 2010 primarily related to certain

lease-related costs incurred in 2009 resulting in an increase of about 67.4% in 2009 This item

increased 23.3% in 2008 due to recently-formed banks

Costs associated with foreclosed properties and other real estate owned remained elevated in

2010 at $40.4 million compared to $45.0 million in 2009 and $6.7 million in 2008 such levels

of costs corresponded with high levels of other real estate owned which increased from $67.2

million at the beginning of 2009 to $107.0 million at year-end 2009 and $107.9 million at

December 31 2010 Most of the costs associated with foreclosed properties and other real

estate owned resulted from adverse valuation adjustments in an adverse real estate market

environment especially as it relates to commercial properties

FDTC insurance premiums currently range from .07% to .78% of average domestic deposits

depending on an institutions risk classification and other factors Effective April 2011 banks

will be charged FDIC insurance premiums based on net assets defined by the FDIC for

assessment purposes as quarter-to-date average daily total assets less the corresponding amount

of Tier capital rather than based on average deposits Initial base assessment rates range from

.05% to .35% of net assets and may be adjusted for certain factors Assuming that Capitols

banking subsidiaries remain in their current risk category this new FDIC assessment
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methodology may result in decrease in this expense item in the fbture Future assessment rates

and methodology are difficult to predict

The more significant elements of other noninterest expense consisted of the following in

$1 000s

2010 2009 2008

Attorney fees 4953 2743 1338

Other professional fees 3939 2598 1445

Loan and collection expense 2843 2279 1602

Insurance 1977 1186 502

Directors fees 1662 1.904 2429

Bank services ATM5 telephone banking

and Internet banking 1508 2010 1982

Paper printing and supplies 1371 1605 2119

Travel lodging and meals 1279 1471 2546

Communications 1237 1416 1849

Advertising 1168 1317 2226

Postage 846 960 1043

Taxes other than income taxes 791 721 610

Other 2320 4.517 7.495

Total 25.894 24.727 27.186

In 2010 an income tax benefit from continuing operations of $7.3 millionwas recognized

related primarily to an intraperiod tax allocation associated with the gain on sale of bank

subsidiaries included in discontinued operations Income tax expense related to continuing

operations approximated $13.2 million in 2009 primarily from the effect of recording

valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets at December 31 2009 $104.5 million

valuation allowance for most deferred income tax assets has been maintained at December 31

2010 $190.3 million based on managements assessment of the realizability of such assets

not meeting the requisite more-likely-than-not criteria The valuation allowance for deferred

income tax assets may reduce income tax expense accrual requirements to the extent of

Capitols profitability in thture periods very limited amount of deferred tax assets is deemed

to be more-likely-than-not realizable as of December 31 2010 $1.8 million for few less

than 80% owned bank subsidiaries

Income from discontinued operations increased significantly in 2010 with the divestiture of 11

bank subsidiaries resulting in an approximate gain on sale of$ 15.8 million as compared to the

divestiture of bank subsidiaries in 2009 resulting in gain on sale of approximately $1.2

million Pending bank divestiture activity is discussed later in this narrative

remainder of this page intentionally left blank

F-20



Capitols Financial Position

Consolidated total assets decreased in 2010 to $3.5 billion from $5.1 billion at the end of 2009

Total assets were $5.7 billion at the beginning of 2009 The 2010 decrease in total assets

primarily resulted from Capitols divestitures of bank subsidiaries and its efforts to deleverage

its consolidated balance sheet through reductions in portfolio loans and borrowings

Most of the amounts discussed in this narrative are based upon the continuing operations of

Capitol and its consolidated bank subsidiaries Asset and liability balances as of December 31
2009 and 2008 have been adjusted to reflect recent sales of banking subsidiaries as discontinued

operations to present Capitols financial position on comparable basis

Key to the balance sheet of Capitol is an understanding of its capital position in terms of stated

amounts including any deficit amounts regulatory capital levels and ratios and the regulatory

classification of Capitol and its banking subsidiaries based upon those amounts and ratios and

liquidity cash and cash equivalents at December 31 2010 Both of those important elements

are discussed in later section of this narrative Liquidity Capital Resources and Capital

Adequacy

In the circumstances of Capitols financial position as shown on its consolidated balance sheet

clearly the single largest asset category is portfolio loans Accordingly most of the narrative in

this section is devoted primarily to loans and related aspects of asset quality

Net portfolio loans total portfolio loans after deducting the allowance for loan losses

approximated $2.5 billion at December 31 2010 and $3.0 billion at December 31 2009

excluding discontinued operations These amounts approximated 71% of total consolidated

assets at December 31 2010 and 59% at December 31 2009 The 2010 decrease is significant

and the result of Capitols efforts to reduce its balance sheet for its continuing operations as

previously-mentioned and to preserve liquidity and capital to the extent reasonably possible in

the current troubled economic climate

Capitols banking subsidiaries have emphasized commercial loans consistent with their focus on

lending to local entrepreneurs professional service firms and other businesses All of Capitols

banks use common credit policy however credit decisions are made locally at the banks

Utilization of an enterprise-wide credit policy has several key benefits such as providing

procedural guidance to the banks in the following areas

Loan underwriting and documentation

Credit-granting authority

Acceptable collateral and loan structuring

Loan participations amongst bank affiliates or external funding sources when

proposals exceed an individual banks limitations

Collections and workouts

Documentation methodology process and evaluation of the adequacy of the

allowance for loan losses and

Establishing corporate credit administration resources to aid the banks when

needed
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Internal underwriting standards to be followed for loans secured by real estate are basic credit

granting fundamentals which would be applicable to any extension of credit by bank For

construction loans which have largely been eliminated in the currently adverse economic

environment the banks follow these general underwriting policies enhanced by keen

awareness of increased risks of construction loans General underwriting policies include

analyzing and documenting

Borrower and project financial data

Contingent liabilities and related cash flows

Adequacy of liquidity and the components of borrowers and guarantors net

worth

Historic and projected cash flow data including debt service and vacancy rates

sensitivity analysis

Character credit history of borrowers and guarantors and management ability

of the borrowers enterprise

Appraisal market valuation evaluation of local market conditions and related

volatility and

Proposed use of loan proceeds and potential future uses of the property for

loans secured by real estate

Additional lending requirements include regulatory loan-to-value guidelines which are

calculated based on current appraised value for loans that finance properties acquired by the

borrower

Variable-rate commercial loans are currently emphasized during todays extremely low

interest-rate environment Most variable-rate commercial loans have stated minimums and are

underwritten with evaluation of the borrowers ability to repay based on fully-indexed rates

Since substantially all residential mortgage loan origination volume is underwritten to

secondary-market standards and the loans are sold into those markets without recourse Capitol

and its banks have no material exposure to hybrid loans such as option-ARMs or subprime

credits

As part of the banks emphasis on commercial lending commercial real estate has been sought

as the primary source of collateral where possible This emphasis on commercial real estate as

collateral has been consistent practice of Capitol and its banks from their earliest days of

operation based on the use of appropriate loan-to-value ratios at the time of loan origination

avoidance of large real estate development projects and the belief that even in volatile

economies commercial real estate tends to have substantially less loss potential than other

types of business-asset collateral such as receivables inventory and equipment which can

completely evaporate during periods of severe operational stress for small business enterprises

In the current troubled economic environment market conditions and values of real estate as

collateral have deteriorated significantly as evidenced by adverse asset quality trends since

2007 resulting in large provisions for loan losses charge-offs of uncollectible loans and

materially negative valuation adjustments of other real estate owned Other real estate owned

arises from foreclosure proceeding or acceptance of deed in lieu of foreclosure Those
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properties are held for sale at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell and are

reviewed periodically for subsequent impairment

Loans may be deemed collateral-dependent when repayment is expected solely from

liquidation of the loans collateral Many of the banking subsidiaries collateral-dependent

impaired loans are located in severely depressed real estate markets such as Michigan Arizona

and Nevada In those markets appraisal data may be of limited usefulness in estimating fair

value because comparable sale transactions generally used as important points of reference

in such appraisals are infrequent may not be orderly and may be the result of distressed or

forced sale transactions Further such comparable sale transactions may be lower or

substantially less than amounts which could be realized in orderly and not distressed or

forced sales between the owner/occupant and future user of the property Bank regulatory

agencies have encouraged Capitols banks to base their fair value estimates upon appraisal data

in substantially all valuations of real estate As of December 31 2010 and 2009 substantially

all estimates of fair value for collateral-dependent loans and other real estate owned were based

on appraisal data or other independent estimates such as broker price opinions

There is significant uncertainty in current and future real estate values appraisal results and the

resulting potential impact on both the valuation of collateral-dependent loans and other real

estate owned The fair value measurement of collateral-dependent loans and other real estate

owned is dependent primarily upon obtaining appraisals of the underlying property value from

independent appraisers in accordance with professional and licensing requirements for the

persons performing those appraisals Management cautiously monitors real estate and related

appraisal data when evaluating the fair value of real estate collateral

Updated appraisals are generally obtained when it has been determined that collateral-

dependent loan has become impaired or when it is likely loan secured by real estate will be

foreclosed Adjustments to the loans carrying value or requirements for an allocation of the

allowance for loan losses are made when appropriate after review of appraisal data or in the

absence of recent appraisal if market conditions significantly decline further The timing of

when collateral-dependent loan should be classified as nonperforming credit is contingent

upon several factors including the performance of the loan payment history and/or results of

the banks review of updated borrower financial information

When borrowers performance has deteriorated for example the borrower has become

delinquent on required payments the borrowers updated financial information received

indicates adverse financial trends or sales/leasing activity is less than expected in the case of

multi-unit properties the loan will be downgraded and if appropriate an updated appraisal

will be ordered Tn the period between loan being recognized as impaired and receipt of an

updated appraisal the loan will be included within loss contingency pools in conjunction with

estimating the banks requirements for its allowance for loan losses Upon receipt and review

of updated appraisal data and after any further fair value analysis is completed the loan will be

further evaluated for appropriate write-down Generally negative differences between

appraised value less the estimated cost to sell and the related carrying value of the loans are

charged to the allowance for loan losses as partial write-down/charge-off on timely basis

after the appraisal has been received and reviewed Occasionally additional potential loss
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amounts may be included if circumstances exist which may further adversely impact fair value

estimates Internally-developed evaluations may be used when the amount of loan is less

than $250000 Internally-prepared evaluations may also be used when the most recent

appraisal date is within year to estimate the current effect of economic conditions or

deterioration Updated fair value information is generally obtained at least annually for

collateral-dependent loans and other real estate owned

potentially negative aspect of real estate as primary source of collateral for commercial

loans among other things is that when some commercial loans develop performance

difficulties and reach nonperforming status i.e becoming 90 days past due or being placed on

nonaccrual status the resolution period will likely involve an extended period of time due to

the foreclosure process and may be further extended if the real estate sales volume is weak or

nonexistent as in the current adverse economic environment In contrast commercial loan

secured by receivables inventory or equipment which becomes nonperforming tends to have

higher loss potential due to the probable rapid dissipation of collateral value

At December 31 2010 the allowance for loan losses approximated $147.4 million or 5.52% of

total portfolio loans outstanding compared with $129.8 million or 4.14% at December 31

2009 As stated earlier the allowance is based on managements analysis of inherent losses in

the loan portfolio at the balance-sheet date The level of the allowance for loan losses in recent

periods and the percentage relationship to portfolio loans exceeds past experience at Capitol

its banks and the banking industry as result of this unprecedented and volatile economic

environment in the United States

As discussed more extensively in the Critical Accounting Policies section which appears later

in this narrative the use of estimates in determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan

losses is extremely important to an understanding of Capitols consolidated financial

statements Simply stated the allowance for loan losses is managements estimate of losses

inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance-sheet date The allowance for loan losses is

increased by provisions for loan losses which are charged against operations and reduced by

net loan write-offs which are charged against the allowance There are many ways to estimate

losses or loss reserves and there is no one right way Because the allowance for loan losses

and fair values of real estate are based on estimates actual loss experience will differ from

those estimates

In addition bank regulatory agencies have the authority to review the adequacy of the

allowance for loan losses as part of their periodic examinations at the bank level and to

require changes to the recorded allowance for loan losses superseding managements

judgment Those changes or adjustments usually involve directing the banks to increase the

allowance for loan losses and the bank may be required to reflect those changes or adjustments

retroactively even though such change in estimate is required to be accounted for as

change in estimate prospectively in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

in the United States Those changes or adjustments may be required to be made long after

management completed its process for the evaluation and documentation of the adequacy of

the allowance for loan losses based on information which was not previously available to

management at the time that process was completed
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Capitol had 23 separately-chartered banks at year-end 2010 Each bank separately computes and

documents the adequacy of its respective allowance for loan losses As mentioned previously

Capitol has uniform enterprise-wide credit policy which among other things provides the

banks guidance on evaluating and documenting the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses

Essentially standardized computational template is used consistently by all of Capitols

banking subsidiaries That template includes elements for all loan categories for performing

loans nonperforming loans watch credits and environmental factors While standardized

template is utilized management is required to apply subjective judgment in determining risk

factors specific to their banks and other matters in determining the allowance needed at the bank

level Further the combined results of the banks separate analyses are evaluated at the parent

level on judgmental basis The process to evaluate and determine the adequacy of the

allowance for loan losses at each individual bank and on consolidated basis is labor intensive

and requires high degree ofjudgment It is possible that others given the same information

may at any point in time reach different reasonable conclusions

The following table summarizes portfolio loans the allowance for loan losses and

nonperforming loans for each of the banks regionally and on consolidated basis as of

December31 in $1000s

Allowance as

Allowance for Nonperforming of Total Portfolio

Total Portfolio Loans Loan Losses Loans Loans

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Arizona Region

Bank of Tuesonose 159334 168644 2380 1904 7.711 5110 149% 13%

Central Arizona Bank 52844 65934 2552 3153 5092 3132 4.83% 4.78%

southern Arizona Community Bank0t00t 79190 1150 848 45%

sunrise Bank of Albuquerque00 52502 61025 2499 1256 4731 3436 4.76% 206%

sunrise Bank of Arizona 264181 346134 16.700 17.382 29.936 32.929 5.02%

Arizona Region Total 528861 720927 24131 24845 47470 45455 4.56% 345%

California Region

Bank of Feather River 31297 26941 479 347 1.53% 1.29%

Bank of San Francisco 74782 1384 243 1.85%

Naps Community Bank 139497 2493 3746 1.79%

Sunrise Bsnk0 183641 214682 7815 6731 8529 8.692 426% 3.14%

California Region Total 214938 455902 8294 10955 8529 12681 3.86% 2.40%

Colorado Region

Fort Collins Commerce Bank0ttt0t 83047 1308 1291 1.58%

Larimer Bank ofCommercet0S 79239 1467 1.85%

Loveland Bank of Commercet0O 33582 560 156 1.67%

Mountain view Bank of Commerce 41.087 40.201 789 621 883 ________ 1.92% 1.54%

Colorado RegionTotsl 41087 236069 789 3956 883 1447 1.92% 1.68%

Great Lakes Region

BsnkofMsumee 33558 40.269 1427 918 442 810 4.25% 2.28%

Bank ofMichigsn 64278 64374 1368 1172 2312 844 2.13% 1.82%

Capitol
National Bankt11t 138251 172088 5976 8070 13616 21346 4.32% 4.69%

Evansville Commerce Bank 38609 44179 1103 1338 1801 1244 2.86% 3.03%

Indians Community Bankt4 112986 133051 3703 4130 8358 9278 3.28% 3.10%

Michigan Commerce BsnktiXSt0D 812088 1044020 57381 53724 114937 117806 7.07% 5.15%

Ohio Commerce Bank _________ 56739 _______ 910 _______ 206 1.60%

Great Lakes Region Total 1199770 1554720 70958 70262 141466 151534 5.91% 4.52%

Midwest Region

Adams Dsiry BankttIOt 35860 655 1.83%

Bank of BelleviIletIttt 58510 938 1.60%

Community Bank of LincolnOttlOt 44864 1.195 1.661

Midwest Region Total 139234 2788 1661 2.00%
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Summary of loan information continued

Allowance as

Allowance for Nonperforming of Total Portfolio

Total Portfolio Loans Loan Losses Loans Loans

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Nevada Region

lComnierceBank 25521 33482 624 1910 5611 7531 2.45% 5.71%

Bank of Las Vegasmso 306.802 368.739 25.235 11.952 82.042 59219 8.23% 3.24%

Nevada Region Total 332323 402221 25859 13862 87653 66750 7.78% 3.45%

Northeast Region

USNY Bankoxm 57849 905 1.56%

Northwest Region

Bank of the Northwestt658 118755 134669 4000 4985 6609 9614 3.37% 3.70%

High Desert Bank 29.872 34.203 1.350 805 1.053 644 ..42% .2%
Northwest Region Total 148627 168872 5350 5790 7662 10258 3.60% 3.43%

Southeast Region

Community Bank of Rowant9 102926 1736 3441 1.69%

First Carolina State Bank 77797 90855 2389 1554 6560 6161 3.07% 1.71%

PisgahCommunityBank 28071 45094 1511 1168 6968 401 5.38% 2.59%

Sunrise BanktSXS 79.558 103.895 4374 4152 10452 7.928 5.50% 400%

Southeast Region Total 288352 239844 10010 6874 27421 14490 3.47% 2.87%

Texas Region

Bank of Fort Bend 29788 29215 700 485 419 2.35% 1.66%

Bank of Las Colinas 41434 34725 737 731 907 178% 2.11%

Texas Region Total 71222 63940 1437 1216 1326 2.02% 1.90%

Other net0 5866 7523 2973 3211 3.170 3241 N.M N.M

Consolidated totals 2831046 4047101 149801 144664 325580 307517 5.29% 3.57%

Less discontinued operations 159334 911803 2.3$Q 14.869 7.711 13.261 L42% LL%
Consolidated totals relating to

continued operations 82.671 712 83.135.298 8147421 j7869 8294.256 ..S.52% ...4J.4%

Capitol sold its ownership in Southem Arizona Community Bank effective December 10 2010 Fort Collins Commerce Bank Larimer Bank of

Commerce and Loveland Bank of Commerce effective October 29 2010 Bank of San Francisco effective September 28 2010 Adams Dairy

Bank effective August31 2010 USNY Bank effective August 23 2010 Community Bank of Lincoln effective July 30 2010 Ohio Commerce

Bank effective June 30 2010 Napa Community Bank effective April 30 2010 and Bank of Belleville effective April 27 2010 The banks

operations
have been included in Capitols consolidated totals up to the date of sale however the banks results are reflected in discontinued

opemtions

Effective July 30 2010 Peoples State Bank and Sunrise Bank of Atlanta merged with and into Bank of Valdosta Upon completion of the

merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Pnor to the merger each bank was either majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol or

majority-uwned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective March 31 2010 Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Tmst merged with and into Michigan Commerce Bank Prior to the

merger Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Tmst were wholly-owned subsidiaries of Capitol

Effective March 22 2010 Elkhart Community Bank merged with and into Goshen Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the

surviving bank was renamed Indiana Community Bank Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

Effective March 52010 Bank of Escondido Sunrise Bank of San Diego and Sunrise Community Bank merged with and into Point Loma

Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the merger each bank was either

wholly-owned subsidiary
of

Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary
in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective Febmary 19 2010 Bank of Bellevue Bank of Everett and Bank of Tacoma merged with and into Issaquah Community Bank Upon

completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Bank of the Northwest Prior to the merger each bank was either majority-owned

subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective January 29 2010 Black Mountain Community Bank Desert Community Bank and Red Rock Community Bank merged with and into

Bank of Las Vegas Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

For purposes of this presentation such merger has been reflected as if it occurred December 31 2Q09

As of December 31 2009 Community Bank of Rowan CBR was majority owned subsidiary of Capitol Development Bancorp Limited tll

CDBL lIt which due to change in control effective September 30 2009 became an unconsolidated affiliate of Capitol Effective June 30

2010 CDBL Ill transferred its controlling interest in CBR to Capitol in exchange for preferred stock of Capitol and accordingly CBR became

consolidated subsidiary of
Capitol on that date

10 Assets of these banka are reflected in discontinued operations

11 Total portfolio loans and/or allowance for loan losses of these banks as of December31 2009 have been adjusted to reflect subsequent regulatory

financial statement amendments filed on or after March 20 2010 Those amendments did not have an impact on total portfolio loans and

allowance for loan losses on consolidated basis

N.M Not meaningful
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Nonperforming loans approximated $317.9 million and $294.3 million at December 31 2010

and 2009 and approximated 11.90% and 9.39% of portfolio loans and 8.98% and 5.73% of total

assets respectively Of the nonperforming loans at December 31 2010 about 90% were real-

estate secured consistent with prior years At December 31 2010 the coverage ratio of the

allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans i.e the allowance as percentage of

nonperforming loans was 46.4% compared to 44.1% at the beginning of the year coverage

ratio below 50% is viewed by management as being appropriate inasmuch as many

nonperforming loans reflect partial write-downs based on the estimated fair value of real estate

less estimated costs to sell for collateral-dependent nonperforming loans

Comparison of the coverage ratio of the allowance to nonperforming loans is complicated by the

accounting rules for loss recognition of impaired loans For example when an impaired

collateral-dependent loan is evaluated based on the fair value as of particular balance-sheet

date any estimated loss is included as an element of the requirements for the allowance for loan

losses At the subsequent balance-sheet date that earlier loss estimate is generally charged

against the allowance for loan losses via direct write-down of the impaired collateral-dependent

loan and accordingly no allowance for loan losses component is needed until it is determined

that the fair value estimate requires further adverse revision As result many nonperforming

loans are carried at written-down level and no allowance component may be necessary at the

balance-sheet date

Directional consistency in the allowance for loan losses loan charge-offs including partial

write-downs resulting from impairment analyses as discussed above and asset quality is

important During 2010 impaired loans increased 14% from $322.3 million at December 31

2009 to $367.6 million at December 31 2010 $165.0 million at the beginning of 2009 The

amount of the allowance for loan losses allocable to impaired loans at December 31 2010 of

$41.9 million increased approximately 115% from the year-end 2009 amount of $19.5 million

This was because of an increase in troubled debt restructurings from $32 millionat year-end

2009 to $124 million at year-end 2010 coupled with an increased level of loan charge-offs

including partial write-downs in 2010 which increased 24.1% from $125.7 million in 2009 to

the level of $156.1 million in 2010 Estimated losses on loans which are deemed to be troubled

debt restructurings are required to be reflected as component of the allowance for loan losses

rather than as direct write-down of the loan amount as in the case of collateral-dependent loans

discussed earlier As mentioned previously allowance requirements for impaired loans are

reduced through charge-offs and partial loan write-downs

Loans are accounted for as troubled debt restructurings if for economic or legal reasons related

to the borrowers financial condition banks grant concession to the borrower that they would

not otherwise consider troubled debt restructuring may involve modification of terms such

as reduction of the stated interest rate or loan balance reduction of accrued interest an

extension of the maturity date at an interest rate lower than current market rate for new loan

with similar risk or some combination thereof involving concession to the borrower to

facilitate repayment Troubled debt restructurings generally remain classified as impaired until

the borrower has demonstrated timely payment performance for period of time pursuant to the

modified terms of the loan
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Provisions for loan losses decreased 10.5% in 2010 after sharp increases of 131.2% in 2009 and

262.3% in 2008 as net growth in nonperforming loans decreased to 8.02% in 2010 versus 80.7%

in 2009 and 134.4% in 2008 During 2010 the provision for loan losses was approximately

equal to charge-offs whereas the provision for loan losses exceeded loan charge-offs by 39.4%

in 2009 and 56.4% in 2008 Fluctuations in these ratios is caused by numerous factors including

the timing of loan charge-offs in relation to timing of the provisions for loan losses As

previously discussed loss estimation and monitoring of collateral values is an ongoing process

At December 31 2010 about 42.2% of total nonperforming loans were Michigan-based

including nonperforming loans held at the parent level decrease of$ 11.3 million or 7.8% In

concert with high levels of nonperforming loans at Michigan banks their combined allowance

ratio of about 6.38% and 4.91% of portfolio loans at year-end 2010 and 2009 respectively has

been maintained at higher level than the consolidated ratio and one bank had an allowance

ratio slightly more than 7% It should be noted that other regions Arizona and Nevada in

particular also had significant increases in their allowance ratio in 2010 due to higher levels of

nonperforming loans and other factors affecting their allowance for loans losses Increases in

other regions nonperforming loans were expected due to adverse economic conditions and the

historically low levels of such loans in prior periods those factors also resulted in increases to

their allowance for loan losses and related ratios

Due to commercial real estate collateral and depressed economic climate resolution of

nonperforming loans and other real estate loans may take an extended period of time Levels of

nonperforming loans may increase further and general economic conditions may not recover in

the foreseeable future

In addition to the identification of nonperforming loans involving borrowers with payment

performance difficulties i.e nonaccrual loans and loans past-due 90 days or more
management utilizes an internal loan review process to identif other potential problem loans

which may warrant additional monitoring or other attention This loan review process is

continuous activity which periodically updates intemal loan ratings When originated all loans

are individually assigned rating which grades the credits on risk basis based on the

financial strength of the borrower and guarantors and other factors such as the nature of the

borrowers business climate local economic conditions and other subjective factors The loan

rating process is fluid and subjective

Potential problem loans include loans which are generally performing as agreed however

because of loan reviews and/or lending staffs risk assessment increased monitoring is deemed

appropriate In addition some loans are assigned more adverse rating with specific

performance issues or other risk factors requiring closer management attention and the

development of specific remedial action plans

At December 31 2010 problem and potential problem loans which include nonperforming

loans approximated $763 million or nearly 29% of total consolidated portfolio loans whereas

problem and potential problem loans excluding nonperforming loans approximated $445

million or nearly 17% of total consolidated loans SuOh totals have historically approximated

4% to 5% of loans outstanding and are an important part of managements ongoing and
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proactive loan review activities which are designed to early-identify loans which warrant close

monitoring at the bank and corporate credit-administration levels During 2010 the amount of

potential problem loans increased significantly as result of continued concern about borrower

performance valuation and the continued uncertain economy It is important to note that these

potential problem loans do not necessarily have significant loss exposure nor are they

necessarily deemed impaired but rather are identified by management in this manner to aid

in loan administration and risk management These loans are considered in managements

evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses

There are several other asset categories Loans held for sale $7.0 million and $11.0 million at

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively are home mortgages which are sold into the

secondary market generally within 30-60 days of closing discussed in more detail in the

following section of this narrative There is also modest amount of investment securities on

the balance sheet $27.0 million and $41.6 million at December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively

The amount of recoverable income taxes at December 31 2009 was the result of the

Corporations operating loss and nonrecurring opportunity to carryback such losses to recover

taxes paid during the preceding five years Loss carryback rules were previously limited to the

most recent two-year period which resumed as the limitation effective January 2010 Such

recoverable income taxes were realized from tax refund received during the second half of

2010 subject to subsequent audit by the Internal Revenue Service particularly due to the size of

the refund amount

Other real estate owned approximated $107.6 million at December 31 2010 slight increase

from the year-end 2009 level of$107.0 million Other real estate owned stabilized in 2010

after dramatic increase of $41.4 million in 2009 due to borrower difficulties foreclosures and

lack of sales activity Most of the 2009 increase $38.6 million was related to banks located in

Michigan and Arizona Other real estate owned at December 31 2010 primarily consists of

commercial properties Continued deterioration of real estate market conditions for

commercial as well as residential properties has negative implications on future sales and

valuation of other real estate owned as well as collateral-dependent impaired loans secured by

real estate In 2010 however Capitol and its banking subsidiaries have observed some level of

stabilization of values and sales activity although economic conditions and improvements

remain fragile

Foreclosure laws in Michigan generally favor borrowers rather than lenders and accordingly

foreclosure and redemption periods i.e the number of months it takes for financial

institution to obtain clear title to freely market the real estate take much longer than many
other states Further once the property is available to the bank fot sale or liquidation market

conditions as they are currently particularly in Michigan Arizona and Nevada are not

conducive to rapid marketing or near-term sale of the properties

The primary source for the funding of loans is deposits which is discussed in the next section

of this narrative
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Liquidity Capital Resources and Capital Adequacy

In volatile economic environment financial institution liquidity is very important Liquidity

for financial institutions typically consists of cash and cash equivalents and assets which may be

quickly converted to cash such as loans held for sale and investment securities available for

sale These categories totaled $565.2 million at year-end 2010 or about 17.0% of total assets

excluding discontinued operations and $669819 or about 16.5% at year-end 2009 both of

which were high levels of liquidity Liquidity can vary significantly on daily basis based on

customer activity and finding sources The increased liquidity position at year-end 2010 is the

result of managements ongoing efforts to respond to regulatory guidance coupled with limited

opportunities to deploy finds into investment securities during low-interest rate environment

and very cautious approach to making loans in an uncertain and fragile economy Liquidity is

important for financial institutions because of their need to meet depositor withdrawal requests

loan finding commitments and various other commitments Management believes the banks

liquidity position at December 31 2010 is adequate to meet depositor needs and find loan

demand

Most of the investment securities portfolio approximately $24.1 million at December 31 2010

and $35.8 million at year-end 2009 has been classified as available for sale During 2010

there was approximately $26 million in sales of investment securities which were primarily

made to facilitate changes in risk-management strategies and liquidity needs In 2009 and

2008 there were no significant sales of investment securities available for sale to meet

liquidity needs or for other purposes

Loans held for sale as previously-mentioned approximated $7.0 millionat December 31 2010

compared to $11.0 million at year-end 2009 These are residential real estate mortgages

originated by the banks and are subsequently sold into the secondary market rather than being

held in the banks portfolios to reduce interest rate and related credit risk Mortgage loan

origination volume in 2010 decreased to approximately $117 million compared to $311 million

in 2009 $207 million in 2008 Future mortgage origination volume will depend in large part on

interest rates real estate valuation and the relative strength of residential real estate market

conditions as well as the creditworthiness of borrowers Also to the extent warranted the banks

may sell other loans from time to time

The primary source of finds for the banks is deposits The banks rely upon interest-bearing

time deposits as key part of their finding strategy The banks also emphasize noninterest

bearing deposits or checking accounts which reduce the banks cost of finds Noninterest

bearing deposits were about 17% of total deposits at year-end 2010 about 14% at year-end

2009 and 16% at the beginning of 2009 This ratio is significant inasmuch as lower

percentage of noninterest-bearing deposits has the effect of increasing banks finding costs

and accordingly reducing net interest income
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In recent periods many banks within the industry have experienced competitive challenges in

obtaining additional deposits for liquidity Capitols banks have had similar experience in their

individual markets As depositors have wider access to the Internet and other real-time interest

rate monitoring resources deposit sourcing and pricing have become very competitive

Deposits currently require competitive and often aggressive pricing adversely impacting net

interest margins especially during these recent periods of very low interest rates As interest

rates have remained at record low levels customers are more attracted to aggressively-priced

time deposits and both growth in deposits and retention of
deposits is difficult to achieve in

challenging economic environment Capitols banks have decreased the use of brokered

deposits as finding source in response to requirements of regulatory agreements Banks

under agreements are prohibited from renewing brokered deposits as they mature

approximately $279 million at year-end 2010 or 9.2% of deposits compared to 20.1% in

2009 Deposits obtained from Internet-based sources which are not classified as brokered

deposits have increased significantly in recent years

To supplement their finding sources some of the banks have lines of credit from the Federal

Home Loan Bank FHLB system At year-end 2010 total of approximately $114 million

$182 million at year-end 2009 was borrowed under FHLB facilities and additional borrowing

availability approximated $164 million The $68 million decrease in the amount of FHLB

borrowings is from Capitols efforts to reduce debt obligations of its banking subsidiaries and

shrink its balance sheet Borrowings under those facilities are generally at short-term market

rates of interest and although the repayment dates can be extended are generally outstanding

for brief periods of time The FHLB may accelerate due-dates of these borrowings under

certain circumstances which could have material adverse effect on liquidity

Capitols longer-term contractual obligations are disclosed in the notes to the accompanying

consolidated financial statements Such obligations consist principally of time deposits debt

and lease obligations and trust-preferred securities the principal amounts of which are

summarized as follows in $1000s

Payments Due by Period

Within Within Within After

Tota$0 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years

Deposits without stated

maturity $1362458 $1362458

Time deposits 1666226 1211882 396184 57702 458

Debt obligations 123377 89655 18825 1466 13431

Rent commitments under

noncancelable leases 53249 9453 16113 12880 14803

Subordinated debentures 167586 __________ 167586

Total S3.372.896 S2.673.448 431122 72048 196.278

Excludes interest
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During 2008 Capitol completed private offering of $14 million of promissory notes which

were purchased by accredited investors The promissory notes became callable in 2010
mature in 2013 and bear interest at 9% In 2010 Capitol converted approximately $4.6 million

of those notes into approximately 1.4 million shares of common stock in private-placement

transaction

Loan commitments of Capitols banks stand-by letters of credit and unfunded loans generally

expire within one year Other than the items set forth in the table on the preceding page there

are no individually material contractual obligations such as purchase obligations

significant source of capital in prior years was investments in start-up banks made by

community investors or noncontrolling interests in those subsidiaries which are consolidated

for financial reporting purposes Total noncontrolling interests included as component of

equity amounted to $23.2 million at year-end 2010 net decrease of $49.1 million from the

$72.3 million level at year-end 2009 The net decrease in noncontrolling interests in 2010

resulted from operating losses and bank divestitures

Capitol has several bank-development subsidiaries each originally capitalized with two classes

of common stock voting and nonvoting Capitol purchased all of the initial voting shares of

common stock of these entities while the nonvoting shares were sold in private offerings to

accredited investors some of whom are related parties of Capitol Those entities had been

engaged in bank-development activities through Capitol consisting of formation and

investment in start-up banks and management of their investments in young banks Bank start

up activities were suspended in mid-2008 when the regulatory and capital-raising environment

for new banks became unfavorable Each of these entities bear similar name Capitol

Development Bancorp Limited each CDBL numbered in their sequential formation

CDBL-I through CDBL-VIIJ

CDBL-I became wholly-owned by Capitol in 2006 and CDBL-II became wholly-owned in

February 2007 and both were subsequently merged with and into Capitol CDBL III ceased to

be controlled subsidiary in 2009 and accordingly its consolidated financial position and

results of operations were deconsolidated effective September 30 2009 Effective December

31 2009 Capitol increased its ownership in some of the CDBLs through the conversion of

intercompany indebtedness to voting common stock of the CDBLs to maintain controlling

50% interest in anticipation of conversion of those CDBLs nonvoting shares to voting

shares

Prior to 2009 Capitol raised total of$ 167 million of capital through issuance of trust-

preferred securities Most have been obtained through private placements of pooled trust-

preferred securities Trust-preferred securities are long-term debt obligations which may be

treated as elements of capital for regulatory purposes When these securities were issued all

were included as an element of the Corporations regulatory capital Currently none of those

securities are so included due to the Corporations capital position As noted in the

accompanying financial statements the trusts relating to Capitols trust-preferred securities are

classified as debt obligations on the consolidated balance sheet Future availability of trust

preferred securities as near-term capital resource is uncertain due to the instability of U.S

capital markets
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In April 2009 the Corporation determined that it would commence the deferral of interest

payments on its various trust-preferred securities as is permitted under the terms of the

securities to conserve cash and capital resources The payment of interest may be deferred for

periods up to five years During such deferral periods Capitol is generally prohibited from

paying dividends on its common stock and will continue to accrue interest payable on such

securities Holders of the trust-preferred securities will continue to recognize current taxable

income relating to the deferred interest payments Payment of interest on the trust-preferred

securities is also not permitted without prior approval of the Federal Reserve see subsequent

discussion in the Certain Regulatory Matters section of this narrative

The stockholders equity deficit attributable to Capitol approximated $61.9 million at year-end

2010 The significant 2010 decrease of $223.2 million resulted primarily from the net loss

from operations attributable to Capitol for the year including an impairment charge related to

goodwill of $64.5 million The equity deficit at December 31 2010 coupled with adverse

classification of Capitol and many of its banks on the basis of their regulatory capital levels

among other things raises some level of doubt as to Capitols ability to continue as going

concern as discussed in the Going-Concern Considerations section of this narrative

Additionally Capitol and many of its banking subsidiaries are operating under various formal

and informal regulatory agreements see subsequent discussion in the Certain Regulatory

Matters section of this narrative

In April 2010 Capitol completed an offering of 2.5 million shares of previously-unissued

common stock and warrants for the purchase of 1.25 million additional shares of common stock

resulting in net proceeds approximating $6.8 million with corresponding increase to Capitols

stockholders equity The warrants have an exercise price of $3.50 per warrant and expire in

2013

On June 30 2010 Capitol issued an aggregate 95000 shares of its Series Noncumulative

Perpetual Preferred Stock Of that aggregate issuance 44020 shares were issued to

consolidated subsidiary of Capitol and accordingly have been eliminated in consolidation The

remaining 50980 shares were issued to bank-development company which is an

unconsolidated affiliate of Capitol The liquidation preference of the shares issued is $100.00

per share with an aggregate issuance of $9.5 million of which $4.4 million has been eliminated

upon consolidation The Series Preferred Stock is nonvoting and callable at Capitols option

after 36 months from date of issuance at $100.00 per share plus any accrued dividends

Dividends on such shares are payable only when and if declared by Capitols board of directors

based on an annual rate of 6%

Capitol and each of its bank subsidiaries are subject to complex series of regulatory rules and

requirements which require specific levels of capital adequacy at both the bank level and on

consolidated basis Under those rules and regulations banks are categorized as well-

capitalized adequately-capitalized or under-capitalized using several ratio measurements

including risk-weighting approach to assets and financial commitments These ratio

measurements in addition to certain other requirements are used by regulatory agencies to

determine the level of regulatory intervention and enforcement applied to financial institutions
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The following table summarizes the amounts in $1000s and related ratios of Capitols

consolidated regulatory capital position at December 31 2010 and the amounts of deficiency

that exist between the Corporations current deficit position and levels required in order to be

considered as adequately-capitalized

Tier capital to average adjusted total assets

Minimum required amount $155224
Actual amount 39980

Ratio I.03%

Deficiency $195204

Tier capital to risk-weighted assets

Minimum required amountW $I 10909

Actual amount 39980
Ratio .44%

Deficiency $150889

Combined Tier and Tier capital to risk- weighted assets

Minimum required amount2 $221818
Actual amount 39980

Ratio 1.44%
Deficiency $26 1798

The minimum required ratio of Tier capital to risk-weighted assets to be

considered adequately-capitalized is 4%
The minimum required ratio of Tier and Tier capital to risk-weighted assets

to be considered adequately-capitalized is 8%

Capitols total risk-based capital ratio at December 31 2010 was materially and adversely

impacted by the exclusion of approximately $203.7 millionof previously-qualiflying Tier

capital inasmuch as Tier capital is limited to 100% of Tier capital primarily trust-preferred

securities and portion of the allowance for loan losses The Tier capital deficit at year-end

2010 resulted from operating losses however Tier limitation primarily due to the

exclusion of trust-preferred securities did not apply to Capitols regulatory capital

computations for measurement dates prior to 2010

The preceding summary indicates that Capitol on consolidated basis was classified as less

than adequately-capitalized at December 31 2010 As indicated above such classification is

based upon certain stated ratio minimums at the adequately-capitalized level There is

however no assurance that regulatory agencies may not impose higher threshold for Capitol

and/or its banks at any time

Several of its bank subsidiaries had capital levels resulting in classification as undercapitalized

or significantly-undercapitalized at December 31 2010 Additionally two bank subsidiaries

had capital levels resulting in regulatory classification as critically-undercapitalized at that

date however each of those subsidiaries received additional capital from the Corporation in

January 2011 to improve their classifications to significantly-undercapitalized Banks and

bank holding companies which are less than adequately-capitalized are subject to increased

regulatory oversight intervention requirements and limitations Regarding banks classified as
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less than adequately-capitalized or otherwise noncompliant with formal regulatory agreements

management is pursuing various strategies to improve such capital classifications and related

compliance in the future subject to the availability of
capital and continued cooperation by

regulatory agencies

The following comparative analysis summarizes each banks regulatory capital position as of

December 31

Tier Risk-Based Total Risk-Based

Tier Leverage RatioOXSt Capital Ratio05 Capital RatioZXS Regulatory Classification3

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Arizona Region

Bank of Tucson 7.09% 9.67% 9.31% 10.78% 10.56% 11.86% well-capitalized well-capitalized

Central Arizona Bank 2.24% 5.13% 3.20% 7.13% 4.49% 8.42% significantly- adequately-

undercapitalized capitalized

sunrise Bank of Albuquerque 2.43% 6.27% 3.39% 8.07% 4.68% 9.33% significantly- adequately-

undercapitalized capitalizedt6t

SunriseBankofArizona 0.69% 3.62% 0.92% 5.01% 1.84% 6.30% critically- undercapitalized

undercapital izedO4t

California Region

Bank of Feather River 16.08% 18.59% 21.16% 25.84% 22.42% 27 09% well-capitalized well-capitalized

sunrise Bank00 7.04% 7.97% 9.93% 10.57% 11.22% 11.83% adequately- well-capitalized

capital izedt6

Colorado Region

Mountain view Bank of

Commercet4 12.02% 14.20% 17.99% 17.99% 19.25% 19.24% well-capitalized well-capitalized

Great Lakes Region

Bank of Maumee 7.00% 8.50% 9.43% 1042% 10.72% 11.68% well-capitalized well-capitalized

Bank of Michigan 7.67% 7.11% 10.33% 11.19% 11.59% 12.44% well-capitalized well-capitalized

Capitol
National Bank 6.10% 6.45% 7.74% 8.15% 9.03% 9.44% adequately- adequately-

capitalized capitalizedt6t

Evansville Commerce Bank 8.47% 8.01% 12.25% 11.28% 13.52% 12.55% well capitalized well-capitalized

Indiana Community Bank 6.34% 8.11% 8.19% 10.81% 9.47% 12 08% adequately- adequately-

capitalized capitalizedt6t

Michigan Commerce BanktSttI 1.15% 4.03% 1.46% 5.00% 2.78% 6.30% critically- undercapitalized

undercapital
izedtl4t

Nevada Region

Commerce Bank 2.48% 7.08% 394% 8.89% 5.20% 10.20%
significantly- well-capitalized

undercapitalized

Bank of Las Vegas02 2.06% 5.08% 2.93% 6.25% 4.27% 7.5 1% significantly- uitdcrcapitalitcd

undercapitalized

Northwest Region

Bank of the NorthwestOflO3t 10.05% 15.16% 13.25% 2075% 1452% 22.01% adequately- well-capitalized

capital izedtt

High Desert Bank 7.83% 8.45% 10.07% 11.28% 11.36% 12.55% adequately- adequately-

capital
izedt6t capital izedtSt

Southeast Region

Community Bank of Rowan 6.83% 8.17% 10.05% 10.52% 11.30% 11.77% well-capitalized well-capitalized

First Carolina State Bank 3.11% 7.08% 4.75% 9.18% 6.02% 10.44% undercapitalized well-capitalized

Pisgah Community Bankt4t 2.03% 10.17% 3.52% 14.39% 4.82% 15.66% significantly- well-capitalized

undercapitalized

Sunrise BankCtI3t 2.14% 7.12% 3.29% 11.19% 4.59% 12.46%
significantly adequately

undercapitalized capital
izedtbt

Texas Region
Bank of Fort Bend 14.27% 16.05% 19.06% 19.76% 20.32% 21.01% well-capitalized well-capitalized

Bank ofLas Colinas 11.58% 12.56% 14.46% 16.54% 15.72% 17.81%
well-capitalized well-capitalized

Consolidated totals 03% 4.61% .44% 5.99% .44% 9.46% Ieee than adequately

adequately- capitalized

capitalized
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Footnotes to regulatory capital position

The minimum required Tier leverage mtio and Tier risk-based capital ratio is 4% 8% for cia novo institutions

The minimum
required total risk-based capital ratio is 8%

In order to be classified as well-capitalized institution the total risk-based capital ratio must be 10% or more To be classified as an

adequately-capitalized institution the total risk-based capital ratio must be between 8% and 10% Institutions are classified as

undercapitalized when the total risk-based ratio is between 6% and 8% and significantly-undercapitalized when such ratio falls below

6% Institutions with Tier leverage ratio below 2% are classified as critically-undercapitalized

De novo institution which is subject to higher minimum ratio requirements as noted in above for the first three
years

of operations

Ratios are based on the regulatory reports filed at original due date which is generally within 30 days after quarter-end

Institution is subject to regulatory agreement and accordingly cannot be classified better than adequately-capitalized even though the

risk-based capital ratios would otherwise suggest well-capitalized classification

Effective July 30 2010 Peoples State Bank and Sunrise Bank of Atlanta merged with and into Bank of Valdosta Upon completion of

the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the merger each bank was either majority-owned subsidiary of

Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective March 31 2010 Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Trust merged with and into Michigan Commerce Bank Prior to

the merger Bank ofAubum Hills and Paragon Bank Trust were wholly-owned subsidiaries of Capitol

Effective March 22 2010 Elkhart Community Bank merged with and into Goshen Community Bank Upon completion of the merger

the surviving bank was renamed Indiana Community Bank Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

10 Effective March 52010 Bank of Escondido Sunrise Bank of San Diego and Sunrise Community Bank merged with and into Point

Loma Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior so the merger each

bank was either wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds

controlling interest

II Effective February 19 2010 Bank of Bellevue Bank of Everett and Bank of Tacoma merged with and into Issaquah Community Bank

Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Bank of the Northwest Prior to the merger each bank was either

majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary
in which Capitol holds controlling interest

12 Effective January 29 2010 Black Mountain Community Bank Desert Community Bank and Red Rock Community Bank merged with

and into Bank of Las Vegas Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

13 For purposes of this presentation such merger has been reflected as if it occurred on December31 2009

14 Subsequent capital contributions in January 2011 eliminated the banks classification as critically-undercapitalized in 2011

Future regulatory capital compliance classification and related ratios are difficult to predict

and are subject to significant contingencies There is also no assurance that regulatory

agencies may not impose higher ratio thresholds at any time

Proceeds from the sale of banks in 2010 have been deployed as additional capital in the

remaining banks pursuant to requirements imposed by the FDIC Capitol anticipates

augmenting the capital levels of its less than adequately-capitalized bank subsidiaries further

through allocation of proceeds from additional divestitures of certain bank subsidiaries which

were pending at December 31 2010 Pending divestitures are discussed later in this narrative

Management is pursuing various strategies to increase CapitoPs Tier capital including

raising capital through potential equity transactions gains on divestiture of some bank

subsidiaries and other initiatives as discussed further on page F-4

Certain Regulatory Matters

In September 2009 Capitol and its second-tier bank holding companies entered into an

agreement with the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago the Reserve Bank under which Capitol

agreed to refrain from the following actions without the prior written consent of the Reserve

Bank declare or pay dividends ii receive dividends or any other form of payment

representing reduction in capital from Michigan Commerce Bank or from any of its

subsidiary institutions that are subject to any restriction by the institutions federal or state

regulator that limits the payment of dividends or other intercorporate payments iiimake any

distributions of interest principal or other sums on subordinated debentures or trust-preferred

securities iv incur increase or guarantee any debt or purchase or redeem any shares of
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the stock of Capitol the second-tier bank holding companies nonbank subsidiaries or any of the

subsidiary banks that are held by shareholders other than Capitol

In addition Capitol agreed to submit to the Reserve Bank written plan to maintain

sufficient capital at Capitol on consolidated basis and at Michigan Commerce Bank as

Capitols largest bank subsidiary and separate legal entity on stand-alone basis ii notify

the Reserve Bank no more than 30 days after the end of any quarter in which Capitols

consolidated or Michigan Commerce Banks capital ratios fall below the approved capital plans

minimum ratios as well as if any subsidiary institutions ratios fall below the minimum ratios

required by the institutions federal or state regulator iii review and revise its ALLL

methodology for loans held by Capitol and submit to the Reserve Bank written program for

maintenance of an adequate ALLL for loans held by Capitol iv take all necessary actions to

ensure each of its subsidiary institutions comply with Federal Reserve regulations refrain

from increasing any fees or charging new fees to any subsidiary institution without the prior

written consent of the Reserve Bank vi submit to the Reserve Bank written plan to enhance

the consolidated organizations risk management practices strategic plan to improve the

consolidated organizations operating results and overall condition and cash flow projections

vii comply with laws and regulations regarding senior executive officer positions and

severance payments and viii provide quarterly reports to the Reserve Bank regarding these

undertakings

Many of Capitols bank subsidiaries have entered into formal agreements as well as informal

agreements with their applicable regulatory agencies Those agreements provide for certain

restrictions and other guidelines and/or limitations to be followed by the banks The banks

generally subject to such agreements are noted as such in the regulatory capital summary

appearing on page F-35 of this document In all instances where Capitol or its banks are

subject to formal or informal agreements corporate and/or bank management as the case may

be and their boards of directors are fully committed and working proactively to achieve

compliance with those agreements and improving their entitys financial condition

The FDIC may issue Prompt Corrective Action Notifications PCAN to banking subsidiaries

falling below the adequately-capitalized regulatory-capital classification and subsequently

may issue Prompt Correction Action Directives PCAD PCADs may be issued when bank

which has previously received PCAN has submitted two consecutive capital restoration

plans which have been rejected by the FDTC

remainder of this page intentionally left blank
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Banking subsidiaries which have recently received PCAN and/or PCAD are as follows as

of March 2011 listed in descending order based on total assets

PCAN PCAD

Michigan Commerce Bank Michigan Commerce Bank

Bank of Las Vegas Bank of Las Vegas

Sunrise Bank of Arizona Sunrise Bank of Arizona

Sunrise Bank GA
First Carolina State Bank

Central Arizona Bank Central Arizona Bank

Sunrise Bank of Albuquerque

15t Commerce Bank

Pisgah Community Bank

For each banking subsidiary which has received PCAN capital restoration plans have been

requested by the FDIC prepared and resubmitted for regulatory review and approval For

banks in receipt of PCAD those institutions are striving to develop and implement capital

restoration plans which may be subsequently acceptable to the FDIC

Generally banks are subject to cross-guaranty liability regarding other financial institutions the

FDIC determines are controlled by any multibank holding company Pursuant to federal

regulations an insured depository institution may be liable for any loss the FDIC has incurred

or expects to incur in connection with the failure of former affiliate institution and if the

FDIC determines that remaining affiliates have liability to the FDIC then they would be

required to pay that liability to the FDIC Payment of cross-guaranty liability to the FDIC

could have material adverse impact on the results of operations capital adequacy and

financial position of Capitol and its banking subsidiaries

To date none of Capitols subsidiary banks have received any notice of assessment of cross-

guaranty liability Capitols banks have however received notice from the FDIC that the

FDIC may assess cross-guaranty liability relating to failed community bank in Florida

which ceased operations in November 2009 The FDIC alleges that the Florida bank was an

affiliated institution of Capitol although Capitol owned no securities of that bank or otherwise

controlled the failed institution The aggregate loss to the FDIC of that failed bank

approximated $23.6 million The FDIC has until November 2011 two years from the date of

such notice to determine whether to assess that potential cross-guaranty liability if any

In addition to the previously-mentioned potential cross-guaranty liability some of Capitols

banking subsidiaries were advised in December 2009 that to mitigate the effects of any

possible assessment arising from potential cross-guaranty liability they should develop plan

to arrange sale merger or recapitalization such that Capitol no longer controls the bank This

guidance was preceded by Capitols previously-announced plans to selectively divest some of

its bank subsidiaries in conjunction with reallocating capital resources to the remaining banks

Capitols pending divestitures are subject to regulatory approval which may take an extended

period of time to obtain
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On July 21 2010 the Dodd-Frank Act DFA was signed into law which significantly changes

future regulation of financial institutions and the financial services industry The DFA
includes provisions affecting large and small financial institutions alike including several

provisions that will profoundly affect how community banks thrifts and smaller bank holding

companies will be regulated in the future Among other things these provisions abolish the

Office of Thrift Supervision and transfer its functions to the other federal banking agencies

relax rules regarding interstate branching allow financial institutions to pay interest on

business checking accounts change the scope of FDIC insurance coverage and impose new

capital requirements on bank holding companies including removing trust-preferred securities

as permitted component of holding companys Tier capital after three-year phase-in

period beginning January 2013 The DFA also establishes the Bureau of Consumer

Financial Protection as an independent entity within the Federal Reserve which will be given

the authority to promulgate consumer protection regulations applicable to all entities offering

consumer financial services or products including banks Additionally the DFA includes

series of provisions covering mortgage loan origination standards affecting among other

things originator compensation minimum repayment standards and prepayments

Management is reviewing the provisions of the DFA and assessing its probable impact on the

Corporations business financial condition and results of operations However the ultimate

effect of the DFA on the financial services industry in general and on the Corporation in

particular is currently uncertain

One particularly important aspect of the DFA as amended is that certain trust-preferred

securities issued by bank holding companies with total assets less than $10 billion such as

Capitol will be permitted to be included as an element of qualifying capital for regulatory

capital-adequacy purposes Accordingly Capitols trust preferred securities may be included in

regulatory capital measurements in the future subject to certain limitations although none of

those securities are currently included

Going-Concern Considerations

As of December 31 2010 there are several significant adverse aspects of Capitols consolidated

financial position and results of operations which include but are not limited to the following

An equity deficit approximating $38.7 million

Regulatory capital classification on consolidated basis as less than adequately-

capitalized and related negative amounts and ratios

Numerous banking subsidiaries with regulatory capital classification as

undercapitalized significantly-undercapitalized or critically-undercapitalized

two banks were classified as critically-undercapitalized at December 31 2010 and

obtained sufficient additional capital from the Corporationin early 2011 to improve

their classification to significantly-undercapitalized
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Certain banking subsidiaries which are generally subject to formal regulatory

agreements have received prompt corrective action notifications and/or directives

from the FDIC which require timely action by bank management and the respective

boards of directors to resolve regulatory capital ratios which result in classification as

less than adequately-capitalized the basis of PCAN or to submit an acceptable

capital restoration plan to the FDIC the basis of PCAD and it is likely additional

PCANs and/or PCADs may be issued in the future and/or the banking subsidiaries may
be unable to satisfactorily resolve such notices and/or directives

Tn 2010 Capitol sold several of its banking subsidiaries and has other divestiture

transactions pending see Note to the accompanying consolidated financial

statements The proceeds from those divestitures have been redeployed at certain

remaining banking subsidiaries which have experienced significant erosion of capital

due to operating losses While such proceeds have been significant source of funds

for redeployment the Corporation will need to raise significant other sources of new

capital in the future

The Corporation and substantially all of its banking subsidiaries are operating under

various regulatory agreements formal and informal which place number of

restrictions on them and impose other requirements limiting activities requiring

preservation of capital improvement in regulatory capital measures reduction of

nonperforming assets and other things for which the entities have not achieved full

compliance

Elevated levels of nonperforming loans and other nonperforming assets as percentage

of consolidated loans and total assets respectively and

Significant losses from operations in 2010 2009 and 2008 resulting primarily from

provisions for loan losses costs associated with foreclosed properties and other real

estate owned and in 2010 an impairment charge to operations for the write-off of

previously-recorded goodwill $64.5 million

The foregoing considerations raise some level of doubt potentially substantial doubt as to

the Corporations ability to continue as going concern

Capitol has commenced several initiatives and other actions to mitigate these going-concern

considerations and to improve the Corporations financial condition equity regulatory capital

and regulatory compliance

In December 2010 Capitol announced comprehensive capital strategy which includes the

following

An offer to exchange all outstanding trust-preferred securities

Amendment to Capitols articles of incorporation to authofize additional shares of

common stock

potential shareholder rights offering and

potential reverse stock split
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In early 2011 partial exchange of trust-preferred securities was completed and the

Corporations stockholders approved the amendment to the articles of incorporation to increase

its authorized common stock and authorize its board of directors to proceed with rights

offering and reverse stock split in addition to potential share-exchange regarding second-tier

bank-development subsidiaries

Improvement in Capitols and its banking subsidiaries capitalization financial position asset

quality and results of operations requires multi-faceted efforts which are currently being

pursued aggressively in the following areas among others

Raising significant amounts of new capital

Completion of divestitures which are currently pending

shareholder rights offering

Further reductions in nonperforming assets

Stabilization of provisions for loan losses and impairment losses

Resuscitation of Capitols trust-preferred securities as qualifying element of

regulatory capital and/or equity and

Further reductions in operating expenses through mergers of bank subsidiaries

completed in recent years

Capitols ability to continue as going concern is contingent on the successful achievement of

the items listed above Capitols board of directors and management are fully engaged and

committed to successful completion of those items with clear sense of urgency subject to the

availability of capital and continued cooperation by regulatory agencies

Trends Affecting Operations

The most significant trends which can impact the financial condition and results of operations

of financial institutions are changes in market rates of interest and changes in general economic

conditions

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

Changes in interest rates either up or down have an impact on net interest income plus or

minus depending upon the direction and timing of such changes At any point in time there

is an imbalance between interest rate-sensitive assets and interest rate-sensitive liabilities This

means that when interest rates change the timing and magnitude of the effect of such interest

rate changes can alter the relationship between asset yields and the cost of funds This timing

difference between interest rate-sensitive assets and interest rate-sensitive liabilities is

characterized as gap which is quantified by the distribution of rate-sensitive amounts within

various time periods in which they reprice or mature
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The following table summarizes the consolidated financial position in relation to the gap at

December 31 2010 in $1000s

Interest Rate
5ensitivity

Oto3 4to12 Ito5 Over5

Months Months Years Years Total

AS5ET5

Money market and interest-bearing deposits 465778 24838 15797 506413

Federal funds sold 418 418

Loans held for sale 7041 7041

Investment securities 6000 1798 6983 12251 27032

Federal Home Loan Bank Federal Reserve

Bankstock 18167 18167

Portfolio loans 826230 371777 1031995 441710 2671712

Noneaming assets ___________ ___________ 309431

Total assets 1.323.634 398.413 1.054.775 453.961 3540.214

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Interest-bearing deposits

Time deposits under $100000 174118 358106 222748 355 755327

Time deposits $100000 and over 258535 421059 231138 103 910835

All other interest-bearing deposits 579151 115425 ___________ 151.073 845.649

Total interest-bearingdeposits 1011804 894590 453886 151531 2511811

Notes payable and short-term borrowings 45887 43768 20291 13431 123377

Subordinated debentures 67098 42886 57602 167586

Noninserest-bearing liabilities 776121

Total liabilities 3578895

Equity

Capitol Bancorp stockholders equity 61854

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated

subsidiaries 23.173

Total equity deficit __________ __________ __________ __________ 38.68

Total liabilities and
equity

124.789 517 063 222.564

Interest rate sensitive period gap 198.845 539 945 537.712 231.397

Interest rate sensitive cumulative gap 198.845 34 1.100 196.612 428.009

Period rate sensitive
assets/period rate

sensitive liabilities 1.18 0.42 2.04 2.04

Cumulative rate sensitive assets/cumulative

rate sensitive liabilities 118 83 1.08 1.15

Cumulative gap to total assets 5.62% 9.64% 5.55% 12.09%

The preceding table indicates that in the immediate short-term Capitol is slightly asset

sensitive i.e interest-rate sensitive assets exceed interest-rate sensitive liabilities and

accordingly if interest rates increase it would favorably impact interest income Reality in

2010 however was an extremely low rate environment following unprecedented large rate cuts

made by the Federal Reserve to the point of bringing short-term interbank rates to near zero in

2008 The gap changes daily based upon changes in the underlying assets and liabilities at the

banks Analyzing exposure to interest rate risk is prone to imprecision because the gap is

constantly changing the gap differs at each of the banks and it is difficult to predict the timing

amount and direction of future changes in market interest rates and the potential corresponding

effect on customers balances and transactions
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The banks endeavor to manage and monitor interest rate risk in concert with market conditions

and risk parameters Management strives to maintain reasonably balanced position of interest

rate-sensitive assets and liabilities Capitol and its banks have not engaged in speculative

positions for example through the use of derivatives in anticipation of interest rate movements

In periods of relatively lower interest rates the banks emphasize variable rate loans and time

deposits to the extent possible in competitive environment however competitive influences

often result in making fixed rate loans although the banks seek to limit the duration of such

loans Similarly low interest rates generally make competition more intense for deposits since

loan demand will typically increase during periods of lower rates and accordingly result in

higher interest costs on deposits as competitors bid-up rates adversely impacting interest

margins Future interest rates and the impact on eamings are difficult to predict In addition to

interest rate risk relating to interest-bearing assets and liabilities changes in interest rates also

can impact thture transaction volume of loans and deposits at the banks For activities which are

influenced by levels of interest rates for transaction volume for example origination of

residential mortgage loans pricing margins and demand can become impacted significantly by

changes in interest rates

As means of monitoring and managing exposure to interest rate risk management uses

computerized simulation model which is intended to estimate pro forma effects of changes in

interest rates Using the simulation model the following table illustrates on consolidated

basis changes which would occur in annual levels of interest income interest expense and net

interest income in $l000s assuming 100 200 and 300 basis point bp increases and 100

basis point decrease in interest rates

Pro Forma

Pro Forma Effect of

Assuming No Pro Forma Effect of Interest Rate

Change in Interest Rate Increases Decreases

Interest Rates 100 bp 200 bp 300 bp -100 bp

Interest income 148641 161438 174776 189054 139486

Interest expense 48012 62206 76569 90931 37077

Net interest income 100.629 99.232 98.207 98.123 102.409

The preceding pro forma analysis is intended to quantify theoretical changes in interest income

based on stated assumptions The pro forma analysis excludes the effect of numerous other

variables such as borrowers ability to repay loans the ability of banks to obtain deposits in

radically changed interest-rate environment and how management would revise its asset and

liability management priorities in concert with rate changes

While the pro forma analysis is intended to estimate the impact of immediate changes in rates

actual results will be different Those results will differ and may be materially different

because change in market rates does not result in an instantaneous parallel shift in rates on

loans and deposits at banks Further any financial model intended to estimate the impact of

interest rate changes will not necessarily incorporate other variables including managements

efforts to manage its asset and liability interest rate sensitivity or customer behavior
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As mentioned previously the Federal Reserve took unprecedented action in late 2008 to reduce

market interest rates to near zero Because of Capitols consolidated asset-sensitive gap

position such rates have an adverse impact on net interest margin and results of operations as

interest rates on loans reprice quickly while rates paid on deposits will reprice over an

extended period of time as well as the difficulty in attracting deposits and deploying liquidity

in very low rate environment It is impossible to speculate further on the timing size and

direction of fUture interest rate changes

General economic conditions also have significant impact on both the results of operations

and the financial condition of financial institutions As mentioned previously general

economic conditions within the state of Michigan and the national economic recession are

uncertain and are likely to continue to have an adverse effect on Capitols banks and their

customers It is likely that absent significant catalysts Michigans economic recovery in

particular may take an extended period of time

Media reports raising serious concerns about the future health of the domestic economy and

the sustained deep recession in many of Capitols markets and their difficult prospects for

recovery have continued During 2010 and 2009 nonperforming assets increased

significantly it is likely levels of nonperforming assets and related loan losses and adverse

valuation adjustments may increase further as economic conditions locally and nationally

evolve

Capitols geographic footprint serves to minimize or avoid concentration of assets in

particular region The Great Lakes Region comprised 39% and 37% of consolidated assets at

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively and continues to be disproportionate to other

denominated geographic regions of Capitol Future asset growth is expected to emphasize

other regions improving the balance of Capitols geographic presence and reducing the

exposure to adverse economic conditions of any particular region

Capitol and its banking subsidiaries along with the entire banking industry are subject to

significant regulatory requirements which impact current and future operations In addition to

the extent of regulatory interaction with financial institutions extensive rules and regulations

governing lending activities deposit gathering and capital adequacy to name few translate

into significant cost burden of financial institution regulation Such costs include the

significant amount of management time and expense which is incurred in maintaining

compliance and developing systems for compliance with those rules and regulations as well as

the cost of examinations audits and other compliance activities The future of financial

institution regulation and its costs is uncertain and difficult to predict
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Divestitures of Banks

In 2010 Capitol completed the following sales of bank subsidiaries in $1000s

Date Sold

April 27 2010

April 30 2010

June 30 2010

July 30 2010

August 23 2010

August 31 2010

September 28 2010

October 29 2010

October 29 2010

October 29 2010

December 10 2010

Sale

Proceeds

5090

21574

6520

3750

2700

4335

6604

5822

4332

4346

11.028

Gain Loss

1331

7372

1478

1268

271
559

1740

597

163
943

930

76.101 15.784

Previously majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol

Previously majority-owned subsidiary of bank-development subsidiary controlled by Capitol

Under the terms of the sale transaction Capitol could receive additional proceeds of up to $5.3 million in

the future subject to Napa Community Banks future financial performance

In addition to completed transactions summarized above Capitol has entered into definitive

agreements to sell its interests or controlling interests held by bank-development subsidiaries

in the following institutions and were pending as of December 31 2010 Vt Commerce Bank
Bank of Fort Bend Bank of Tucsons main office Community Bank of Rowan and Evansville

Commerce Bank

In early 2011 Capitol entered into definitive agreements to sell its controlling interests in Bank

of Feather River Bank of Las Colinas and High Desert Bank held by bank-development

subsidiaries and completed the sale of the Bank of Tucsons main office in an assumption of

liabilities and acquisition of assets transaction for an approximate gain of $4.4 million

Pending bank sales transactions are subject to regulatory approval and other contingencies If

completed the pending bank divestitures would result in Capitol receiving estimated proceeds

approximating $19.7 million and pre-tax gain on sale of approximately $67000

remainder of this page intentionally lefi blank

Bank of BelleviIle

Napa Community Bank1X3

Ohio Commerce Bankt2

Community Bank of Lincoln2

USNY Bank2

Adams Dairy Bank2

Bank of San Francisco

Fort Collins Commerce Bank0

Larimer Bank of CommerceW

Loveland Bank of CommerceW

Southern Arizona Community Bank
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Critical Accounting Policies Affecting Capitols Financial Statements

Note of the notes to the consolidated financial statements is captioned Significant Accounting

Policies That disclosure spans numerous pages all of which are deemed significant and are

required disclosures under generally accepted accounting principles GAAP For purposes of

this narrative current SEC guidance requires the selection of few of those for discussion as

critical accounting policies The selection of which few will differ from company to

company even within common industry such as within the business of banking Capitol

considers its critical accounting policies to include the following

Use of Estimates in Determining the Allowance for Loan Losses Bank regulatory agencies

accounting standard setters and the SEC have all issued extensive commentary guidance and

variety of rule-making releases on how financial institutions are to determine the amount of

their allowance for loan losses Determining the allowance is comprehensive process and

methodology which is inherently subjective in how and when to recognize estimate losses

incurred at the balance-sheet date and record loss allowance or reserve for loans It is not

process or methodology which can be merely reduced to strict absolute computation like

mathematical formula to compute taxes The process and methodology will differ from one

financial institution to another and there is no one size fits all format or approach to loss

reserving

The consolidated allowance for loan losses is based on the individual allowances for loan

losses of each bank and any allowance amount or related adjustments at the parent-company

level

Each bank utilizes common computational spreadsheet format and related internal guidance

through Capitols enterprise-wide credit policy to estimate potential loan losses at the balance-

sheet date to determine current requirements for the provision for loan losses and to document

the adequacy of the allowance The common format provides for the estimation of loan losses

inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance-sheet date for groups of loans which meet certain

risk-rating criteria past-due loans individual loans for which specific allowance allocation is

deemed necessary individual collateral-dependent loans for which estimated losses have not

been previously recorded as direct write-downs to such loans and for all other loans not

otherwise included in the allowance computation Loans are categorized for purposes of the

allowance computations primarily based on the type of collateral which secures such loans

Each bank develops historical loss factors based on loan volume loan quality trends staffing

levels and experience past loss experience and current economic conditions The banks then

augment these loss factors based on such banks actual prior loss experience utilizing migration

analyses which encompass the preceding four quarters For banks which do not have seasoned

loan portfolios those migration analyses are sometimes deemed insufficient to estimate

potential losses at the balance-sheet date and accordingly alternate loss factors are applied

using loss migration information of affiliates which are geographically situated near the subject

bank in those instances In addition to the loss migration factors used in each banks allowance

computation each bank documents local and regional in addition to consideration of national

statistics environmental considerations which include but are not limited to levels of
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unemployment and jobless claims and anecdotal data regarding real estate market conditions

in addition to consideration of loan concentrations and the levels of experience and expertise of

credit personnel at the banks These allowance computations and related documentation are

prepared quarterly Historical loss factors have been appropriately adjusted as result of

adverse economic conditions throughout all regions and the industry-wide increase in

nonperforming loans

In addition to the banks allowance computations adjustments at the parent level or allowance

amounts at the parent level are necessary from time to time For example at December 31

2010 the parent had an allowance for loan losses of $3.0 million $3.2 million as of December

31 2009 related to loans carried on the parents books which had previously been purchased

from Capitols bank subsidiaries

Management believes its process and methodology for determining the allowance for loan

losses is appropriate and adequate to properly estimate losses inherent in the loan portfolio at

the balance-sheet date however actual future losses will differ from amounts considered in the

allowance methodology

Bank regulatory agencies may have differing perspectives on the process methodology and

adequacy of the allowance for loan losses when examining the banks and in addition such

agencies examination teams may not be consistent in their review and conclusions from one

bank to another Bank regulatory agencies have the authority to require adjustments or other

changes to the recorded allowance for loan losses as result of their examinations superseding

managements earlier judgment as to the adequacy and amount of the allowance for loan losses

Bank regulatory agencies may require such changes or adjustments retroactively even when

such change in an accounting estimate should be accounted for prospectively in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles Those changes or adjustments may be required

to be made long after management completed its process for the evaluation and documentation

of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses based on information which was not available

to management at the time that process was completed

The process of determining the level of the allowance for loan losses at each individual bank

and on consolidated basis requires high degree of subjective judgment It is possible that

others given the same information may at any point in time reach different reasonable

conclusions At December 31 2010 Capitols allowance for loan losses approximated 5.52%

of portfolio loans outstanding Based on portfolio loans outstanding at that date any basis-

point .01% change in the allowance would have an approximate $267000 impact on both the

allowance for loan losses and pre-tax income loss

Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangibles At December 31 2010 Capitol had no

remaining goodwill and other intangibles $65.2 million at December 31 2009 as result of an

impairment charge on that date Goodwill arose from acquisitions occurring in prior years In

Capitols history most of this goodwill resulted from transactions in which Capitol issued shares

of its common stock at premium over the book value of the noncontrolling interest of

subsidiary banks shares Resulting goodwill was recorded at the entity to which the goodwill

related Current accounting rules require at least an annual review of goodwill for potential
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impairment which Capitol most recently conducted as of November 30 2010 Amounts

recorded as goodwill impairment are reflected within noninterest expense as non-cash charge

to operations when determined

As discussed earlier in this narrative all previously-recorded goodwill has been written-off as

of December 31 2010

Accounting for Income Taxes Accounting for income taxes requires significant estimates and

management judgment At December 31 2010 Capitol had net deferred income tax asset

approximating $192.2 million before consideration of the related 2010 valuation allowance

$109.9 million at December 31 2009 When it is determined that realization of the deferred

income tax asset is in doubt valuation reserve is required to reduce the deferred tax asset to

the amount which is more-likely-than-not realizable

As of December 31 2010 the consolidated deferred income tax asset excluding the related

valuation allowance consisted primarily of components relating to provisions for loan losses

and net operating losses of consolidated subsidiaries

Due to continuing operating losses management reassessed the potential realization of the

deferred tax asset during 2010 and increased the valuation allowance to $190.3 million to

reduce the net deferred income tax asset to approximately $1.8 million which represents the

amount of the asset estimated to be more-likely-than-not realizable Such valuation allowance

approximated $104.5 million at December 31 2009 The assessment of the potential

realization of the deferred tax asset will continue to be reviewed for future changes affecting

realizability and the valuation allowance may be adjusted in thture periods accordingly The

ultimate realization of these deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable

income during the periods in which temporary differences become deductible Changes in

existing tax laws could also affect actual tax results and the valuation of deferred tax assets

over time The accounting for deferred taxes is based in part on an estimate of thture results

Differences between anticipated and actual outcomes of these future tax consequences could

have material impact on Capitols consolidated results of operations or financial position

Consolidation Policy Current accounting rules require consolidation of entities which are

majority-owned or controlled by Capitol This means that majority-owned banks and bank-

development subsidiaries are combined with Capitol for financial reporting purposes along

with banks and other subsidiaries which are wholly-owned The consolidated balance sheet

includes all assets and liabilities of those entities However after giving effect to the

noncontrolling interests in net income or losses of consolidated subsidiaries net income loss
attributable to Capitol only includes the entities net income or loss to the extent of Capitols

ownership Reported results would be materially different if Capi1ol had 100% ownership of

those entities
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New Accounting Standards

There were several new accounting standards which were issued or became effective in 2010
in addition to some which have later effective dates Those are listed and discussed in Note

of the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-67

Risk Factors Affecting Capitol and its Banks

The summary below is not complete list of all risk factors identified by management and

readers are encouraged to review Capitols Form 10-K Item Capitols cautions regarding

forward-looking statements appearing on page F-6 of this Annual Report and other SEC

filings particularly registration statements for more comprehensive review of risk factors

which include the following among others

Some doubt potentially significant doubt exists as to Capitols ability to

continue as going concern

The regulatory environment for the banking industry could change significantly

and adversely and Capitol and its banking subsidiaries are dependent upon

continued cooperation by regulatory agencies

The adverse economic environment of 2010 may worsen further resulting in

higher levels of nonperforming loans and loan losses

The environment for raising capital has become unstable and may limit growth

plans and operations

Changes in regulations or regulatory action regarding Capitol or its banks could

limit future expansion plans and operations

The allowance for loan losses is based on estimates and actual losses and

regulatory determinations may differ materially from those estimates

Concentrations in loans secured by commercial real estate could limit or delay

future expansion plans and loss estimates could change significantly ifreal

estate market conditions deteriorate further

Loss estimates for real estate collateral-dependent loans are based on

independent appraisals which are subject to change

Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock are carried at cost and are

restricted security which may be redeemed only by the issuer the issuers future

ability to redeem the security is subject to its liquidity and capital adequacy

The complexity of Capitols structure mixture of partially-owned and wholly

owned banks and related entities complicates financialanalysis

In addition to the items listed above of course changes in interest rates can have pervasive

impact on Capitol and its banks

Capitol has risk management program in place which endeavors to manage these and other

risks

F-49



Managements Report on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Capitol Bancorp Ltd Capitol is responsible for the preparation integrity and fair presentation

of the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report The consolidated

financial statements and notes included in this annual
report

have been prepared in conformity

with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and necessarily

include some amounts that are based on managements best estimates and judgments

We as management of Capitol are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting that is designed to produce reliable financial statements

in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America

The system of internal control over financial reporting as it relates to the financial statements is

evaluated for effectiveness by management and tested for reliability through program of

internal audits Actions are taken to correct potential deficiencies as they are identified Any

system of internal control no matter how well designed has inherent limitations including the

possibility that control can be circumvented or overridden and misstatements due to error or

fraud may occur and not be detected Also because of changes in conditions internal control

effectiveness may vary over time Accordingly even an effective system of internal control will

provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation

Capitols Audit Committee consisting entirely of independent directors meets regularly with

management internal auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm and

reviews audit plans and results as well as managements actions taken in discharging

responsibilities for accounting financial reporting and internal control BDO USA LLP
independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors have direct and

confidential access to Capitols Audit Committee at all times to discuss the results of their

examinations

Management assessed Capitols system of internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 in relation to criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting

as described in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on this assessment

management concluded that as of December 31 2010 its system of internal control over

financial reporting was not effective due to material weakness in internal control which is

discussed in the remainder of this report

As discussed elsewhere in this annual report regulatory agencies may require Capitol or its

banking subsidiaries to increase their provision for loan losses or to recognize loan charge-offs

based upon judgments different from those of management Any increase in the allowance for

loan losses required by regulatory agencies could adversely impaØt Capitols operating results

and financial position
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The process of determining the level of the allowance for loan losses at each individual bank

and on consolidated basis requires high degree of subjective judgment is an estimate and is

critical accounting policy of Capitol It is possible that others given the same information

may at any point in time reach different reasonable conclusions Further regulatory agencies

examining financial institutions often utilize information available to them long after the

balance-sheet date in conjunction with their assessment of the allowance for loan losses

As previously disclosed Capitols unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of

and for the three months and nine months ended September 30 2010 were revised on March

2011 to reflect an additional provision for loan losses resulting from Michigan Commerce

Banks amended regulatory financial statements encompassing that period Whenever public

company revises its previously-issued financial statements the facts and circumstances of such

restatement must also be evaluated in the context of internal control over financial reporting

Generally restatement is viewed as strong indicator of material weakness in internal

control over financial reporting Subsequently Capitol has carefully reevaluated its internal

control over financial reporting as it relates to the process and methodology for estimating the

requirements for the bank-level as well as the consolidated allowance for loan losses as of

September 30 2010 and thereafter

We have determined that the restatement resulted in the identification of material weakness in

internal control at December 31 2010 and all aspects of that restatement will be remediated in

early 2011 Such remediation will consist of fully incorporating all regulatory-agency imposed

requirements in the computations and internal control process for estimation of allowance for

loan losses requirements both at the bank level and on consolidated basis

Capitol and its banking subsidiaries have extensive policies processes and procedures in place

to appropriately estimate requirements for the allowance for loan losses The consolidated

allowance for loan losses is believed by Capitol to be adequate and appropriate at December 31

2010

Joseph Reid

Chairman and CEO

Lansing Michigan

March 31 2011

Lee Hendrickson

Chief Financial Officer
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AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

CAPITOL BANCORP LIMITED
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BDO 616 774 7000 99 Monroe Avenue NW Suite 800

Fax 616 776 3680 Grand Rapids Michrgan 49503-2654

www.bdo.com

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders

Capitol Bancorp Ltd

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Capitol Bancorp Ltd and

subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of

operations changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2010 These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Corporations management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement The Corporation is not required to have nor were we engaged to perform an

audit of its internal control over financial reporting Our audits included consideration of

internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Corporations internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we

express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis

for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all

material respects the financial position
of Capitol Bancorp Ltd and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the

Corporation will continue as going concern As discussed in Note to the consolidated

financial statements the Corporation and substantially all of its subsidiary banks have suffered

significant losses from operations in 2010 2009 and 2008 primarily from large provisions for

loan losses and costs associated with nonperforming assets suffered decline in regulatory

capital and experienced regulatory issues that raise substantial doubt about the Corporations

ability to continue as going concern Managements plans in regard to these matters are also

described in Note The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments

that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty

2P
March3l2011

BOO us LLP Oaf amre Limited LiabiLity partnership is the Ifs niembe ci BOO International Limited OK company Limited by guarantee and forms part of the

international BOG nerwor of indr-peiideat member firms

BOO is he hr and narita for time BOO etqob and fir each of the BOO Memher Arias
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

-December 31-

2010 2009

in $1000s

ASSETS

Cash and due from barfics 58347 56231

Money market and interest-bearing deposits 506413 608727

Federal funds sold 418 4861

Cash and cash equivalents 565178 669819

Loans held for sale 7041 10966

Investment securitiesNote

Available for sale carried at fair value 24139 35765

Held for long-term investment carried at

amortized cost which appmximates fair value 2893 5790

Total investment securities 27032 41555

Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve

Bank stock carried on the basis of costNote 18167 18628

Portfolio loans less allowanre for loan losses of $147421 in

2010 and $129795 in 2009NoteD 2524291 3005503

Premises and equipmentNote 38393 42219

Accrued interest income 9246 12239

GoodwillNote -- 65210

Other real estate owned 107614 107013

Recoverable income taxesNote -- 43763

Other assets 20370 31922

Assets of discontinued operationsNote 222882 1083103

TOTAL ASSETS 3540214 5131940

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Deposits

Noninterest-bearing 516873 491763

Interest-bearingNote 2511811 3027063

Total deposits 3028684 3518826

Debt obligations

Notes payable and short-term borrowingsNote 123377 197653

Subordinated debenturesNotes and 167586 167441

Total debt obligations 290963 365094

Accrued interest on deposits and other liabilities 50420 42099

Liabilities of discontinued cçerationsNote 208828 972315

Total liabilities 3578895 4898334

EQUITYNotes and

Capitol Bancorp Limited stockholders equity

Preferred stock Series 700000 shares authorized

$100 liquidation preference per share 50980 shares

issued and outstanding in 2010 none in 2009 5098

Preferred stock for potential future issuance

19300000 shares authorized none issued and outstanding

Common stock ro par value 50000000 shares authorized

issued and outstanding 2010- 21614856 shares

2009- 17545631 shares 287190 277707

Retained-earnings deficit 353757 115751
Undistributed common stock held by employee-benefit trust 541 558
Fair value adjustment net of tax effect for investment securities

available for sale accumulated other comprehensive income/loss 156 63
Total Capitol Bancorp Limited stockholders equity deficit 61854 161335

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries 23173 72271

Total equity deficit 38681 233606

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3540214 5131940

See notes to consolidated finmcial statements
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Interest income

Portfolio loans including fees

Loans held for sale

Taxable investment securities

Federal funds sold

Noninterest expense

Total interest income

Total noninterest expense

Loss before income taxes benefit

Income taxes benefitNote

160645

266

553

10

2217

163691

47269

16313

63582

100109

156868

56759

3848

4200

1921

1479

1255

12095

24447

69920

15403

9957

40400

15732

64505

25894

241811

274123
7310

266813

6035

15784

9370

12449

254
29149

225215

11.16

194951 229144

618 617

488 404

43 2787

1685 1506

197785 234458

70363

20749

91112

106673

175234

68561

4694

4957

2846

1211

84729

15422

17713

44965

12973

3431

24727

203960

250070
13248

263318

2761

1187

5170

1222
264540

69371

93995

14718

10581

6709

3211

27186

156400

91085

33566
57519

8486

3418

5068

52451

23844

Consolidated Statements of Operations

-Year Ended December 31-

2010 2009 2008

in $1000s except per share data

Other

Interest expense

Deposits

Debt obligations and other

Total interest expense

Net interest income

Provision for loan lossesNote

Net interest income deficiency after

provision for loan losses

Noninterest income

Service charges on deposit accounts

Trust and wealth-management revenue

Fees from origination of non-portfolio residential

mortgage loans

Gain on sales of govemment-guaranteed loans

Gain on exchange of promissory notes for common

stock Note

Realized gains losses on sale of investment securities

available for sale

Other

Total noninterest income

Salaries and employee benefits

Occupancy

Equipment rent depreciation and maintenance

Costs associated with foreclosed properties and other

real estate owned

EDIC insurance premiums and other regulatory fees

Goodwill impairmentNote

Other

90550

25084

115634

118824

75791

43033

4707

6182

2775

1397

50

7171

22282

351
8736

22451

Loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operationsNote

Income from operations of bank subsidiaries sold

Gain on sale of bank subsidiaries

Less income tax expense Note

Income loss from discontinued operations

NET TOSS

Net losses attributable to noncontrolling interests in

consolidated subsidiaries

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CAPITOL

BANCORP LIMITED

NET LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO CAPITOL BANCORP LIMITEDNote

See notes to consolidated financial statements

195169 28607

11.28 1.67
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Eqaity in $1000s except share and per-share data

Balances atiaeuasy 12008

Investment os consolidated subsidiaries by nonconteolling

interests

Issuance of 108935 shares of common stock upon

exercise of stuck utoioes

Surreeder of 108163 shares of cnmmoo stock so focilrtote

exercise of stock options and vmong of resmcted stock

Issuance of 32290 onvmtnd shores of restricted common

stock net of related unnamed nmployee compensation

and 55722 forfeited shams

Recogssson of compeesatino expense melaong to resoictnd

common stock and studs options

Tax effect of shorn-hosed
paymnots

Tmosfer of 205 shores to ESOP and dsnibution of 370

shares to employees upon anmvnrsary of employment

Cash dividends patd $0.05 per share

Components of coesprohensivo loss

Net loss

Fair value adjosttnest for invnstmmt securities

available for sale not of income tan effect

Comprehnnsrvn lass

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31 2008

Investment consolidated sabsidinty by noncontmlling

subsidimins

Rodacoon in nnncontrnlling interests in consolidated

subsidiaries dun to deconsolidation

Issuance of 227357 shmns of common stock and 75719

warrants to parchesn shares of common stock In acquire

noncontsolling interest in consolidaled subsidiary

Surrender of 3934 shesnu of commnn stock Sn facilitate

vesting of restricted stock

Issuance of 37.000 anvesled shares of restricted common

stnck net of related aneamnd nmployes compensation

Revemal of compnnsason nstpcosn relating in 8700

forfeited restricted common stock and stock epsons

Rncognttion of compnnsanon expense relating to restricted

commnn stock and stods nptinns

Tan effect of shorn based
payments

Distribution of 315 shores to employees upon annivemony

of nmplnymnnt

Cash dividends paid $0.05 per shorn

Components of comprnheesive loss

Net loss

Fair valan odjostmmt for investmml secaritins

available for sale nel of income mu effect

Comprehensive loss

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31 2009

See nntcs to condensed mnsolidusnd financial ssasnmmts

1950

2376

1950

2376

2227

20

1950

2376

Cupitul Bancorp Limiled Stockholders Equity

Undisttiboted Accumsdotnd Total Capitol Nnnccotrnlling

Rntainnd- Common Stuck Dthnr Bancorp Limited Interests al

Common Eamings Neld by Emplnyen- Comprehensive Stnckholdnm Consolidated Tntal

Stnck Deficit BnnnBt Tmsl Income Loss Equity Snbsidianes Eqoisy

272201 117520 586 389145 156191 545343

26166 26866

11

1658 1.658 1.651

28607 28607 23144 52451

141 141 141

__________ __________ ______________ ____________
21466

____________
52310

274011 10255 569 144 353141 159220 513061

27 27 3793 3120

10129 18829

2542 2542 2542

2227

20

2227

20

23 23 23

151 151 151

1501 1501 1501

169 169 169

II II

864 164 164

195.169 195169 69371 264540

207 207

195376

207

264747

277707 115751 551 63 161335 72271 233606
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity in $1000 except share and per-share data Continued

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 20E9

Rodoction in n00000cOttmE intorcot of sold sobsidiorino

Rcduotioo is iovosOnoot of sobstdtorroo don to okooga

in ownonhrp

toscooco of 100111 shoooo of comoroo stock opon cooroinc

of stock options

toouooco of 50980 shams of Socino pnnfnnrd stook

to book dcoolopmcnt ottitioto to aoqooo soooootoottiog

rrcorno ic coosolidatod oobsidiooooNoto

tssosocc of 2555100 shams of 000mmoo stock to

motrEtiocol irvostooc Nob

Isoosccc of 1374000 shores of common stock for

rcdomptron of promissory ootcsNoto

Sorrondor of 0420 thorns of common stock to focilitatc

costing of rmtrictnd stock

toscancc of 224720 oocootod shams of onotrictcd common

stock not of octotod coosmod moptoyco ccmpccsotion

Rnvnraat of compnnsaticc ccpnooc rotating to 3107

fortckrd rcsoicrcd common shuns ocd stock options

Rocognition of ccmpccsmicc oxpococ rotating to

rnsts-rctcd common stock cod stock optiocs Noon

Tort offoct of sham-hasod poymnootc

Drosibcticc of 565 shams to omptcyoc opon onstvorsory

of cmptcyotcct

Ccmpocnrrts of comprchcrrcicc toss

Not toss

Foir cotuc ad1cstronnt for rncostronot sccccsrm

acoitohtc for solo nor of rsccmo tax cifoct

Ccmprchonsivn lost

BALANCES AT DECEMBER3t 20111

Son 00000 condmrocd ccrsotrdatnd Braccrat atatnmcnts

Capitol Boncotp Limitcd Stockholdors Eqmty

Uodisoibatod Accomotarod Total Capitol

Rotainod Commos Stock Dthcr Baccoop Limitod

Proforcod Common Esomogs Ftctd by Emptcycc- Comprohoasivo Ssachkotdnrs

Stock Stock Dntcrr Bcnofrt Toast tocomo Lots Eqaity

Nancono-ottiog

torcoosts ic

Ccosotrdstod

Sobcidiasins

Total

Eqcity

277707 t575t 558 63 161335 72271 233606

35672 35672

12791 12791 2791

20 20 25

5190 5098 2932 81131

6850 6050 6055

3.325 332 332

13 13

134 1345 134

956 956 956

293 293 293

t7 IS .-

2252 2202 29t49 24364

219 29

224996

29

254145

5098 287t90 353757 04 156 61854 23173 3868
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

-Year Ended December31-

2010 2009 2008

in $l000s

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net lost 254364 264540 52451
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided

by operating activities including discontioued operations

Provision for loan losses 164352 190680 82492

Depreciation of premises and equipment 7933 10084 10547

Amortization and write-down of tntangibles 2t9 838 510

Goodwill impairment 64505 3431 --

Net amortization accretion of investment security premiums discounts 298 33 32
Loss on sales of premises and equipment 393 254 165

Gain on sales of government-guaranteed loans 2504 2811 2060
Gain on sales of bank subsidiaries 15784 1187 --

Gain on exchange of promissory notes for common stock 1255 --

Realized lost gain on sales of investment securities available for sale 351 50
Loan gain on sales of other real estate owned 125 4400 1.191

Write-down of other real estate owned 30352 32315 10679

Amortization of issuance costs of subordinated debentures 145 148 117

Share-based compensation expense benefit 389 1350 2227

Deferred income tax expense credit 2123 43354 27577
Valuation allowsuce for deferred income tax assets -- 104498

Origiuasioss and purchases of loans held for sale 116829 311179 206544
Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale 119924 305080 212489

Decrease increase is accrued interest income and other assets 55742 30722 16809
Increase decrease is accrued interest expense on deposits and other liabilities 9337 15363 5223

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITtES 60178 14608 9671

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash equivalents of acquired bank affiliate 18949 -- --

Proceeds from sales of investment securities available for sale 25964 798 890

Proceeds from calls prepayments and maturities of investment

securities 22175 15596 11078

Purchases of investment securities 34678 56225 15364
Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bsnk stock 1527 2294 15569
Redemption of Federal HomeLoan Bank stock by issuer 2563 1340 9314

Net decrease increase in portfolio loans 208376 155438 562032
Proceeds from sales of government-guaranteed loans 27981 39429 23850

Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment 416 2033 1197

Purchases of premises and equipment 4038 5137 11127
Proceeds from sales of bask subsidiaries 76101 9506 --

Payments received on other real estate owned 2192 166

Proceeds from sales of other real estate owned 45145 17716 9288

NET CASH PROVIDED USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 389619 178206 548309

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase decrease in demand
deposits

NOW accounts and

savings accounts 333177 157850 91672
Net increase decrease in certificates of deposit 718579 12300 744539

Net borrowings from paymests on debt obligations 1372 1484 4603
Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 613230 3146430 1838858

Payments on Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 728417 3278820 1707714
Net proceeds from iseuasee of subordinated debentures -- -- 11046

Resources provided by noncostrolling interests -- 3794 26866

Net proceeds
from issuance of common stock 6870 -- 1950

Tax effect of share-based payments 293 169 20

Cash dividesds paid -- 864 8658

NET CASH PROVIDED USED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 495384 42005 810632

INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 45587 234819 271994

Change in cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations 59054 42980 146386
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ofyesr 669819 477980 352372

CASH ANDCASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF YEAR 565178 669819 477980

Supplemental disclosures

Cash paid during the year for interest 74288 114693 138506

Transfers of loans to other real estate owned 73156 102487 63458

Surrender of common stock to facilitate exercise of stock options

and vesting of reslneted stock 13 23 2376

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE ANA TURE OFOPERATIONS BASIS OF PRESENTA TION AND
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Capitol Bancorp Limited Capitol or the Corporation is multibank holding company
Consolidated bank subsidiaries consist of the following as of December 31 2010

Percentage

Owned by

Percentage Subsidiaries

Owned by Controlled by Year Formed

Affiliate Location Capitol Capitol or Acquired

Arizona Region

Bank of Tucson Tucson Arizona 100% 1996

Central Arizona Bank Casa Grande Arizona 86% 10% 1997

Sunrise Bank of

Albuquerque Albuquerque New Mexico 100% 2000

Sunrise Bank of Arizona Phoenix Arizona 99% 1% 1998

California Region

Bank of Feather River Yuba City California 51% 2007

Sunrise Bank5 San Diego California 80% 5% 2007

Colorado Region

Mountain View Bank of

Commerce Westminster Colorado 51% 2008

Great Lakes Region

Bank of Maumee Maumee Ohio 51% 2006

Bank of Michigan Farmington Hills Michigan 51% 2005

Capitol National Bank Lansing Michigan 100% 1982

Evansville Commerce Bank Evansville Indiana 2% 50% 2006

Indiana Community Bank4 Goshen Indiana 100% 2000

Michigan Commerce Ban V3 Ann Arbor Michigan 55% 45% 1990

Nevada Region

1st Commerce Bank North Las Vegas Nevada 51% 2006

Bank of Las Vegas7 Las Vegas Nevada 91% 9% 2002

Northwest Region

Bank of the Northwest6 Tacoma Washington 15% 36% 2007

High Desert Bank Bend Oregon 55% 2007

Southeast Region

Community Bank of Rowan Salisbury North Carolina 51% 2006

First Carolina State Bank Rocky Mount North Carolina 89% 2004

Pisgah Community Bank Asheville North Carolina 79% 15% 2008

Sunrise Bank Atlanta Georgia 65% 20% 2006

Texas Region

Bank of Fort Bend Sugar Land Texas 51% 2007

Bank of Las Colinas Irving Texas 51% 2007
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Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE ANA TURE OF OPERATIONS BASIS OF PRESENTA TIONAND
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATIONContinued

Notes to the preceding table

Majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary second-tier bank holding company in which Capitol holds controlling

interest

Effective July 30 2010 Peoples state Bank and sunrise Bank of Atlanta merged with and into Bank of Valdosta Upon

completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the merger each bank was either majority-

owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective March 31 2010 Bank of Auburn Hills and Paragon Bank Trust merged with and into Michigan Commerce Bank

Prior to the merger Bank of Aubum Hills and Paragon Bank Trust were wholly-owned subsidiaries of Capitol

Effective March 22 2010 Elkhart Community Bank merged with and into Joshen Community Bank Upon completion of the

merger the surviving bank was renamed Indiana Community Bank Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned

subsidiary of Capitol

Effective March 52010 Bank of Escondido Sunrise Bank of San Diego and Sunrise Community Bank merged with and into

Point Loma Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Sunrise Bank Prior to the

merger each bank was either wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in

which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective February 19 2010 Bank of Bellevue Bank of Everett and Bank of Tacoma merged with and into Issaquah

Community Bank Upon completion of the merger the surviving bank was renamed Bank of the Northwest Prior to the

merger each bank was either majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol or majority-owned by bank-development subsidiary in

which Capitol holds controlling interest

Effective January 29 2010 Black Mountain Community Bank Desert Community Bank and Red Rock Community Bank

merged with and into Bank of Las Vegas Prior to the merger each bank was wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol

Capitol has several bank-development subsidiaries each originally capitalized with two

classes of common stock voting and nonvoting Capitol purchased all of the initial voting

shares of common stock of these entities while the nonvoting shares were sold in private

offerings to accredited investors some of whom are related parties of Capitol Those entities

have been engaged in bank development activities through Capitol consisting of formation

and investment in
start-up

banks and management of their investments in young banks Bank

start-up
activities were suspended in mid-2008 when the regulatory and capital-raising

environment for new banks became unfavorable Each of these entities bear similar name

Capitol Development Bancorp Limited each CDBL numbered in their sequential

formation CDBL-I through CDBL-VITI CDBL-I and CDBL-IJ became wholly-owned by

Capitol effective November 30 2006 and February 2007 respectively and were merged

with and into Capitol in late 2007 CDBL III ceased to be controlled subsidiary of Capitol

in 2009

Capitol views itself as community-banking company Bank development consists of

management and oversight of banks in which Capitol has direct or indirect controlling

interest and through mid-2008 included formation of start-up banks Some of Capitols banks

were formed with portion of their start-up capital provided by lobal investors in the

communities of those banks When de novo banks have achieved certain developmental

milestones age cumulative profitability return on equity or other measures Capitol may
offer the banks noncontrolling shareholders an opportunity to exchange their bank shares for

shares of Capitols common stock Capitol has made similar share-exchange proposals

regarding the noncontrolling interests of some of its prior bank-development company
subsidiaries which after the share exchange were merged with and into Capitol In each
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NOTE ANA TURE OF OPERATIONS BASIS OF PRESENTA TION AND
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATIONContinued

instance however Capitol is under no obligation to offer such proposals and such share-

exchange proposals if and when offered are generally subject to approval by the subsidiaries

noncontrolling shareholders in each proposed transaction In mid-2009 due to depressed

market environment for securities of financial institutions Capitol suspended share-exchange

activities Further as means to raise and reallocate capital Capitol commenced an initiative

in 2009 to selectively divest some of its community banks see Note

Capitol and its subsidiaries are engaged in single business activity--banking Capitols bank

affiliates provide full range of banking services to individuals businesses and other

customers located in the respective communities of the bank Many operate from single

location and all are primarily commercially-focused as contrasted to retail or transaction-

oriented banks on meeting the various credit and other financial needs of entrepreneurs

professionals and other businesses and individuals variety of deposit products are offered

including checking savings money market certificates of deposit and individual retirement

accounts In addition wealth-management trust and investment services are offered through

wealth management subsidiary The principal markets for the banks financial services are the

communities in which the banks are located and the areas immediately surrounding those

communities The majority of Capitols banks are state-chartered institutions and some have

been chartered as federal savings banks and one has national bank charter

In addition to banking units mortgage banking activities are offered through Amera Mortgage

Corporation less than 50%-owned affiliate which is accounted for under the equity method

Trust and wealth-management products are offered through Capitol Wealth Inc controlled

subsidiary

Each bank is viewed by management as being separately identifiable business or segment

from the perspective of monitoring performance and allocation of financial resources

Although the banks operate and are managed and monitored separately each bank is

substantially similar in terms of business focus type of customers products services and

economic characteristics Further each of the banks and the Corporation are subject to

substantially similar laws and regulations unique to the financial institution industry

Accordingly the Corporations consolidated financial statements reflect the presentation of

segment information on an aggregated basis

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its

majority-owned and/or otherwise controlled subsidiaries after elimination of intercompany

accounts and transactions and after giving effect to applicable noncontrolling interests

Banks formed or acquired are included in the consolidated financial statements for periods

after joining the consolidated group
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE BSIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reclassflcations Certain 2009 and 2008 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the

2010 presentation primarily related to discontinued operations see Note

Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally

accepted accounting principles in the United States of America requires management to make

significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities

at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting period Actual results will differ from those estimates because

of the inherent subjectivity and inaccuracy of any estimation

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand amounts due

from banks interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing money-market funds and federal funds

sold Generally federal funds transactions are entered into for one-day period

Loans Held For Sale Loans held for sale represent residential real estate mortgage loans

held for sale into the secondary market Loans held for sale are stated at the aggregate lower

of cost or market Fees from the origination of loans held for sale are recognized in the

period the loans are originated Government-guaranteed loans which may be sold after

origination are not classified as held-for-sale inasmuch as sale of such loans is largely

dependent upon the extent to which gains may be realized

Investment Securities Investment securities available for sale generally most debt

investment securities of Capitols banks are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and

losses reported as separate component of stockholders equity net of tax effect

accumulated other comprehensive income All other investment securities are classified as

held for long-term investment and are carried at amortized cost which approximates fair

value see Note

Investments are classified at the date of purchase based on managements analysis of liquidity

and other factors The adjusted cost of the specific securities sold is used to compute realized

gains or losses Premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest

method over the period to maturity

Loans Credit Risk and Allowance for Loan Losses Portfolio loans are carried at their

principal balance based on managements intent and ability to hold such loans for the

foreseeable future until maturity or repayment Capitol primarily presents its portfolio loan

information on segment basis that is further subdivided into classes on the basis of

collateral types
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NOTE BSIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESContinued

Credit risk arises from making loans and loan commitments in the ordinary course of

business Substantially all portfolio loans are made to borrowers in the banks communities

Consistent with the banks emphasis on business lending there are concentrations of credit

risk in loans secured by commercial real estate and less significant levels of concentration

risk may exist in loans secured by equipment and other business assets The maximum

potential credit risk to Capitol without regard to underlying collateral and guarantees is the

total of loans and loan commitments outstanding Management reduces exposure to losses

from credit risk by requiring collateral and/or guarantees for loans and by monitoring

concentrations of credit in addition to recording provisions for loan losses and maintaining

an allowance for loan losses

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at level believed adequate by management to

absorb estimated losses inherent in the portfolio at the balance-sheet date Managements

determination of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses is an estimate based on

evaluation of the portfolio including potential impairment of individual loans and

concentrations of credit past loss experience current economic conditions volume amount

and composition of the loan portfolio loan commitments outstanding and other factors The

allowance is increased by provisions for loan losses charged to operations and reduced by net

charge-offs Delinquent loans are charged-off at 120 days past due for closed-end loans and

180 days past due for revolving lines of credit or at an earlier time if loss-confirming event

has occurred unless the loan is both well-secured and in process of collection Because the

allowance for loan losses is based on significant estimates actual future loan losses will

differ from such estimates

The allowance for loan losses consists of specific and general components The specific

component relates to loans that are individually classified as impaired and loans which are

considered to be troubled debt restructurings The general component covers non-classified

loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for current qualitative environmental

factors The Corporation maintains loss history analysis that tracks loan losses and

recoveries based on loan class as well as the loan risk grade assignment

For all classes of loans loan is placed into nonaccrual status generally before the loan

becomes 90 days past due if it becomes probable that the borrower cannot make all

scheduled payments frill repayment of principal and interest is not expected or the loan is

identified as having loss elements or when any loan becomes past due 90 days or more

Loans are returned to accrual status when all of the principal and Interest amounts

contractually due have been brought current have demonstrated timely payment performance

for period of time and future payments are reasonably assured
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For all classes of loans loan is considered impaired when it is probable that all amounts

due according to the contractual terms of loan agreement will not be collected including

contractually scheduled interest and principal payments All impaired loans greater than

$500000 or $250000 based on aggregate relationship are individually evaluated for

impairment for banking subsidiaries with total assets of $200 million or more or less than

$200 million respectively If an individual loan is considered impaired specific allowance

allocation may be recorded generally followed by subsequent charge-down in the amount

of the impairment is recorded to reduce the loan to its net realizable value If an individual

loan is not considered individually impaired the loan is included in the specific or general

reserve allocation process for like-graded credits unless such loan has had an impairment

analysis performed and no impairment amount exists in which case no general reserve

allocation is considered necessary Groups of smaller-balance homogeneous loans are

collectively evaluated for impairment and accordingly these loans are not generally

separately identified for impairment evaluation

Loans are accounted for as troubled debt restructurings if for economic or legal reasons

related to the borrowers financial condition banks grant concession to the borrower that

they would not otherwise consider troubled debt restructuring may involve modification

of terms such as reduction of the stated interest rate or loan balance reduction of accrued

interest an extension of the maturity date at an interest rate lower than current market rate

for new loan with similar risk or some combination thereof involving concession to the

borrower to facilitate repayment Troubled debt restructurings generally remain classified as

impaired until the borrower has demonstrated timely payment performance for period of

time pursuant to the modified terms of the loan

Capitols banks have stand-by letters of credit outstanding that when issued commit the

banks to make payments on behalf of customers if certain specified future events occur

generally being nonpayment by the customer to counterparty These obligations generally

expire within one year and require collateral and/or personal guarantees by the borrower and

its principals based on managements assessment of loss exposure The maximum credit risk

associated with these instruments equals their contractual amounts assuming that the

borrower defaults and related collateral proves to be worthless The total contractual

amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements since many of those

guarantees expire without being drawn upon Capitol records liability generally equal to

the fees received for these stand-by letters of credit

Credit risk also arises from amounts of funds on deposit at other financial institutions i.e
due from banks to the extent balances exceed the limits of deposit insurance Capitol

monitors the financial position of such financial institutions to evaluate credit risk

periodically
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Interest and Fees on Loans Interest income on loans is recognized based upon the principal

balance of loans outstanding Loan origination fees and direct loan origination costs are

deferred and amortized over the life of the related loans as an adjustment of yield Direct

costs of successful origination of portfolio loans generally exceed fees from loan originations

net deferred costs approximated $5.1 million and $8.6 million at December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively

For all classes of loans the accrual of interest is generally discontinued when loan becomes

90 days past due as to interest i.e placed on nonaccrual status When interest accruals are

discontinued interest previously accrued but unpaid is reversed against interest income

Interest payments subsequently received on such loans may be accounted for on cash basis

as to interest income provided that collectability of principal is expected and until the loan

qualifies for being returned to accrual status If collectability of principal is not expected

subsequent payments of interest are applied to principal Management may elect to continue

the accrual of interest when the estimated net realizable value of collateral is sufficient to

cover the principal balance and accrued interest and the loan is in the process of collection

Transfers of Financial Assets Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when

control over the transferred asset has been surrendered Control over transferred assets is

deemed to be surrendered when the assets have been isolated from the bank and are

presumptively beyond the reach of the transferor and its creditors even in bankruptcy or other

receivership the transferee obtains the right free of conditions that constrain it from taSking

advantage of that right to pledge or exchange the transferred assets and the bank does not

maintain effective control over the transferred asset through an agreement to repurchase it

before maturity or the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets Transfers

of financial assets are generally limited to participating interests in commercial loans sold as

well as sale of government-guaranteed loans and the sale of residential mortgage loans into the

secondary market the extent of which is disclosed in the consolidated statements of cash flows

Premises and Equipment Premises and equipment are stated on the basis of cost

Depreciation which relates primarily to equipment furniture and software with estimated

useful lives of approximately three to seven years is computed principally by the straight-

line method Buildings are generally depreciated on straight-line basis with estimated

useful lives of approximately 40 years Leasehold improvements are generally depreciated

over the shorter of the respective lease term or estimated useful life

Other Real Estate Other real estate is comprised of properties acquired through

foreclosure proceeding or acceptance of deed in lieu of foreclosure At the time of

foreclosure the carrying value of such properties is adjusted to estimated fair value less

estimated costs to sell when transferred from portfolio loans to other real estate owned

establishing new cost-basis These properties held for sale are subsequently carried at the
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lower of the new cost-basis or estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell and are

periodically reviewed for subsequent impairment

Fair Values ofFinancial Instruments Fair values of financial instruments are estimated

using market information and other assumptions and involve uncertainties and matters of

significant judgment regarding interest rates credit risk prepayments assumptions and other

factors especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items Changes in

assumptions or market conditions could significantly affect such estimates

Share-Based Compensation Stock options state specific exercise price and expiration date

and may be exercised by the optionee upon payment of the exercise price and related taxes

due from the optionee the Corporation in its discretion may permit cashless exercises of

stock options Generally previously unissued shares of common stock are issued upon
exercise of stock options Compensation expense for stock option awards is recognized

ratably over the vesting period of the award based on the fair value of the option computed

using Black-Scholes valuation model Compensation expense for awards of restricted

common stock is recognized ratably over the vesting periods of such awards generally

ranging from four to fifleen years based on the fair value of the common stock on the date

of grant Stock price volatility used in Black-Scholes valuation model for stock options is

based on historical volatility The risk-free interest rate was based on the yield of U.S

government securities with maturity date consistent with the expected option life The

expected option life was estimated based on past exercise behavior of optionees and the

related option term

Trust Assets and Related Income Customer property other than funds on deposit held in

fiduciary or agency capacity by Capitols banks is not included in the consolidated balance

sheet because it is not an asset of the banks or Capitol Trust and wealth-management

revenue are recorded on the accrual method

Federal Income Taxes Capitol and its subsidiaries which are owned 80% or more file

consolidated federal income tax return Deferred federal income taxes are recognized for the

tax consequences of temporary differences by applying enacted tax rates applicable to future

years to differences between the financial statement canying amounts and the tax bases of

existing assets and liabilities When it is determined that realization of deferred tax assets

may be in doubt valuation allowance is recorded to reduce those assets to the amount

which is more-likely-than not realizable The effect on income taxes of change in tax laws

or rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date
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Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Capitol Basic net loss per share attributable to Capitol is

computed by dividing net loss attributable to Capitol by the weighted-average number of

common shares outstanding exclusive of unvested restricted shares outstanding Diluted net

loss per share attributable to Capitol is based on the weighted-average number of common

shares outstanding plus common share equivalents calculated for stock options warrants and

restricted common stock outstanding using the treasury stock method Common stock

equivalents are excluded from per-share computations to the extent they are antidilutive

Comprehensive Loss Comprehensive loss is the sum of net loss and items which are

charged or credited to stockholders equity which for Capitol is the net change in the fair

value adjustment for investment securities available for sale Accordingly the elements and

total of comprehensive loss are shown within the statement of changes in stockholders

equity

New Accounting Standards In December 2007 new accounting standard was issued to

create accounting and reporting requirements for noncontrolling interests in subsidiary

when it is not wholly-owned and for the deconsolidation of subsidiary and became

effective January 2009 In January 2010 an accounting standards update was issued

clarifying the types of transactions that should be accounted for as decrease in ownership of

subsidiary which became effective for the Corporation on January 2010 with

retrospective application to January 2009 and did not materially affect the Corporations

financial position or results of operations upon implementation

new standard became effective January 2009 clarifying the accounting for transfers of

financial assets and repurchase financing transactions Subsequently further guidance revised

requirements for the presentation and disclosure of transfers of financial assets and the effects

of transfer on an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows along with

placing limitations on portions of financial assets that are eligible for accounting recognition

as sale This guidance applies to transfers of financial assets occurring on or after January

2010 and did not materially affect the Corporations financial position or results of operations

upon implementation

In December 2009 an accounting standards update was issued to improve financial reporting

by entities involved with variable interest entities This update replaces the quantitative-

based risks and rewards calculation for determining which reporting entity if any has

controlling financial interest in variable interest entity with an aproach focused on

identifying which reporting entity has the power to direct the activities of variable interest

entity that most significantly impact the entitys economic performance and the obligation

to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity and it

requires additional disclosures about reporting entitys involvement in variable interest

entities That guidance became effective for the Corporation on January 2010 and did not
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have material effect on the Corporations consolidated financial statements upon

implementation

In January 2010 an accounting standards update regarding fair value measurements and

disclosures was issued to require more robust disclosures about different classes of assets

and liabilities measured at fair value valuation techniques and inputs used the

activity in Level fair-value measurements and the transfers between Levels and

of fair-value estimates The new disclosures became effective for the Corporation beginning

January 2010 except for the disclosures about purchases sales issuances and settlements

in the roll forward of activity in Level fair-value measurements which became effective

beginning January 2011 The required disclosures for 2010 are set forth in Note

Management does not expect the deferred disclosure requirements will have material effect

on the Corporations consolidated financial statements upon implementation in 2011

In April 2010 an accounting standards update was issued clarifying that modifications of

acquired loans accounted for within pool that have evidence of credit deterioration upon

acquisition do not result in the removal of those loans from the pool even if the modification

would otherwise be considered troubled debt restructuring An entity will continue to be

required to consider whether the pool of assets in which the loan is included is impaired if

expected cash flows for the pool change Loans not accounted for within pools continue to

be subject to the troubled debt restructuring accounting provisions This new guidance is

effective for modifications of loans accounted for within pools occurring after July 2010

and did not have any effect on the Corporations consolidated financial statements upon

implementation because the Corporation has not acquired any pools of loans which are

currently subject to such guidance

In July 2010 an accounting standards update was issued which requires significant new

disclosures on disaggregated basis about the allowance for loan losses and the credit quality

of loans Under this standards update rollforward of the allowance for loan losses with the

ending balance fbrther disaggregated on the basis of the impairment methods used to

establish loss estimates along with the related ending loan balances and significant purchases

and sales of loans during the period are to be disclosed by portfolio segment or classification

used for reporting purposes Additional disclosures are required by class of loan including

credit quality aging of past-due loans nonaccrual status and impairment information

Disclosure of the nature and extent of troubled debt restructurings that occur during the

period and their effect on the allowance for loan losses as well asthe effect on the allowance

regarding troubled debt restructurings that occur within the prior 12 months that defaulted

during the current reporting period will also be required The disclosures are to be presented

at the level of disaggregation that management uses when assessing and monitoring the loan

portfolios risk and performance
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The majority of the disclosures under this new guidance which are required as of the end of

reporting period are effective for interim and annual periods ending after December 15

2010 and are set forth in Note The disclosures about activity that occurs during

reporting period are effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after

December 15 2010 and will be first disclosed in the Corporations financial statements for

the interim period ending March 31 2011 The
part

of this new guidance which was

implemented in 2010 did not have an effect on the Corporations consolidated financial

statements upon implementation except for expanded disclosures therein and management

does not expect the implementation of the remaining disclosure requirements will have an

effect on the Corporations consolidated financial statements upon implementation in 2011

Furthermore in January 2011 an accounting standards update was issued which temporarily

delays the effective date of the disclosures about troubled debt restructurings until ftwther

guidance is issued defining what constitutes troubled debt restructuring

variety of proposed or otherwise potential accounting standards are currently under study

by standard-setting organizations and various regulatory agencies Because of the tentative

and preliminary nature of these proposed standards management has not determined whether

implementation of such proposed standards would be material to the Corporations

consolidated financial statements

remainder of this page intentionally left blank
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Investments in Federal Reserve Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank stock are combined and

classified separately from investment securities in the consolidated balance sheets and are

restricted and may only be resold to or redeemed by the issuer

Investment securities consisted of the following at December31 in $1000s

2010
____________________________

Estimated Estimated

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

Cost Value Cost Value

Available for sale securities

United States treasuiy 503 506 1500 1500

United States government agencies 18664 18688 8946 8928

Mortgage-backed 4365 4567 24690 24598

Municipalities 371 378 727 739

23903 24139 35863 35765

Held for long-term investment

CDBL III 463 463 672 672

Corporate 2430 2430 5118 5118

2893 2893 5790 5.790

26.796 27.032 41.653 41.555

Excludes investment securities related to discontinued operations with an amortized cost and estimated

fair value of approximately $5.1 million

At December 31 2010 securities with fair value approximating $17 million were pledged

to secure public and trust deposits and for other purposes as required by law

Securities held for long-term investment are not subject to the classification and accounting

rules relating to most typical investments In addition Capitols corporate investments

consist mostly of equity-method investments in non-public enterprises which accordingly

are outside of the scope of accounting rules for most typical investments which often require

use of estimated fair value Those entities which are primarily involved in making equity

investments in or financing small businesses use the fair value method of accounting in

valuing their investment portfolios Notwithstanding that those investments are outside of

the scope of such accounting rules they are included in Capitols investment securities for

financial reporting purposes to summarize all such securities together for reporting purposes
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Gross unrealized gains and losses on investment securities available for sale were as follows

at December31 in $1000s

2010
___________________________

Gains Losses Gains Losses

United States treasury

United States government agencies 25 22

Mortgage-backed 202 122 214

Municipalities _________ 12

237 138 236

Excludes gross unrealized gains related to discontinued operations of approximately $3000

The age of gross unrealized losses and carrying value at estimated fair value of securities

available for sale are summarized below in $1000s

2010 2009

Unrealized Carrying Unrealized Carrying

Loss Value Loss Value

One year or less

United States government agencies 4794 22 8229

Mortgage-backed _________ _________ 214 19879

4.794 236 28108

Management does not believe any individual unrealized loss as of December 31 2010

represents an other-than-temporary loss primarily due to such amounts being attributable to

changes in interest rates Further it does not intend to sell such securities and believes it is

unlikely sale would become required before the amortized cost can be recovered

Gross realized gains and losses from sales and maturities of investment securities were

insignificant for each of the periods presented

Scheduled maturities of investment securities held as of December 31 2010 were as follows

in $1000s

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less 1599 1603

After one year through five years 13182 13216

After five years through ten years 728 754

After ten years 8394 8566

Securities held for long-term investment

without stated maturities 2893 2.893

26.796 27.032
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NOTE DLOANS

Portfolio loans consisted of the following at December31 in $1000s

2010 2009

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 1411551 1560866

Residential including multi-family 570252 623368

Construction land development and other

land 257751 383071

Total loans secured by real estate 2239554 2567305
Commercial and other business-purpose loans 390183 511102

Consumer 26824 32599

Other 15.151 24.292

Total portfolio loans 2671712 3135298
Less allowance for loan losses 147.421 129795

Net portfolio loans 2.524.291 3.005.503

Loans serviced for the benefit of others which are not recorded on the consolidated balance

sheet approximated $105 million and $93 million at December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively Loan servicing assets are not material

Activity within the allowance for loan losses is summarized below in $1000s

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year 129795 77328 47457

Allowance for loan losses of acquired

bank affiliate 1769

Provision for loan losses charged to operations 156868 175234 75791

Net charge offs

Loans charged-off deduction 156051 125698 48469
Recoveries 15040 2.93 2.549

Net charge-offs 141.011 122767 I45920

Balance at end of year 147.421 129.795 77.328

remainder of this page intentionally left blankj
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The following table presents the allowance for loan losses and the carrying amount of loans

based on managements overall impairment evaluation methodology as of December 31 2010

in $1000s and should not be interpreted as an indication of future charge-offs

secured by Real Eatate

Construction Commercial

Residential Land and Other

including Development Busineas

multi- and Other Purpose

Commercial family Land Loana Conaumer Other Total

Allowance for loan loaaea

Individually evaluated

for impairment 10107 5828 6914 6108 28957

Collectively evaluated

for impairment 44.850 33898 15047 23.559 935 175 118464

Total allowance for

loan losses 54.957 39.726 21.961 29.667 935 175 147.421

Portfolio loans

Individually evaluated

for impairment 180012 59935 66804 26914 22 333687

Collectively
evaluated

for impairment 1231.539 510.317 190.947 363.269 26.802 15.151 2.338.025

Total portfolio loans 411 551 L..i22 L22ThI 26824 2671 712

The amounts of the allowance for loan losses allocated in the following table are based on

managements estimate of losses inherent in the portfolio at December 31 2009 in $1000s

Percentage

of Total

Portfolio

Amount Loans

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 51591 1.65%

Residential including multi-family 25934 0.83

Construction land development and other land 19825 0.63

Total loans secured by real estate 97350 3.11

Commercial and other business-purpose loans 31132 0.99

Consumer 1249 0.04

Other 64

Total allowance for loan losses 129795 4.14%
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Nonperforming loans i.e loans which are 90 days or more past due and loans on nonaccrual

status at December 31 are summarized as follows in $1 000s

2010 2009

Nonaccrual loans

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 154504 126829

Residential including multi-family 60840 54710

Construction land development and other land 62177 77247

Total loans secured by real estate 277521 258786

Commercial and other business-purpose loans 30746 22884

Consumer 211 331

Total nonaccrual loans 308478 282001

Past due 90 days loans and accruing interest

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 2875 6234

Residential including multi-family 1784 228

Construction land development and other land 2380 3713

Total loans secured by real estate 7039 10175

Commercial and other business-purpose loans 2073 1546

Consumer 279 534

Total past due loans 9391 12255

Total nonperforming loans 317.869 294.256

If nonperforming loans had performed in accordance with their contractual terms during the

year estimated additional interest income of$l8.7 million $17.7 million and $10.8 million

would have been recorded in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Estimated interest income

recognized on loans in nonaccrual status in 2010 2009 and 2008 operations approximated

$419000 $1.1 million and $479000 respectively

At December 31 2010 and 2009 there were approximately $124 million and $32 million

respectively of loans for which the terms were modified as concession to borrowers

experiencing financial difficulties and which the banks would not otherwise have made

which are troubled debt restructurings and are included within impaired loans

Impaired loans which do not have an allowance requirement include collateral-dependent

loans for which direct write-downs have been made and accordingly no allowance

requirement or allocation is necessary During 2010 2009 and 2008 the average recorded

investment in impaired loans approximated $360.7 million $231.0 million and $89.9 million

respectively Interest income is recorded on impaired loans if not on nonaccrual status or

may be recorded on cash basis in some circumstances if such payments are not credited to
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principal In 2010 2009 and 2008 interest income recorded on impaired loans approximated

$4.3 million $1.0 million and $424000 respectively

Impaired loans some of which are included in nonperforming loans are summarized below

in $l000s

December 31

2010 2009

Impaired loans

Loans which have an allowance requirement 171530 111902

Loans which do not have an allowance

requirement 196106 210416

Total impaired loans 367.636 322.318

Allowance for loan losses related to impaired loans 41.864 19469

Impaired loans are further summarized in the following table in $1000s based on loans

which either have an allowance for loan losses recorded or no such allowance as of

December 31 2010

Related

Unpaid Allowance

Carrying Principal for Loan

Value Balance Losses

With an allowance recorded

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 82391 131943 12983

Residential including multi-family 39743 47718 10999

Construction land development and other land 27150 51117 8554

Total loans secured by real estate 149284 230778 32536

Commercial and other business-purpose loans 22012 35393 9189

Consumer 234 260 139

171530 266431 41864

With no related allowance recorded

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 107815 173302

Residential including multi-family 31406 53847

Construction land development and other land 42.691 69250

Total loans secured by real estate 181912 296399

Commercial and other business-purpose loans 14176 23209

Consumer 18 42

196.106 319650

Total 367.636 586.081 41.864
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The following table summarizes the aging and amounts of
past

due loans as of December 31

2010 in $1000s

Past Due Loans Total

based on payment due dates Amount of

Loans on Loans More Loans Either

More Than Nonacemal Than 29 Days Current or

29 Days More Than 5tatus Past Due or on Less Than Total

and Less Than 89 Days Generally 90 Nonaccmal 30 Days Portfolio

90 Days Accruing Days or More 5tatus Past Due Loans

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 30380 2875 154504 187759 1223792 1411551

Residential including multi

family 12739 1784 60840 75363 494889 570252

Constmction land development

and other land 6.467 2.380 62177 71.024 186.727 257751

Total loans secured by real

estate 49586 7039 277521 334146 1905408 2239554

Commercial and other business-

purpose loans 9698 2073 30746 42517 347666 390183

Consumer 560 279 211 1050 25774 26824

Other 15151 15151

Total 59844 9391 377713 2293999 2.671 712

Capitol categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability

of borrowers to service their debt obligations based on current financial information aging

analysis historical payment experience credit documentation and public information among
other factors Capitol analyzes loans individually by classif5ing the loans as to credit risk

This analysis generally includes all loans and is generally performed at least quarterly

Capitol uses the following definitions for its adversely-classified risk ratings

Watch Loans classified as watch have potential weakness that deserves managements

close attention if not improved those potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the

repayment prospects for the loan in the future

Substandard Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the borrowers

current net worth paying capacity of the borrower or the fair value of collateral Loans so

classified have well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the

debt obligation by the borrower These are characterized by the reasonable possibility that

some loss will be sustained if the deficiencies are not favorably resolved

remainder of this page intentionally left blank
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Loans not meeting the preceding criteria that are analyzed individually as part of

managements classification categories described on the preceding page are considered to be

loans which are not adversely classified As of December 31 2010 and based on

managements most recent analysis the risk categories of loans are summarized as follows

in $1000s

Loans

Not Total

Adversely Adversely Classified Loans Portfolio

Classified Watch Substandard Loans

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 1024312 119569 267670 1411551

Residential including multi-family 422071 45966 102215 570252

Construction land development

and other land 132119 38134 87498 257751

Total loans secured by real estate 1578502 203669 457383 2239554
Commercial and other business-

purpose loans 291284 33804 65095 390183

Consumer 25002 1028 794 26824

Other 13583 1568 __________ 15151

Total 1.908.371 240.069 523.272 2.671.712

NOTE ERELA TED PAR TV TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business Capitols banking subsidiaries make loans to officers and

directors of the Corporation and its subsidiaries including their immediate families and

companies in which they are principal owners At December 31 2010 and 2009 total loans

outstanding to these persons were $74.4 million and $109.7 million respectively During

2010 $26.4 million of new loans were made to these persons and repayments and other

reductions including bank divestitures totaled $61.7 million Such loans were made at the

banking subsidiaries normal credit terms

Officers and directors of Capitol and their associates family and/or affiliates are also

depositors of the banking subsidiaries Such deposits which approximated $54.5 million and

$113 million at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively are accepted based upon the

banks normal terms as to interest rate term and deposit insurance

During 2009 certain subsidiaries ceased to be controlled by Capitol and accordingly were

deconsolidated see Note although such subsidiaries continue to be related parties of

Capitol
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Major classes of premises and equipment consisted of the following at December 31 in

$1 000s

2010 20090

Land buildings and improvements 22397 19239

Leasehold improvements 20459 21273

Equipment furniture and software 45280 46187

88136 86699

Less accumulated depreciation 49743 44480

38.393 42.219

Excludes premises and equipment net of accumulated depreciation

related to discontinued operations of approximately $6.2 million

Capitol and certain subsidiaries rent office space and equipment under operating leases Rent

expense net of sublease income under these lease agreements approximated $10.6 million

$10.1 million and $9.2 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively including rent expense

approximating $1.8 million in 2010 and $1.7 million in 2009 and 2008 under leases with

related parties

At December 31 2010 ffiture minimum rental payments under operating leases that have

initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year were as follows in

$1 000s

2011 9453

2012 8663

2013 7450

2014 6923

2015 5957

2016 and thereafter 14803

53.249

NOTE GGOOD WILL

Capitols review for potential goodwill impairment has been performed annually as of

November 30th by comparing estimated entity fair value to its net assets This review was

performed at the applicable subsidiary reporting-unit level which has recorded goodwill

resulting from specific share-exchange transactions or acquisitions and on consolidated

basis An interim review for potentiaJ goodwill impairment becomes necessary when events

or changes in circumstances indicate potential for impairment between annual review dates

Capitols annual review for potential goodwill impairment in 2010 concluded that all of its

recorded goodwill approximately $64.5 million was deemed to be impaired Accordingly

such amount was written off effective December 31 2010
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Managements decision to write-off all goodwill as being impaired at that date was based in

part upon the following macro-basis considerations

dramatic decline in Capitols aggregate market-capitalization i.e the computational

result of multiplying the number of Capitols common shares outstanding by the per-

share market price of such common stock estimated fair value

Capitols tangible-equity deficit total equity less goodwill prior to recording any

goodwill impairment for 2010

Pricing information from merger and acquisition transactions within the banking

industry in the United States of America during 2010 as multiple of tangible equity

and application of such multiple to Capitols tangible-equity deficit prior to recording

any goodwill impairment for 2010

Management also evaluated whether events or circumstances earlier in 2010 suggested an

interim review for impairment might be necessary An interim review for potential

impairment was not considered necessary due to the absence of events or changes in

Capitols and its subsidiary reporting units circumstances since the preceding annual review

in late 2009 Such conclusion was confirmed by the macro-basis considerations discussed in

the preceding paragraph in addition to reporting unit-level subsidiaries analyses which did

not arise until the fourth quarter of 2010

In 2009 however events or changes in circumstances warranted an interim review for

potential impairment of goodwill which concluded that an interim write-down of goodwill of

$1.5 million was appropriate The total amount of goodwill impairment recorded for the year

ended December 31 2009 approximated $3.4 million

Amounts recorded as goodwill impairment are reflected within noninterest expense as non

cash charge to operations when determined

NOTE HDEPOSITS

The aggregate amount of time deposits of$100000 or more approximated $911 million and

$1.3 billion as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

At December 31 2010 scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows in $1000s

2011 1211818

2012 327146

2013 69038

2014 27596

2015 30106

2016 and thereafter 458

1.666.162
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Notes payable and short-term borrowings consisted of the following at December 31 in

$1 000s

2010 20091

FHLB borrowings 113809 182132

Promissory notes 8431 14011

Repurchase agreements 1137 1510

123.377 19765

Excludes net borrowings related to discontinued operations of

approximately $78.5 million

FHLB borrowings represent advances secured by certain portfolio loans and other eligible

collateral Such advances become due at varying dates and bear interest at market short-term

rates approximately 1.76% at December 31 2010 At December 31 2010 unused lines of

credit under these facilities approximated $164 million Assets pledged to secure these credit

facilities approximated $630 million at December 31 2010 Continued availability of the

FHLB credit facilities is subject to the FHLBs review of the banks credit worthiness

During 2008 Capitol completed private offering of 9% promissory notes The promissory

notes were purchased by accredited investors including certain related parties of Capitol

The promissory notes mature in 2013 Interest is payable quarterly and the promissory notes

became callable in 2010 In 2010 Capitol extinguished approximately $4.6 million in

promissory notes in exchange for 1374000 shares of common stock resulting in gain of

$1.3 million

At December 31 2010 scheduled debt maturities of notes payable and short-term borrowings

were as follows in $1000s

2011 89655

2012 15150

2013 3675

2014 1466

2015

2016 and thereafter 13.43
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Subordinated debt relates to trust-preferred securities issued by Capitol which are summarized

as follows at December31 in $1000s

Aggregate

Current Scheduled Liquidation Net Carrying Amount

Interest Rate Maturity Amount 2010 2009

Capitol Trust 8.50% fixed 2027 25300 24687 24651

Capitol Trust II 1015% fixed 2031 10000 9793 9783

Capitol Statutory Trust III 3.87% variable 2031 15000 14691 14676

Capitol Trust IV 3.94% variable 2032 3000 2928 2924

Capitol Trust VI 3.59% variable 2033 10000 9777 9768

Capitol Trust VII 7.78% fixed 2033 10000 9886 9881

Capitol Statutory Trust VIII 3.25% variable 2033 20000 19702 19689

Capitol Trust IX 7.69% fixed 2034 10000 9950 9947

Capitol Trust 6.55% fixed 2037 33000 33000 33000

Capitol Trust XI 1.95% variable 2037 20000 20000 20000

CapitolTrustXll l0.50%fixed 2038 14541 13.172 13122

L170J41 $il7.586 167.441

Securities of Capitol Trust and XII were issued in public offerings in 1997 and 2008

respectively All other Capitol Trust securities were formed in conjunction with
private

placements of trust-preferred securities Each of these securities has similar terms and subject

to certain provisions may be called by Capitol five years afler issuance The liquidation

amount of these securities is guaranteed by Capitol portion of Capitol Trust and XII

securities were discharged upon completion of an exchange for previously-unissued common

stock of Capitol in early 2011 see Note

Interest paid to the trusts by Capitol which is recorded as interest expense in its consolidated

financial statements is distributed by the trusts to the holders of the trust-preferred securities

Under certain conditions Capitol may defer payment of interest on the subordinated

debentures for periods of up to five years and in 2009 Capitol elected to defer such interest

payments During deferral periods Capitol is prohibited from paying dividends on its

common stock subject to certain exceptions and continues to accrue interest payable on such

securities As of December 31 2010 and 2009 accrued interest on such securities

approximated $20.8 million and $11.2 million respectively Holders of the trust-preferred

securities will recognize current taxable income relating to the deferred interest payments

Pursuant to regulatory agreement Capitol is currently prohibited.from payment of interest on

its trust-preferred securities without prior approval see Note

Upon termination of deferral-period all prior accrued and unpaid interest becomes

immediately due and payable to holders of the securities at that time
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Documents goveming the trusts give holders of the securities preference on liquidation over

the holders of Capitols common stock Under current regulatory guidelines none of Capitols

trust-preferred securities are included as qualifying regulatory capital as of December 31

2010 When the trust-preferred securities were issued and at December 31 2009 they were

treated as qualifting regulatory capital

NOTE KSTOCKHOLDERS EQUITYAND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On June 30 2010 Capitol issued an aggregate 95000 shares of its Series Noncumulative

Perpetual Preferred Stock Of that aggregate issuance 44020 shares were issued to

consolidated subsidiary of Capitol and accordingly have been eliminated in consolidation

The remaining 50980 shares were issued to bank-development company which is an

unconsolidated affiliate of Capitol The liquidation preference of the shares issued is

$100.00 per share with an aggregate issuance of $9.5 million of which $4.4 million has been

eliminated upon consolidation The Series Preferred Stock is nonvoting and callable at

Capitols option after 36 months from date of issuance at $100.00 per share plus any accrued

dividends Dividends on such shares are payable only when and if declared by Capitols

board of directors based on an annual rate of 6%

In April 2010 Capitol completed an offering of 2.5 million shares of previously-unissued

common stock and warrants for the purchase of 1.25 million additional shares of common

stock resulting in net proceeds approximating $6.8 million with corresponding increase to

Capitols stockholders equity The warrants have an exercise price of $3.50 per warrant and

expire in 2013

Warrants for the purchase of 75719 shares of Capitols common stock which were issued in

2009 were outstanding at December 31 2010 and expire May 31 2012 The exercise price

is $20.37 per warrant

Shares of restricted common stock of the Corporation have been granted to certain officers

Compensation expense related to such restricted stock approximated $655000 in 2010

$495000 in 2009 and $1.5 million in 2008 There were no tax benefits associated with such

compensation expense in 2010 2009 and 2008 Future compensation expense related to

unvested restricted common stock grants as of December 31 2010 approximates $801000

based on grants through December 31 2010 to be recorded ratably over period of

approximately 1.4 years based on the weighted-average remaining vesting period at that date
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Continued

Activity in unvested restricted common stock is summarized as follows

Restricted

Shares

Weighted-

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

Weighted-

Average

Grant Date Restricted

Fair Value Shares

Weighted-

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

Unvested at December 31 310.216 5.58 144.943 22.14 136490 29.55

Stock options have been granted to certain officers and directors which provide for the

purchase of shares of the Corporations common stock Generally stock options are granted

at an exercise price equal to the fair value of common stock on the grant date All such stock

options expire at varying periods up to seven years after the grant date Stock option activity

is summarized as follows

Outstanding at January 2008

Granted in 2008

Exercised in 2008

Cancelled or expired in 2008

Outstanding at December 31 2008

Granted in 2009

Cancelled or expired in 2009

Outstanding at December 31 2009

Granted in 2010

Exercised in 2010

Cancelled or expired in 2010

Outstanding at December31 2010

2460082

52360

108935
29348

2374159

404022

273698
2504483

206656

10000
955537

1745.602

Weighted

Average

Exercise Price

$27.85

20.12

17.90

28.28

2.70

24.03

24.61

1.95

2.01

25.57

$21.53

The aggregate intrinsic value of exercised stock options approximated $1.9 million in 2008

none in 2010 and 2009

Stock options with an aggregate fair value of $255000 and $661000 were granted in 2010

and 2009 respectively Fair value was computed using Black-Scholes valuation model

2010 2009 2008

Unvested at January

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

144943

224720

28372
31075

Restricted

Shares

136490

37000

19847
8700

22.14

1.38

31.25

29.00

29.55

1.70

29.53

34.69

207422

31790

47000
55722

27.80

16.17

21.23

22.41

Number

Outstanding

Exercise

Price Range

$13.50

20.12

15.52

13.50

2.01

13.50

2.01

to

to

to

to

to

to

to

$46.20

20.12

20.90

46.20

6.04

34.52

46.20

1.78

2.01

2.01

to

to

to

1.96

2.01

46.20

1.78 to $46.20
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Fair value assumptions included the following

2010 2009 2008

Risk-free interest rate 2.0 1% and 2.62% 3.8%

2.62%

Stock price volatility 0.85 and 0.76 0.76 0.36

Dividend yield 5.0%

Expected option life 4.5 years and years years

years

Compensation expense related to stock options approximated $301000 in 2010 $855000 in

2009 and $693000 in 2008 and associated tax benefits approximated $106000 in 2010 and

$299000 in 2009 before valuation allowance see Note and $243000 in 2008 Future

compensation expense relating to stock options outstanding as of December 31 2010 is

insignificant

As of December 31 2010 substantially all outstanding stock options were vested currently

exercisable and had weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.68 years except for

stock options granted in 2010 which become vested and exercisable in 2012 The following

table summarizes stock options outstanding and segregated by exercise price range as of

December 31 2010

Weighted Average

Remaining

Exercise Price Number Exercise Contractual

Range Outstanding Price Life

1.00 to 14.99 556105 2.49 4.74 years

$15.00 to 19.99 66883 16.40 0.78 years

$20.00 to 24.99 205953 22.02 3.53 years

$25.00to29.99 111699 26.15 0.39years

$30.00 to 34.99 464966 31.76 1.15 years

$35.00 or more 339996 37.91 2.03 years

174502 $21.53

Cash received from optionees upon exercise of stock options approximated $20000 in 2010

and $44000 in 2008 none in 2009 and tax benefits realized approximated $24000 in 2008

none in 2010 and 2009
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In 2010 Capitol completed the following sales of bank subsidiaries in $1000s

Bank of Belleville

Date Sold Proceeds

5090

Gain Loss

1331April27 2010

Napa Community BankOX3 April 30 2010 21574 7372

Ohio Commerce Bank2 June 30 2010 6520 1478

Community Bank of Lincoln2 July 30 2010 3750 1268

USNY Bank2 August 23 2010 2700 271
Adams Dairy Bank21 August 31 2010 4335 559

Bank of San Francisco September 28 2010 6604 1740

Fort Collins Commerce Bank October 29 2010 5822 597

Larimer Bank of CommerceW October 29 2010 4332 163
Loveland Bank of Commerce October 292010 4346 943

Southern Arizona Community BankW December 10 2010 11028 930

76101 15.784

Previously majority-owned subsidiary of Capitol

Previously majority-owned subsidiary of bank-development subsidiary controlled by Capitol

Under the terms of the sale transaction Capitol could receive additional proceeds of up to $5.3 million

in the future subject to Napa Community Banks future financial performance

Capitols consolidated results of operations would not have been materially different if the

sales of these banks had occurred at the beginning of the years presented

In addition to completed sales transactions Capitol has entered into definitive agreements to

sell its interests or controlling interests held by bank-development subsidiaries in the

following institutions which were pending as of December 31 2010 1st Commerce Bank

Bank of Fort Bend Bank of Tucson main office Community Bank of Rowan and

Evansville Commerce Bank In 2011 Capitol entered into definitive agreements to sell its

controlling interests in Bank of Feather River Bank of Las Colinas and High Desert Bank

held by bank-development subsidiaries

In January 2011 Capitol completed the sale of Bank of Tucsons main office in an

assumption of liabilities and acquisition of assets transaction for an approximate gain of $4.4

million and merged the remaining office of Bank of Tucson with and into Sunrise Bank of

Arizona Assets liabilities and results of operations of Bank of Tucsons main office are

reflected as part of discontinued operations for the periods presented

The remaining pending bank sales are subject to regulatory approval and other contingencies

If completed those pending bank divestitures would result in Capitol receiving estimated

proceeds approximating $19.7 million and gain on sale of approximately $67000

Sale
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NOTE LDIVESTITURES OFBANKS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Continued

The results of operations of bank subsidiaries sold in 2010 and the main office of Bank of

Tucson sold in early 2011 summarized in the preceding table together with the results of

operations of Bank of Santa Barbara and Yuma Community Bank which were sold in 2009

and Community Bank of Rowan and Summit Bank of Kansas City which were

deconsolidated on September 30 2009 are classified as discontinued operations which

include the following components on combined basis in $1000s

2010 2009 2008

Interest income 41594 69114 69857

Interest expense 8566 19405 24832

Net interest income 33028 49709 45025

Provision for loan losses 7484 15446 6701

Net interest income after provision

for loan losses 25544 34263 38324

Noninterest income excluding gain

on sale of bank subsidiaries 3173 5135 4150

Gain on sale of bank subsidiaries 15734 1187

Noninterest expense 22682 36637 33988

Income before income taxes 21819 3948 8486

Less income tax expense 9370 5170 3418

Net income loss from discontinued

operations 12449 1222 5068

Net loss income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 902 4.480 1223

Net income from discontinued

operations attributable to Capitol

Bancorp Limited 11.547 3.258 6.29

Net income from discontinued

operations per common share

attributable to Capitol Bancorp

Limited 0.57 0.19 037

remainder of this page intentionally lefi blank
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NOTE LDIVESTITURES OFBANKS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Continued

Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as of December 31 are summarized below

in $1000s

2010 2009 2010 2009

Assets Liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents 56329 139102 Noninterest-bearing

Investment securities 4007 5113 deposits 68777 187337

Federal Home Loan Bank Interest-bearing deposits 139358 704.471

stock 746 6047 Total deposits 208135 891808

Loans held for sale 5166 Debt obligations 78506

Portfolio loans 159334 911803 Other liabilities 693 2001

Less allowance for loan

losses 2380 14.869 208.828 972.315

Net portfolio loans 156954 896934

Premises and equipment 979 6167

Other real estate owned 1447 4807

Other assets 2.420 19767

222.882 1.083.103

NOTE MEMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Corporation has contributory employee retirement savings 401k plan the Plan

which covers substantially all full-time employees over age 21 of Capitol and certain

subsidiaries The Plan provides for employer contributions in amounts determined annually

by Capitols board of directors Eligible employees make voluntary contributions to the Plan

Employer contributions to the Plan partial match based on employee contributions 50%
subject to certain limitations through December 31 2008 none in 2010 and 2009 charged

to expense for the year ended December 31 2008 approximated $2.4 million none in 2010

and 2009

Capitol also has defined contribution employee stock ownership plan ESOP which covers

substantially all employees of Capitol and certain subsidiaries There were no ESOP
contributions charged to expense in 2010 2009 and 2008 As of December 31 2010 the

ESOP held approximately 272000 shares of Capitols common stock which have been

allocated to participants accounts there were no unallocated shares as of that date

Effective January 2011 the ESOP was merged with and into Capitols 40 1k plan to

reduce future administrative and compliance costs
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Income taxes include the following components in $1000s

2010 2009 2008

Federal

Current expense benefit 3638 43594 823
Deferred benefit 1403 39173 26029

2235 82.767 26852
State

Current expense benefit 545 868 1748
Deferred benefit 720 4181 1548

175 3313 3296
2060 86080 30148

Establishment of valuation allowance for

deferred tax assets not meeting the more-

likely-than-not criteria for realization 104.498

Income tax expense benefit 2.060 18.418 30.148

In addition to state income taxes certain states in which the banks operate impose taxes based

on measures other than income Tax expense associated with those jurisdictions approximated

$670000 in 2010 $646000 in 2009 and $585000 in 2008 and is excluded from income tax

expense included as component of other noninterest expense

Federal income taxes paid in 2010 2009 and 2008 approximated $715000 $1.0 million and

$7.3 million respectively Federal income taxes refunded in 2010 approximated $43 million

State income taxes approximating $62000 were paid in 2010 and $142000 was received in

refunds for net refund of $80000 in 2010 $85000 was paid in 2009 and $248000 was

paid in 2008 $521000 was received in refunds for net refund of $273000 in 2008

Differences between income tax expense recorded and amounts computed using the statutory

tax rate in $1000s are reconciled below based on operating results including discontinued

operations

2010 2009 2008

Federal income tax expense benefit

computed at statutory rate of 35% 88306 86143 28910
State income taxes benefit 10297 3313 3296
Valuation allowance on deferred state

income tax assets 10122 8622

Federal tax effect of

Amortization of intangibles 1213 19

State income taxes 3604 1160 1154

Valuation allowance on state taxes 3543 3018
Valuation allowance recorded for

deferred federal income tax assets 78162 95876

Other 12318 4021 885

Total income tax expense benefit 2.060 18.418 30.148
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NOTE NINCOME TAXESContinued

Capitol had valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets to reduce such net assets to

an amount which was deemed to be realizable on more-likely-than-not basis as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 The valuation allowance may reduce income tax expense

accrual requirements to the extent of Capitols profitability in future periods

Net deferred income tax assets component of other assets consisted of the following at

December31 in $1000s

2010 2009

Allowance for loan losses 57556 54725

Net operating losses of subsidiaries 97739 36018

Deferred compensation 2519 3363

Depreciation 2827 3549
Start-up costs of de novo banks 2597 4450

Fair value adjustment for investment

securities available for sale 81 32

Other real estate owned 14159 11112

Net deferred costs of loan originations 1740 5978
Unaccrued interest income on

nonperforming loans 7466 6879

Other net 14729 2828

192117 109880

Less valuation allowance 190308 104498

1.809 5.382

Certain subsidiaries generally less than 80%-owned entities have federal and state net

operating loss carryforwards which may reduce income taxes payable in future periods

which have been recognized for deferred tax purposes subject to valuation allowance and

as of December 31 2010 expire as follows in $1000s

Federal State

2013-2015 69548

2016-2018 3660

2019-2021 29054

2022-2024 40 7953

2025-2027 28249 21913

2028-2029 215020 22775

243309 154.903

In conjunction with its annual review management concluded that there were no significant

uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in Capitols consolidated financial statements

Such evaluation was performed for 2007 2008 2009 and 2010 which are the tax years

which remain subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions updated as of December 31

2010
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The Internal Revenue Service IRS commenced and completed an examination of the

Corporations consolidated federal income tax return for the year ended December 31 2005

during 2007 During 2008 the IRS commenced an examination of the Corporations

consolidated federal income tax return for the year ended December 31 2006 the examination

was completed in 2009 No significant adjustments to taxable income or taxes payable due

arose from those examinations

The IRS commenced an examination of the Corporations consolidated federal income tax

retums for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2009 in 2010 along with commencing

another examination of the Corporations consolidated federal income tax retum for the year

ended 2006 which was re-opened due to an excise tax refund request No significant

adjustments to the taxable income or taxes payable or refundable are currently expected from

the pending examinations which are expected to be completed by year-end 2011 or early 2012

Capitol may from time to time be assessed interest or penalties associated with tax liabilities

by major tax jurisdictions although any such assessments would likely be immaterial To the

extent Capitol may receive an assessment for interest andlor penalties it would be classified in

the consolidated statements of operations as component of other noninterest expense such

amounts have been negligible during the periods presented

NOTE 0NET LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO CAPITOL BANCORP LIMITED

The computations of net loss per share were as follows in 1000s

2010 2009 2008

Numeratornet loss attributable to Capitol Bancorp Limited j225215 195.169 28.607

Denominator for basic net loss per shareweighted average

number of common shares outstanding excluding unvested

restricted shares of common stock 20186 17.302 17.147

Denominator for diluted net loss per share weighted average

number of shares and potential dilution 20.186 17.302 171147

Number of antidilutive stock options excluded from diluted

net loss per share computation 1.746 2.504 2.374

Number of antidilutive unvested restricted shares of common
stock excluded from basic and diluted net loss per share

computation 310 145 136

Number of antidilutive warrants to purchase common
stock excluded from diluted net loss per share computation 1.326 76

Additional disclosures regarding restricted shares of common stock warrants to purchase

common stock and stock options are set forth in Note
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The following is description of Capitols valuation methodologies used to measure and

disclose the fair values of its assets and liabilities on recurring or nonrecurring basis

Investment securities available for sale Securities available for sale are recorded at fair value

on recurring basis Fair value measurement is based on quoted prices when available If

quoted prices are not available fair values are measured using independent pricing models

Mortgage loans heldfor sale Mortgage loans held for sale are carried at the lower of

aggregate cost or fair value and are measured on nonrecurring basis Mortgage loans held

for sale written down to fair value would be included in the table below none at December

31 2010 and 2009 Fair value is based on independent quoted market prices where

applicable or the prices for other whole mortgage loans with similar characteristics

Portfolio loans The Corporation does not record portfolio loans at fair value on recurring

basis However from time to time nonrecurring fair value adjustments to collateral-

dependent loans are recorded to reflect partial write-downs or specific reserves based on the

observable market price or current appraised value of the collateral or other estimates of fair

value

Other real estate owned At the time of foreclosure foreclosed properties are adjusted to

estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell upon transfer from portfolio loans to other real

estate owned establishing new carrying value The Corporation subsequently adjusts fair

value on other real estate owned on nonrecurring basis to reflect partial write-downs based

on the observable market price or current appraisal data

Long-lived and indefinite lived assets The Corporation does not record long-lived or

indefinite lived assets at fair value on recurring basis However from time to time

nonrecurring fair value adjustments to long-lived or indefinite asset are recorded to reflect

partial write-downs based on the observable market price or other estimate of fair value in the

event of impairment

Fair value measurements for assets and liabilities where there exists limited or no observable

market data and therefore which are based primarily upon estimates are often calculated

based on current pricing policy the economic and competitive environment the characteristics

of the asset or liability and other such factors Therefore the results cannot be determined

with precision and may not be realized in an actual sale or immediate settlement of the asset or

liability Additionally there may be inherent weaknesses in any calculation technique and

further changes in the underlying assumptions used including discount rates and estimates of

future cash flows could significantly affect the results of current or future values

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 there were no liabilities measured at fair value on either

recurring or nonrecurring basis
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE PFAIR VALUEContinued

Assets measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December31 were as follows in

$1 000s

2010 20091

Significant Significant

Other Other

Observable Observable

Inputs Inputs

Total Level Total Level

Investment securities available for sale

United States treasury 506 506 1500 1500

United States government agencies 18688 18688 8928 8928

Mortgage-backed 4567 4567 24598 24598

Municipalities 378 378 739 739

24.139 24.139 35.765 35.765

Excludes investment securities related to discontinued operations of approximately $5.0 million

Assets measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis as of December 31 were as follows in

$1 000s

2010 20092

Impaired loans
1X3 325.212 325.212 133.199 133.199

Other real estate owned 107.614 107.614 107.013 107.013

Represents carrying value based on the appraised value of the applicable collateral or other real estate

owned or other estimates of fair value less estimated cost to sell

Excludes impaired loans approximating $5.8 million and other real estate owned approximating $4.8

million related to discontinued operations

In 2010 Capitol classified certain loans which are troubled debt restructurings as impaired loans

measured at fair value resulting in significant increase in impaired loans measured at fair value

Amounts for 2009 have not been adjusted except for the exclusion of discontinued operations noted

above

Many of Capitols collateral-dependent impaired loans and other real estate owned are

located in severely depressed real estate markets In those markets appraisal data may be of

limited usefulness in estimating fair value because comparable sale transactions are

infrequent not orderly and are often distressed or forced Further such comparable sale

transactions may be lower or substantially less than amounts which could be realized in

orderly and not distressed or forced sales between the owner/occupant and future user of

the property

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

Total Level
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Updated appraisals are generally obtained when it has been determined that collateral-

dependent loan has become impaired or when it is likely loan secured by real estate will be

foreclosed Adjustments to the loans carrying value or requirements for an allocation of the

allowance for loan losses are made when appropriate after review of appraisal data or in

the absence of recent appraisal if market conditions significantly decline further The

timing of when collateral-dependent loan should be classified as nonperforming credit is

contingent upon several factors including the performance of the loan payment history

and/or results of the banks review of updated borrower financial information

When borrowers performance has deteriorated for example the borrower has become

delinquent on required payments the borrowers updated financial information received

indicates adverse financial trends or sales/leasing activity is less than expected in the case of

multi-unit properties the loan will be downgraded and if appropriate an updated appraisal

will be ordered In the period between loan being recognized as impaired and receipt of an

updated appraisal the loan will be included within loss contingency pools in conjunction

with estimating the banks requirements for its allowance for loan losses Upon receipt and

review of updated appraisal data and after any further fair value analysis is completed the

loan will be further evaluated for appropriate write-down Generally negative differences

between appraised value less the estimated cost to sell and the related carrying value of the

loans are charged to the allowance for loan losses as partial write-down/charge-off on

timely basis after the appraisal has been received and reviewed Occasionally additional

potential loss amounts may be included if circumstances exist which may fbrther adversely

impact fair value estimates Internally-developed evaluations may be used when the amount

of loan is less than $250000 Internally-prepared evaluations may also be used when the

most recent appraisal date is within year to estimate the current effect of economic

conditions or deterioration Updated fair value information is generally obtained at least

annually for collateral-dependent loans and other real estate owned

remainder of this page intentionally left blank
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NOTE PFAIR VALUEContinued

Carrying values and estimated fair values of financial instruments based upon the accounting

guidance set forth in Accounting Standards Codification 825-10 were as follows at December

31 in$1000s

2010 20092

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 565178 565178 669819 669819

Loans held for sale 7041 7041 10966 10966

Investment securities

Available for sale 24139 24139 35765 35765

Held for long-term investment 2893 2893 5790 5790

27032 27032 41555 41555

Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve

Bank stock 18167 18167 18628 18628

Portfolio loans

Loans secured by real estate

Commercial 1411551 1416332 1560866 1483447

Residential including multi-family 570252 570207 623368 587905

Construction land development and other

land 257751 257875 38307 313.341

Total loans secured by real estate 2239554 2244414 2567305 2384693

Commercial and other business-purpose loans 390183 390649 511102 494305

Consumer 26824 27127 32599 32838

Other 15151 15073 24292 22613

Total portfolio loans 2671712 2677263 3135298 2934449
Less allowance for loan losses 147421 147421 129795 129795

Net portfolio loans 2524291 2529842 3005503 2804654

Financial liabilities

Deposits

Noninterest-bearing 516873 516873 491763 491763

Interest-bearing

Demand accounts 845649 845649 977563 977563

Time certificates of less than $100000 755327 759538 754849 756057

Time certificates of$100000 or more 910835 914596 1294651 1296.448

Total interest-bearing deposits 2511811 2519783 3027063 3030.068

Total deposits 3028684 3036656 3518826 3521831

Notes payable and short-term borrowings 123377 116200 197653 197715

Subordinated debentures 167586 l7O84l 167441 170841

Represents liquidation or principal amount outstanding The quoted market value of certain trust-preferred securities

Capitol Trust and XII included within subordinated debentures was substantially less than that amount

Excludes amounts related to discontinued operations
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Estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities in the preceding table are based upon

comparison of current interest rates on financial instruments and the timing of related

scheduled cash flows to the estimated present value of such cash flows using current

estimated market rates of interest unless quoted market values or other fair value

information is more readily available except certain subordinated debentures as indicated in

the preceding table for which the fair value is based on the liquidation or principal amount

outstanding For example the estimated fair value of portfolio loans is based on discounted

cash flow computations Similarly the estimated fair value of time deposits notes payable

and other borrowings were determined through discounted cash flow computations Such

estimates of fair value are not intended to represent portfolio liquidation value and

accordingly only represent an estimate of fair value based on current financial reporting

requirements

Given current market conditions portion of the loan portfolio is not readily marketable and

accordingly market prices may not exist Capitol has not attempted to market the loan

portfolio to potential buyers if any exist to determine the fair value of those instruments

Since negotiated prices if any in illiquid markets depend upon the then-present motivations

of the buyer and seller it is reasonable to assume that potential sales prices could vary widely

from any estimate of fair value made without the benefit of negotiations Additionally

changes in market interest rates commensurate with risk may dramatically impact the value

of financial instruments at any time Accordingly fair value measurements for loans

included in the preceding table are unlikely to represent the instruments liquidation values

NOTE QCOMMITMENTS GUARANTEES AND OTHER CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of business loan commitments are made to accommodate the financial

needs of bank customers Loan commitments include stand-by letters of credit lines of

credit and other commitments for commercial installment and mortgage loans Stand-by

letters of credit when issued commit the bank to make payments on behalf of customers if

certain specified thture events occur and are used infrequently by the banks $5.9 million and

$12.3 million outstanding at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Other loan

commitments outstanding consist of unused lines of credit and approved but unifinded

specific loan commitments $233.8 million and $310.5 million at December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively Those loan commitments stand-by letters of credit and unfunded loans

generally expire within one year and are reviewed periodically for continuance or renewal

All loan commitments have credit risk essentially the same as that involved in routinely

making loans to customers and are made subject to the banks normal credit policies In

making these loan commitments collateral and/or personal guarantees of the borrowers are

generally obtained based on managements credit assessment
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NOTE QCOMMITMENTS GUARANTEES AND OTHER CONTINGENCIES
Continued

Capitols banking subsidiaries are required to maintain average reserve balances in the form

of cash on hand and balances due from the Federal Reserve Bank and correspondent banks

The amount of reserve balances required as of December 31 2010 and 2009 was $593000

and $5.8 million respectively

Deposits at the banking subsidiaries are insured up to the maximum amount covered by

FDIC insurance $250000 per relationship at December 31 2010 From December 31

2010 through December 31 2012 all noninterest-bearing transaction deposit accounts are

fully insured regardless of the amount and account ownership separate from and in addition

to the FDIC insurance coverage provided for the depositors other accounts

Capitol has guaranteed up to $2.5 million of secured borrowings by Amera Mortgage

Corporation less than 50%-owned affiliate

Generally banks are subject to cross-guaranty liability regarding other financial institutions

the FDIC determines are controlled by any multibank holding company Pursuant to federal

regulations an insured depository institution may be liable for any loss the FDIC has

incurred or expects to incur in connection with the failure of former affiliate institution and

if the FDIC determines that remaining affiliates have liability to the FDIC then they would

be required to pay that liability to the FDIC Payment of cross-guaranty liability to the

FDIC could have material adverse impact on the results of operations capital adequacy and

financial position of Capitol and its banking subsidiaries

To date none of Capitols subsidiary banks have received any notice of assessment of cross-

guaranty liability Capitols banks have however received notice from the FDIC that the

FDJC may assess cross-guaranty liability relating to failed community bank in Florida

which ceased operations in November 2009 The FDJC alleges that the Florida bank was an

affiliated institution of Capitol although Capitol owned no securities of that bank or

otherwise controlled the failed institution The aggregate loss to the FDIC of that failed bank

approximated $23.6 million The FDIC has until November 2011 two years from the date of

such notice to determine whether to assess that potential cross-guaranty liability if any

In addition to the above-mentioned potential cross-guaranty liability some of Capitols

banking subsidiaries were advised in December 2009 that to
mitigate

the effects of any

possible assessment arising from potential cross-guaranty liability they should develop

plan to arrange sale merger or recapitalization such that Capitol no longer controls the

bank This guidance was preceded by Capitols previously-announced plans to selectively

divest some of its bank subsidiaries in conjunction with reallocating capital resources to the

remaining banks Capitols pending divestitures are subject to regulatory approval which

may take an extended period of time to obtain
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NOTE RCAFITAL REQUIREMENTS AND RELA TED REGULA TOR YMA TTERS

Current banking regulations restrict the ability to transfer funds from subsidiaries to their

parent in the form of cash dividends loans or advances As of December 31 2010 Capitols

bank subsidiaries were prohibited from making dividend payments to the Corporation

without prior regulatory approval

Each bank and Capitol are subject to complex capital requirements Federal financial

institution regulatory agencies impose certain risk-based capital requirements on financial

institutions and bank holding companies Those guidelines require all banks and bank holding

companies to maintain certain minimum ratios and related amounts based on Tier and Tier

capital and risk-weighted assets as defined and periodically prescribed by the respective

regulatory agencies Failure to meet these capital requirements can result in severe regulatory

enforcement action or other adverse consequences for depository institution and

accordingly could have material impact on Capitols consolidated financial statements and

financial position

Under the regulatory capital adequacy requirements and related framework for prompt

corrective action the specific capital requirements involve quantitative measures of assets

liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting

practices The capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments

by regulatory agencies with regard to components risk weighting and other factors

As condition of their charter approval de novo banks are generally required to maintain

core capital Tier to average assets ratio of not less than 8% 4% for other banks and an

allowance for loan losses of not less than 1% for the first seven years of operations

In September 2009 Capitol and its second-tier bank holding companies entered into an

agreement with the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago the Reserve Bank under which

Capitol agreed to refrain from the following actions without the prior written consent of the

Reserve Bank declare or pay dividends ii receive dividends or any other form of

payment representing reduction in capital from Michigan Commerce Bank or from any of

its subsidiary institutions that are subject to any restriction by the institutions federal or state

regulator that limits the payment of dividends or other intercorporate payments iiimake

any distributions of interest principal or other sums on subordinated debentures or trust

preferred securities iv incur increase or guarantee any debt or purchase or redeem any

shares of the stock of Capitol the second-tier bank holding companies nonbank subsidiaries

or any of the subsidiary banks that are held by shareholders other than Capitol
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NOTE RCAFITAL REQUIREMENTS AND RELA TED REGULA TOR YMA TTERS
Continued

In addition Capitol agreed to submit to the Reserve Bank written plan to maintain

sufficient capital at Capitol on consolidated basis and at Michigan Commerce Bank as

Capitols largest bank subsidiary and separate legal entity on stand-alone basis ii notify

the Reserve Bank no more than 30 days after the end of any quarter in which Capitols

consolidated or Michigan Commerce Banks capital ratios fall below the approved capital

plans minimum ratios as well as if any subsidiary institutions ratios fall below the minimum

ratios required by the institutions federal or state regulator iii review and revise its ALLL

methodology for loans held by Capitol and submit to the Reserve Bank written program for

maintenance of an adequate ALLL for loans held by Capitol iv take all necessary actions to

ensure each of its subsidiary institutions comply with Federal Reserve regulations refrain

from increasing any fees or charging new fees to any subsidiary institution without the prior

written consent of the Reserve Bank vi submit to the Reserve Bank written plan to

enhance the consolidated organizations risk management practices strategic plan to improve

the consolidated organizations operating results and overall condition and cash flow

projection vii comply with laws and regulations regarding senior executive officer positions

and severance payments and viii provide quarterly reports to the Reserve Bank regarding

these undertakings

Many of Capitols bank subsidiaries have entered into formal agreements as well as informal

agreements with their applicable regulatory agencies Those agreements provide for certain

restrictions and other guidelines and/or limitations to be followed by the banks The banks

generally subject to such agreements are noted as such in the regulatory capital summary

appearing on page F-35 of this document

The FDIC may issue Prompt Corrective Action Notifications PCAN to banking subsidiaries

falling below the adequately-capitalized regulatory-capital classification and subsequently

may issue Prompt Correction Action Directives PCAD PCADs may be issued when

bank which has previously received PCAN has submitted two consecutive capital

restoration plans which have been rejected by the FDIC

Certain banking subsidiaries have recently received PCAN and/or PCAD which are listed

on page F-38 of this document For each banking subsidiary which has received PCAN
capital restoration plans have been requested by the FDIC prepared and resubmitted for

regulatory review and approval For banks in receipt of PCAD those institutions are

striving to develop and implement capital restoration plans whiclimay be subsequently

acceptable to the FDIC
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NOTE RCAFITAL REQUIREMENTS AND RELA TED REGULATORY MATTERS
Continued

The following table summarizes the amounts in $1000s and related ratios of Capitols

consolidated regulatory capital position

December 31

2010 2009

Tier capital to average adjusted total assets

Minimum required amount $155224 $210651
Actual amount 39980 $242547

Ratio 1.03% 4.61%

Tier capital to risk-weighted assets

Minimum required amountW $110909 $162089
Actual amount 39980 $242547

Ratio 1.44% 5.99%

Combined Tier and Tier capital to risk-

weighted assets

Minimum required amount2 $22l818 $324177
Actual amount 39980 $383449

Ratio 1.44% 9.46%

The minimum required ratio of Tier capital to risk-weighted assets to be considered

adequately-capitalized is 4%
The minimum required ratio of Tier and Tier capital to risk-weighted assets to be

considered adequately-capitalized is 8%

Capitols total risk-based capital ratio at December 31 2010 was materially and adversely

impacted by the exclusion of approximately $203.7 million of previously-qualifing Tier

capital inasmuch as Tier capital is limited to 100% of Tier capital primarily trust-

preferred securities and portion of the allowance for loan losses The Tier capital deficit

at year-end 2010 resulted from operating losses however Tier limitation primarily due

to the exclusion of trust-preferred securities did not apply to Capitols regulatory capital

computations at earlier measurement dates prior to 2010

The preceding summary indicates that Capitol on consolidated basis was classified as less

than adequately-capitalized at December 31 2010 In addition several of its bank

subsidiaries had capital levels resulting in classification as undercapitalized or

significantly-undercapitalized at that date Additionally two bank subsidiaries had capital

levels resulting in regulatory classification as critically-undercapItalized at that date

however each of those subsidiaries received additional capital from the Corporation in

January 2011 to improve their classifications to significantly-undercapitalized
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NOTE RCAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND RELA TED REGULA TOR YMA TTERS
Continued

Banks and bank holding companies which are less than adequately-capitalized are subject to

increased regulatory oversight intervention requirements and limitations Regarding banks

classified as less than adequately-capitalized or otherwise noncompliant with formal

regulatory agreements management is taking action to improve such capital classifications

and related compliance in the future subject to the availability of capital and continued

cooperation by regulatory agencies see Note

NOTE SPARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Condensed Balance Sheets

-December 31-

2010 2009

in $1000s
Assets

Cash on deposit principally with subsidiary banks 1370 2081

Money market finds on deposit principally with subsidiary

banks 6.535 880

Cash and cash equivalents 7905 2961

Investment securities 719 3151

Loans net 5004 9931

Investments in and advances to subsidiaries 162639 355840

Investment in and advances to Amera Mortgage Corporation 478 432

Investment in and advances to CDBL III 1340 1495

Equipment software and furniture net 1998 7159

Other assets 936 19751

Total assets 18 1.019 400720

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Liabilities

Accounts payable accrued expenses and other liabilities 35270 26486

Debtobligations 8431 14011

Subordinated debentures 199172 198888

Total liabilities 242873 239385

Stockholders equity deficit 1.854 161335

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 181.019 400720
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NOTE SPARENT COMPANYFINANCIAL INFORMA HONContinued

Condensed Statements of Operations

-Year Ended December 31-

2010 2009 2008

in $1000s
Income

Intercompany fees 22057 35243 28847

Dividends from subsidiaries 5000 964 19634

Interest 996 1596 169

Gain on sales of bank subsidiaries 12749 1187

Other 551 2034 3318

Total income 41353 41024 51968

Expenses

Interest 15427 15292 14372

Salaries and employee benefits 14771 24032 22415

Occupancy 2264 2297 2509

Equipment rent and depreciation 3205 6236 4700

Goodwill impairment 38718

Other 9236 8.995 5332

Total expenses 83621 56852 49.328

Income loss before equity in undistributed net

losses of consolidated subsidiaries and income

taxes 42268 15828 2640

Equity in net losses of consolidated subsidiaries 189553 176669 39.320

Loss before income taxes 231821 192497 36680
Income taxes credit 6606 2.672 8073

Net loss 222i5 195.169 28.607

remainder of this page intentionally left blank
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NOTES TO CONSOLiDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE SPARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMA HONContinued

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

-Year Ended December 31-

2010 2009 2008

in $1000s
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss 225215 195169 28607
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided used

by operating activities

Equity in net losses of consolidated subsidiaries 189553 176669 39320

Depreciation and amortization of intangibles 1690 2624 2583

Goodwill impairment 38718

Loss on sale of equipment and furniture 116

Gain on sales of bank subsidiaries 12749 1187
Gain on debt extinguishment 1255
Realized loss on sale of investment securities 362

Decrease increase in amounts due from subsidiaries and

other assets 9367 7819 25179
Increase in accounts payable accrued expenses and other

liabilities 8784 15784 932

NET CASH PROVIDED USED BY OPERATING

ACTIVITIES 9259 8982 10951

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net cash investments in subsidiaries 79084 25073 35145
Proceeds from sale of investment securities 2102

Purchases of investment securities 100 772 1800
Net decrease in loans 4927 8760 9551

Proceeds from sales of equipment and furniture 3707 35

Purchases of equipment and furniture 240 575 1622
Proceeds from sales of bank subsidiaries 58796 9506 __________

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 9892 8119 29016

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net borrowings payments from debt obligations 1000 6000 20011

Net proceeds from issuance of subordinated debentures 34555

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 6870 1950

Tax benefit effect from share-based payments 293 169 20

Cash dividends paid ___________ 864 8658
NET CASH PROVIDED USED BY FINANCING

ACTIVITIES 5577 7033 47878

INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS 4944 24134 7911

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2961 27.095 19184

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 7.905 2.961 27.095
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Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE TDECONSOLIDA TION OFSUBSIDIARIES

As of December 31 2009 Community Bank of Rowan CBR and Summit Bank of Kansas

City were majority-owned subsidiaries of CDBL III of which Capitol ceased to have majority

voting control effective September 30 2009 when the previously-nonvoting Class shares of

CDBL III became voting Accordingly those banks and CDBL III ceased to be consolidated

subsidiaries of Capitol and assets approximating $257.7 million and related equity amounts

were removed from the consolidated balance sheet Effective June 30 2010 CDBL III

transferred its controlling interest in CBR to Capitol in exchange for preferred stock of Capitol

and accordingly CBR became consolidated subsidiary of Capitol on that date

NOTE UGOING-CONCERN CONSIDERA liONS

As of December 31 2010 there are several significant adverse aspects of Capitols

consolidated financial position and results of operations which include but are not limited to

the following

An equity deficit approximating $38.7 million

Regulatory capital classification on consolidated basis as less than adequately-

capitalized and related negative amounts and ratios

Numerous banking subsidiaries with regulatory capital classification as

undercapitalized significantly-undercapitalized or critically-undercapitalized

two banks were classified as critically-undercapitalized at December 31 2010 and

obtained sufficient additional capital from the Corporation in early 2011 to improve

their classification to significantly-undercapitalized

Certain banking subsidiaries which are generally subject to formal regulatory

agreements have received prompt corrective action notifications and/or directives

from the FDJC which require timely action by bank management and the respective

boards of directors to resolve regulatory capital ratios which result in classification as

less than adequately-capitalized the basis of PCAN or to submit an acceptable

capital restoration plan to the FDIC the basis of PCAD and it is likely additional

PCANs and/or PCADs may be issued in the future and/or the banking subsidiaries

may be unable to satisfactorily resolve such notices and/or directives

In 2010 Capitol sold several of its banking subsidiaries and has other divestiture

transactions pending see Note The proceeds from those divestitures have been

redeployed at certain remaining banking subsidiaries which have experienced

significant erosion of capital due to operating losses While such proceeds have been

significant source of funds for redeployment the Corporation will need to raise

significant other sources of new capital in the future
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Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE UGOING-CONCERN CONSIDERATIONSContinued

The Corporation and substantially all of its banking subsidiaries are operating under

various regulatory agreements formal and informal which place number of

restrictions on them and impose other requirements limiting activities requiring

preservation of capital improvement in regulatory capital measures reduction of

nonperforming assets and other things for which the entities have not achieved ftill

compliance

Elevated levels of nonperforming loans and other nonperforming assets as

percentage of consolidated loans and total assets respectively and

Significant losses from operations in 2010 2009 and 2008 resulting primarily from

provisions for loan losses costs associated with foreclosed properties and other real

estate owned and in 2010 an impairment charge to operations for the write-off of

previously-recorded goodwill $64.5 million

The foregoing considerations raise some level of doubt potentially substantial doubt as to

the Corporations ability to continue as going concern Such substantial doubt is discussed

in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm set forth on page F-53

Capitol has commenced several initiatives and other actions to mitigate these going-concern

considerations and to improve the Corporations financial condition equity regulatory

capital and regulatory compliance

In December 2010 Capitol announced comprehensive capital strategy which includes the

following

An offer to exchange all outstanding trust-preferred securities

Amendment to Capitols articles of incorporation to authorize additional shares of

common stock

potential shareholder rights offering and

potential reverse stock split

In early 2011 partial exchange of trust-preferred securities was completed and the

Corporations stockholders approved the amendment to the articles of incorporation to

increase its authorized common stock and authorize its board of directors to proceed with

rights offering and reverse stock split in addition to potential share-exchange regarding

second-tier bank-development subsidiaries see Note
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Capitol Bancorp Limited

NOTE UGOING-CONCERN CONSIDERATIONSContinued

Improvement in Capitols and its banking subsidiaries capitalization financial position asset

quality and results of operations requires multi-faceted efforts which are currently being

pursued aggressively in the following areas among others

Raising significant amounts of new capital

Completion of divestitures which are currently pending

shareholder rights offering

Further reductions in nonperforming assets

Stabilization of provisions for loan losses and impairment losses

Enabling Capitols trust-preferred securities to become qualiQing element of

regulatory capital and/or equity subject to various limitations and

Further reductions in operating expenses through mergers of bank subsidiaries

completed in recent years

Capitols ability to continue as going concern is contingent on the successful achievement

of the items listed above Capitols board of directors and management are fully engaged and

committed to successful completion of those items with clear sense of urgency subject to

the availability of capital and continued cooperation by regulatory agencies

NOTE VSUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 31 2011 Capitol accepted for exchange 1180602 of the 2530000 outstanding

shares of trust-preferred securities of Capitol Trust land 773934 of the 1454100 outstanding

shares of trust-preferred securities of Capitol Trust XII and pursuant to the related exchange

offer issued approximately 19.5 million of previously-unissued shares of Capitols common

stock Such exchange resulted in the retirement of approximately $19.5 million aggregate

liquidation amount of the trust-preferred securities on combined basis and eliminated

approximately $2.4 million of accrued interest payable associated with the retired securities

which collectively increased Capitols equity and regulatory capital by $21.9 million

In March 2011 Capitol articles of incorporation were amended to increase its number of

authorized shares from 70 million to 1.52 billion of which 1.5 billion shares are classified as

common stock and 20 million are classified as preferred stock Such amendment was

approved at special meeting of holders of the Corporations common stock At that special

meeting future reverse stock split at later date was authorized subject to the discretion of

Capitols board of directors as to the provisions of such reverse stock split if any
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